
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Attachment 181 

 
The money orders “signed” by Robinson, an example of 

Robinson’s signature, and an example of Diltz’s handwriting 
 
 























 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Attachment 182 

 
Third Show Cause Order 

 



IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

 
In re:      §  
      § 

Evette Nicole Reed,   §  Case No. 14-44818-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §     
In re:      § 
      § 

Pauline A. Brady,   § Case No. 14-44909-705 
     §  

    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §  
In re:      § 
      § 
 Lawanda Lanae Long,   § Case No. 14-45773-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
      § 
In re:      § 
      § 

Marshall Beard,   § Case No. 14-43751-705 
     § 
   Debtor.  § 

______________________________________ § 
In re:      §  
      § 
 Darrell Moore,     § Case No. 14-44434-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §  
In re:      § 
      § 
 Nina Lynne Logan,   § Case No. 14-44329-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
In re:      § 
      § 

Jovon Neosha Stewart,  § Case No. 14-43912-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
In re:      § 
      § 
 Angelique Renee Shields,  § Case No. 14-43914-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
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ORDER DIRECTING (I) JAMES ROBINSON TO SHOW CAUSE WHY THE 
COURT SHOULD NOT IMPOSE SANCTIONS AGAINST HIM; AND (II) THE 
CHAPTER 7 TRUSTEE TO PROVIDE INFORMATION RELATED TO FEES 

 
 Mr. James Robinson is an attorney who has been suspended from the 

privilege of practicing before this Court (see June 11, 2014 Memorandum 

Opinion in In re Steward, Case No. 11-46399-705). Mr. Robinson was 

suspended before he could earn all the fees that he had received from certain 

clients who are now debtors before this Court. Following the suspension, Mr. 

Ross Briggs, an attorney, began representing Mr. Robison’s clients for free and 

without a fee-sharing agreement. Mr. Briggs has a long-time affiliation, whether 

formal or informal, with Mr. Robinson’s “firm,” Critique Services, L.L.C., and has 

his own history of making misleading representations to the Court in connection 

with his representation of Mr. Robinson’s former clients. 

As of November 26, 2014, there had been no representation in any of the 

Cases that Mr. Robinson returned the unearned portion of his fees. 

On November 26, 2014, the Court issued an Order to Show Cause in the 

first six of the above-cases. On December 2, 2014, the Court issued an 

Additional Order to Show Cause in all of the above-referenced cases 

(collectively, the “Cases”) (the December 2, 2014 Show Cause Order, together 

with the November 26, 2014 Show Cause Order, the “Show Cause Orders”).  In 

the Show Cause Orders, the Court directed Mr. Robinson to show cause why the 

Court should not order disgorgement of the fees he collected from the debtors 

(the “Debtors”) in the Cases pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 329(b). In the November 26, 

2014 Show Cause Order, the Court stated: 

While the Court would welcome Mr. Robinson now voluntarily 
providing to the chapter 7 trustee any portion of any fees in any 
case that were paid to him but which he did not earn, doing so will 
not make this inquiry moot.  The Court still would require the above-
listed issues to be addressed. The fact that Mr. Robinson 
apparently has not returned any unearned fees raises the concern 
of whether there has been attempted impropriety in these Cases 
related to the attorney’s fees paid by the debtor. 
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Shortly thereafter, Mr. Briggs filed amended schedules in certain of the Cases,1 

representing that, after the entry of the Show Cause Orders, Mr. Robinson 

returned the long-held fees—although it is not clear whether Mr. Robinson 

provided those fees (which are property of the estate) to the chapter 7 trustee, as 

instructed, or to the Debtors directly. Mr. Briggs also filed amended schedules for 

those Debtors, claiming an exemption in the fees. As such, it appears that Mr. 

Robinson knowingly held, for many months, unearned fees that were property of 

the estate, and returned those fees only in the face of the Order to Show Cause.   

The Court is concerned that this forum and these Cases have been used 

as a vehicle for improperly retaining property of the estate—that Mr. Robinson 

kept his unearned fees, assuming the Court would not notice and the chapter 7 

trustee would not care.2  In addition, the Court is concerned that Mr. Robinson 

violated the rules of professional conduct by failing to timely return the unearned 

fees—and the Court cannot permit this forum to openly host such behavior. 

The Court requires an accounting of where the fees have been and why 

they were not returned sooner. Once the Court has this accounting, it can 

determine whether it is proper to impose sanctions upon Mr. Robinson.  

Therefore, the Court ORDERS that: 

(i) Mr. Robinson show cause why the Court should not impose 
monetary and/or nonmonetary sanctions upon him for retaining his 
unearned fees; and  
 

(ii) the chapter 7 trustee, the person responsible for accounting to the 
Court for property of the estate, address the following: 
(a) the amount of attorney’s fees paid to Mr. Robinson; 
(b) to whom, specifically, the fees were paid; 
(c) where the fees were held following payment and 

throughout the six months following Mr. Robinson’s 
suspension, including whether such fees were held in 
a client trust account; 

1 As of the drafting of this Order, the fees had been refunded to the Debtors 
except those in In re Long, In re Moore, and In re Logan. 
 
2 These Cases are not the only cases in which Mr. Robinson may have kept 
unearned fees following his suspension.  The Cases listed above are only a 
sampling of the cases involving Mr. Robinson’s former clients. 

 3 

                                            



(d) where the fees are held today (if they have not been 
returned); 

(e) who issued the refund check or other negotiable 
instrument, and from what account;  

(f) whether any of those fees were disbursed to Mr. 
Robinson, any attorney affiliated or otherwise 
associated with (formally or informally) Critique 
Services L.L.C. or any permutation of Critique 
Services L.L.C., to any employee, officer, or owner of 
Critique Services L.L.C., or to any other person, prior 
to being refunded to the debtor. 
 

(iii) this matter be set for hearing at the Thomas F. Eagleton U.S. 
Courthouse, 111 S. Tenth St., Floor 7, Courtroom South, St. Louis, 
Missouri, on January 21, 2015, at 10:00 A.M. 

 
Nothing herein requires the disclosure of attorney-client confidential 

information or attorney work product. Nothing herein prevents any party from 

filing a motion for protective order related to the protected disclosure of any 

information, if cause exists for sealing or other such protection. Nothing herein 

requires that Mr. Robinson waive his rights under the Fifth Amendment of the 

U.S. Constitution or any similar right under state law. The United States Trustee 

is invited to participate in the process of addressing these issues.  

Additionally, nothing herein prevents the Court from issuing an order 

directing Mr. Briggs to show cause as to why he should not be sanctioned.  It 

appears that Mr. Briggs knew that his clients’ unearned fees were being held by 

Mr. Robinson, knew those fees had to be returned, knew the fees were property 

of the estate, and knew that his clients may be able to assert an exemption in 

those fees—and yet he did nothing to advocate for his clients’ interests regarding 

those fees. Such an order may issue if the Court is concerned that Mr. Briggs 

acted, affirmatively or by omission, to assist or facilitate any efforts of Mr. 

Robinson to improperly retain property of the estate. 
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Copy mailed to:  
 
Ross H. Briggs  
Post Office Box 58628  
St. Louis, MO 63158  
 
James Clifton Robinson  
Critique Services  
3919 Washington Blvd.  
St. Louis, MO 63108  
 
David A. Sosne  
Summers Compton Wells LLC  
8909 Ladue Rd.  
St. Louis, MO 63124  
 
E. Rebecca Case  
7733 Forsyth Blvd. Suite 500  
Saint Louis, MO 63105  
 
Office of US Trustee  
111 S Tenth St, Ste 6.353  
St. Louis, MO 63102 
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Attachment 183 

 
Robinson’s Motion to Disqualify the Judge 

 

















 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Attachment 184 

 
Robinson’s Amended Motion to Disqualify the Judge 

 
 

















 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Attachment 185 

 
Order Denying Motions to Disqualify the Judge (not including the attachments 
thereto, consisting of numerous previous orders in which the Court addressed 

the issue of whether the Judge must disqualify simply because the matter 
involves a person affiliated with the Critique Services Business) 

 



IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

 
In re:      §  
      § 

Evette Nicole Reed,   §  Case No. 14-44818-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §     
In re:      § 
      § 

Pauline A. Brady,   § Case No. 14-44909-705 
     §  

    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §  
In re:      § 
      § 
 Lawanda Lanae Long,   § Case No. 14-45773-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
      § 
In re:      § 
      § 

Marshall Beard,   § Case No. 14-43751-705 
     § 
   Debtor.  § 

______________________________________ § 
In re:      §  
      § 
 Darrell Moore,     § Case No. 14-44434-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §  
In re:      § 
      § 
 Nina Lynne Logan,   § Case No. 14-44329-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
In re:      § 
      § 

Jovon Neosha Stewart,  § Case No. 14-43912-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
In re:      § 
      § 
 Angelique Renee Shields,  § Case No. 14-43914-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
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ORDER DENYING MOTION TO DISQUALIFY 
 

 On December 10, 2014, a motion for judicial disqualification was filed by 

James Robinson in each of the first six of the eight above-referenced cases (the 

“Cases”). On December 11, 2014, Mr. Robinson filed an amended motion for 

judicial disqualification (the “Motion for Disqualification”), amending the original 

motion to bring the request for disqualification in all eight cases Cases. 

Mr. Robinson is an attorney who was suspended from the privilege of 

practicing before this Court on June 11, 2014, pursuant to the Memorandum 

Opinion entered in In re Steward, Case No. 11-46399 (the “Steward 

Memorandum Opinion”). In the instant Cases, Mr. Robinson is subject to a show-

cause inquiry related to his apparent failure to timely return to the debtors (the 

“Debtors”) unearned legal fees. Mr. Robinson now seeks disqualification of the 

undersigned judge (the “Judge”) pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 455(a). 

This is not the first time that Mr. Robinson has demanded the Judge’s 

disqualification. Over the past sixteen months, in the contested matter of a 

motion to disgorge brought in In re Steward (the main bankruptcy case), and in 

an adversary proceeding, Steward v. Critique Services L.L.C., et al., Adv. Proc. 

No. 13-4284—matters in which Mr. Robinson was, respectively, one of the 

respondents and one of the defendants—Mr. Robinson filed three motions for 

judicial disqualification. One of the grounds for disqualification argued by Mr. 

Robinson in the Steward proceedings was the Judge’s previous employment in 

government service.   

Between 2003 and 2006, the Judge served as the United States Trustee 

(the “UST”) for Region 13.  During his service, the Office of the UST received 

complaints about and investigated Critique Services L.L.C. (the “firm” with which 

Mr. Robinson is now affiliated, but with which he was not affiliated during the 

Judge’s UST service). In addition, the Judge was the name-plaintiff in his official 

capacity in two lawsuits against Critique Services L.L.C. These facts did not 

warrant disqualification in the Steward proceedings and the motions were denied.   

Mr. Robinson, Critique Services, L.L.C., and their attorney, Elbert Walton 

appealed the Steward Memorandum Opinion entered in In re Steward, which 
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granted the motion to disgorge and imposed sanctions upon each of them.  The 

appeal is pending before the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of 

Missouri.  There, the appellants argue, among other things, that the Court erred 

in declining to order disqualification based on the Judge’s UST service.  

By contrast, the adversary proceeding of Steward v. Critique Services, 

L.L.C., et al. settled in November 2014. The parties agreed in the settlement 

agreement that the agreement would become effective upon dismissal of the 

adversary proceeding and that a proposed order for such dismissal would be 

submitted to the Court for entry.  That is, Mr. Robinson agreed to dismissal upon 

Court order, apparently having no concerns about the Judge presiding over, and 

entering a dispositive order in, a matter in which Mr. Robinson was involved—as 

long as the Court would be acting in the way Mr. Robinson wanted.   

 Now, however, in the instant Cases, Mr. Robinson once again returns to 

the position that the Judge must disqualify himself based on his UST service. In 

support of this, he alleges no facts related to the Judge’s UST service that were 

not alleged in the motions filed in the Steward proceedings.  

In the Steward proceedings, the Court issued several detailed orders 

determining that disqualification based on the Judge’s UST service was not 

proper.  The Court does not have the inclination or the time to explain here, yet-

again, in yet-another lengthy order, why the Judge’s UST service is not a basis 

for disqualification. There are only so many ways that the issue can be 

addressed without risking redundancy or condescension. Accordingly, the Court 

will attach a copy of (i) Steward Memorandum Opinion [Case No. 11-46399 Doc. 

No. 201] and (ii) the Order Denying the Motions to Recuse entered in Steward v. 

Critique Services L.L.C. [Adv. Proc. No. 13-4284 Doc. No. 90]. These opinions 

address why the Judge’s UST service does not require disqualification. 

Mr. Robinson also baselessly alleges that the Judge has unspecified 

“extrajudicial information” from his UST service that requires his disqualification 

from the Cases here.  Mr. Robinson offers no support for this allegation.  Indeed, 

this allegation is the same fiction that Mr. Robinson threw into his pleadings in 

the Steward proceedings and tried to pass off as true, in an apparent effort to 
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obtain disqualification by contrivance and innuendo.  In fact, the Judge acquired 

no extrajudicial information relevant to these Cases during his UST service.  

These Cases were a decade away from being filed at the time of the Judge’s 

UST service.  The mere fact that the Judge has some familiarity with Critique 

Services L.L.C. from other matters that arose during his UST service is not 

evidence that the Judge now has impermissible extrajudicial information related 

to the show-cause inquiry in these Cases. 

In addition, Mr. Robinson alleges that disqualification is required because, 

he alleges, “Your Honor” has made “public statements” that “would cause an 

impartial observer to doubt his impartiality in regard to Critique Services L.L.C.” 

In support of these alleged “statements,” he points only to the finding in the 

Steward Memorandum Opinion that Mr. Robinson’s business is a “low-rent 

petition preparation mill masquerading as a law practice.” This is a finding of fact 

made by the Court upon weighing the evidence in determining a matter before it; 

it is not an expression of personal bias by the Judge. And, the fact that the truth 

hurts is not a basis upon which it is reasonable to question a judge’s impartiality.  

Accordingly, the Court ORDERS that the Motion to Disqualify be DENIED.  
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Copy Mailed To:  
 
David Nelson Gunn  
Law Offices of Mueller & Haller, LLC DBA  
The Bankruptcy Company  
2025 S. Brentwood, Ste 206 Brentwood, MO 63144  
 
James Clifton Robinson  
Critique Services  
3919 Washington Blvd.  
St. Louis, MO 63108  
 
Elbert A. Walton, Jr.  
Metro Law Firm, LLC  
2320 Chambers Road  
St. Louis, MO 63136  
 
Laurence D. Mass  
230 S Bemiston  
Ave Suite 1200  
Clayton, MO 63105 
 
Sharhonda T Shahid  
2200 N. Hwy 67 #2123  
St. Louis, MO 63032  
 
Ross H. Briggs  
Post Office Box 58628  
St. Louis, MO 63158 
 
E. Rebecca Case  
7733 Forsyth Blvd. Suite 500  
Saint Louis, MO 63105  
 
Office of U.S. Trustee  
111 South Tenth Street Suite 6353  
St. Louis, MO 63102 
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Attachment 186 

 
Trustees’ Motion to Compel Turnover 

 
 
 



















 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Attachment 187 

 
Robinson’s First Motion to Dismiss 

 
 











































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Attachment 188 

 
Order Denying Robinson’s First Motion to Dismiss 

 
 



IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

 
In re:      §  
      § 

Evette Nicole Reed,   §  Case No. 14-44818-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §     
In re:      § 
      § 

Pauline A. Brady,   § Case No. 14-44909-705 
     §  

    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §  
In re:      § 
      § 
 Lawanda Lanae Long,   § Case No. 14-45773-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
      § 
In re:      § 
      § 

Marshall Beard,   § Case No. 14-43751-705 
     § 
   Debtor.  § 

______________________________________ § 
In re:      §  
      § 
 Darrell Moore,     § Case No. 14-44434-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §  
In re:      § 
      § 
 Nina Lynne Logan,   § Case No. 14-44329-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
In re:      § 
      § 

Jovon Neosha Stewart,  § Case No. 14-43912-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
In re:      § 
      § 
 Angelique Renee Shields,  § Case No. 14-43914-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
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ORDER REGARDING CERTAIN ALLEGATIONS, REPRESENTATIONS, AND 
REQUESTS FOR RELIEF IN THE ROBINSON RESPONSE 

 
On January 2, 2015, James C. Robinson, an attorney who currently is 

suspended from the privilege of practicing before this Court, filed a response (the 

“Robinson Response”) in the above-referenced cases (the “Cases”) to the three 

pending Show Cause Orders (as defined herein) entered by the Court and the 

pending Motion to Compel Turnover jointly filed by the chapter 7 trustees (the 

“Chapter 7 Trustees”) in the Cases. The Court now finds that certain allegations 

in the Robinson Response are false, directs Mr. Robinson to produce certain 

documents related to allegations in the Robinson Response, and orders that 

certain requests for relief in the Robinson Response be denied. Nothing herein 

prejudices Mr. Robinson from making non-vexatious argument or presenting 

relevant, admissible evidence at the upcoming hearings on the Show Cause 

Orders and the Motion to Compel Turnover. 

I.  FACTS 
Mr. Robinson’s Suspension from the Privilege of Practicing Before 

this Court.  On June 10, 2014, Mr. Robinson was suspended from the privilege 

of practicing before this Court for, among other things, contempt and the willful 

and unexcused refusal to participate in discovery.  (Memorandum and Order, as 

amended, in In re Latoya Steward, Case No. 13-46399-705.) During his 

suspension, Mr. Robinson may not practice before this Court in any capacity, in 

any case, on behalf of any person, other than in representation of himself. He 

may not serve as co-counsel. The Court records indicate that, prior to being 

suspended, Mr. Robinson collected fees from the debtors in these Cases (the 

“Debtors”). The records also indicate that, due to his suspension, Mr. Robinson 

could not have rendered some or all of the services for which he collected fees. 

However, as of November 26, 2014, Mr. Robinson had not returned any 

unearned portion of his fees. 

The First Show Cause Order.  On November 26, 2014, in the first six of 

the above-captioned eight cases (the “First Six Cases”), the Court entered an 

Order Directing (I) James Robinson to Show Cause as to Why His Fees Should 

 2 



Not Be Disgorged Under § 329(b), and (II) the Chapter 7 Trustee to Provide 

Information Related to Fees (the “First Show Cause Order”).  In each of the First 

Six Cases, the records show that Mr. Robinson collected fees prior to his 

suspension, but that the cases were filed only after his suspension. Since Mr. 

Robinson could not file the cases, another attorney, Mr. Ross Briggs,1 filed the 

cases and represented the debtors. However, Mr. Briggs could not “earn” Mr. 

Robinson’s fees for him, regardless of Mr. Robinson’s contention that the “clients 

were serviced[2] in a competent manner.”  In addition, Mr. Robinson’s assertion 

that his fees were only for “preparation services” is dubious.  Mr. Robinson is not 

a non-lawyer bankruptcy petition preparer; until his suspension, he was a lawyer 

who was retained to prepare, file, and represent clients in bankruptcy cases. 

Accordingly, in the First Show Cause Order, the Court ordered Mr. 

Robinson to show cause why any unearned fees he held should not be ordered 

disgorged pursuant to § 329(b) of title 11 of the United States Code, the statute 

that permits disgorgement to the estate of debtor’s attorney’s fees that are 

excessive. 3 It also ordered the Chapter 7 Trustees to address certain issues 

related to the fees, including: to whom, specifically, the fees were paid; where the 

fees were held following payment; where the fees are held today; and whether 

any of those fees have been disbursed to Mr. Robinson, any attorney affiliated or 

otherwise associated with (formally or informally) Critique Services L.L.C. or any 

permutation of Critique Services L.L.C., to any employee, officer, or owner of 

Critique Services L.L.C., or to any other person. The Court advised that while it 

1 Mr. Briggs has a long-time professional affiliation with Mr. Robinson’s “firm,” 
Critique Services L.L.C., and has his own history of making misleading 
representations to this Court, in connection with his efforts to represent Mr. 
Robinson’s former clients following Mr. Robinson’s suspension. 
 
2 Presumably, Mr. Robinson means “served,” not “serviced.” 
 
3  Section 329 provides that “if [compensation paid or agreed to be paid to an 
attorney representing a debtor in connection with a bankruptcy case] exceeds the 
reasonable value of any such services, the court may cancel any such 
agreement, or order the return of any such payment, to the extent excessive, 
to—(1) the estate, if the property transferred—(A) would have been property of 
the estate . . .” 
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would welcome Mr. Robinson voluntarily providing to the Chapter 7 Trustees any 

portion of any fees in any case that were paid to him but which he did not earn, 

doing so at this point would not make the show cause inquiry moot. Returning the 

fees now would not resolve whether there was impropriety by Mr. Robinson in 

failing to timely return the fees.   

 The Second Show Cause Order.  On December 2, 2014, the Court 

entered an Additional Order (the “Second Show Cause Order”), adding two more 

cases (the final two above-captioned cases (the “Additional Two Cases”)4 to the 

show cause inquiry. In the Second Show Cause Order, Mr. Robinson again was 

directed to show cause as to why the fees that he collected prior to his 

suspension should not be ordered disgorged to the estate pursuant to § 329(b). 

In the Additional Two Cases—unlike in the First Six Cases—Mr. Robinson had 

filed the cases before his suspension. However, the records appear to indicate 

that Mr. Robinson failed to render all legal services required in those cases prior 

to his suspension. For example, the dockets show that the § 341 meetings of 

creditors were conducted on June 17, 2014—after Mr. Robinson’s suspension. 

Mr. Robinson could not have represented his clients at this statutorily required, 

critical meeting.5 The directives in the Second Show Cause Order were similar to 

the directives in the First Show Cause Order. 

 The Return of the Fees. Shortly after the issuance of the First and 

Second Show Cause Orders, Mr. Briggs filed amended schedules in certain of 

the Cases, representing that, on December 6, 2014, Mr. Robinson returned the 

fees to those Debtors—although it is not clear whether Mr. Robinson provided 

the fees to the chapter 7 trustee, as instructed by the Court, or to the Debtors 

directly. Mr. Briggs also filed amended schedules for those Debtors, claiming an 

exemption in the fees. As such, it appears that Mr. Robinson knowingly held, for 

many months, unearned fees, and returned those fees only in the face of the 

4 The Additional Two Cases are In re Stewart and In re Shields. 
 
5 The Court also notes that, according to its records, the Debtors in the Additional 
Two Cases had no (non-suspended) counsel on the date of their § 341 meetings.  
Mr. Briggs did not first appear for those debtors until more than a month later. 
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First and Second Show Cause Orders. It is unexplained why Mr. Briggs made no 

attempt over the six months to advocate before this Court for his clients’ interests 

in the fees. 

The Third Show Cause Order.  On December 10, 2014, the Court issued 

a third show cause order (the “Third Show Cause Order,” collectively with the 

First and Second Show Cause Orders, the “Show Cause Orders”) in the Cases. 

In the Third Show Cause Order, the Court advised that it was concerned that this 

forum and these Cases were used as vehicles by Mr. Robinson to improperly 

retain property of the estate. It appeared that Mr. Robinson had kept his 

unearned fees for months, assuming the Court would not notice and the chapter 

7 trustees would not care,6 and did not return the fees until faced with a show 

cause order. In addition, the Court expressed concern that Mr. Robinson violated 

the rules of professional conduct by failing to timely return unearned fees—and 

the Court cannot permit this forum to openly host such behavior. The Court 

required an accounting of where the fees have been since Mr. Robinson’s 

suspension and why they were not returned sooner. 

The Motion to Disqualify the Judge. On December 10, 2014, Mr. 

Robinson filed a Motion to Disqualify the Judge.  On December 11, 2014, he filed 

an Amended Motion to Disqualify. The request for disqualification was an 

untimely re-hash of the numerous unmeritorious motions to disqualify that Mr. 

Robinson had filed in the Steward litigation. On December 11, 2014, the Court 

entered an order denying the request for disqualification. 

 The Motion to Compel Turnover.  On December 12, 2014, the Chapter 7 

Trustees filed a joint Motion to Compel Turnover, seeking the turnover of certain 

information and documents allegedly held by Mr. Robinson, Mr. Briggs, and 

Critique Legal Services.  This request for turnover was made in connection with 

6 These Cases are not the only cases in which Mr. Robinson may have kept 
unearned fees following his suspension. The Cases listed above are only a 
sampling of the cases involving Mr. Robinson’s former clients.  Mr. Robinson 
may be in possession of fees collected but unearned from many other debtors in 
cases before this Court. 
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the Chapter 7 Trustee’s effort to meet their obligations under the Show Cause 

Orders. The Motion to Compel is set for hearing on January 13, 2015.   

The Response to the Motion to Compel filed by Mr. Briggs. On 

December 13, 2014, Mr. Briggs filed a Response to the Motion to Compel (the 

“Briggs Response”), advising that he is not in possession of the documents and 

information requested by the Chapter 7 Trustees. He also insisted that his 

representation of the Debtors was done on an “emergency” basis, blaming the 

“emergency” on the Court, the United States Trustee (the “UST”), and unnamed 

law firms. 7  Mr. Briggs’s self-serving self-portraiture as an attorney selflessly 

providing urgent pro bono services is patent nonsense. First, there was no 

“emergency.” The consequences of the suspension were entirely avoidable and 

entirely within Mr. Robinson’s control.  Mr. Robinson had known for weeks, if not 

months, that he was in jeopardy of being suspended, and did nothing to avoid the 

suspension or protect his clients upon his suspension.  Second, Mr. Briggs did 

not act altruistically in representing Mr. Robinson’s former clients. Shortly after 

Mr. Robinson’s suspension, Mr. Brigg began filing Notices of Appearance and 

Bankruptcy Rule 2016(d) Attorney Compensation Disclosures in pending cases 

of Mr. Robinson’s former clients.  In those papers, Mr. Briggs represented that he 

would serve as “co-counsel” with Mr. Robinson (who, of course, was not capable 

of serving as co-counsel due to the suspension) and that he would provide his 

services on a fee-sharing basis. In response, the Court issued orders striking Mr. 

Briggs’s Notices of Appearance that made a “co-counsel” representation, and 

denying the Bankruptcy Rule 2016(b) statements in which Mr. Briggs claimed to 

have a fee-sharing relationship. The reason that Mr. Briggs is now representing 

the Debtors before this Court free-of-charge is not due to any charitable initiative 

on the part of Mr. Briggs.  It is because the Court entered orders determining that 

7 Mr. Briggs claims that the “emergency” was created because “neither the 
Bankruptcy Court, the [UST], nor any other law firm had made provision for the 
protection of the legal rights of Mr. Robinson’s former clients after his 
suspension.”  This contention has no basis in law or reality.  Mr. Robinson’s 
contempt and abuse of process, and his refusal to prepare for the foreseeable 
sanctions, resulted in his clients being left without counsel. 
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Mr. Briggs was deemed to have agreed to serve as sole counsel on a pro bono 

basis, and directing Mr. Briggs to file Bankruptcy Rule 2016(b) statements to that 

effect (which Mr. Briggs ultimately did). 

To any degree, the issue of whether Mr. Briggs may be compelled to 

produce information and documents will be taken up at the January 13 hearing.  

The Briggs Response—which boils down to the assertion that Mr. Briggs does 

not have any responsive material and cannot be compelled to turn over anything 

on behalf of Critique Legal Services—will be considered then. 

The Response to the Show Cause Orders and the Motion to Compel 
Turnover filed by Mr. Robinson. On January 2, 2015, Mr. Robinson filed the 

Robinson Response in which he “responds, objects and moves to [d]ismiss” the 

Show Cause Orders and the Motion to Compel. Upon review of the Robinson 

Response, the Court now enters this Order for three purposes. First, this Order 

recognizes certain factual allegations in the Robinson Response to be false.8 

Second, this Order identifies representations in the Robinson Response that 

suggest that Mr. Robinson and Mr. Briggs entered into an agreement to transfer 

property of the estate without Court authority. The Court expects an accounting 

of such agreements. Third, this Order determines the merits of the requests 

made in the Robinson Response that are not directly responsive to the show 

cause inquiry, but instead seek forms of relief that would allow Mr. Robinson to 

avoid having to respond to the show cause inquiry.  

II.  ANALYSIS 
A.  The False Allegations 

The Robinson Response is replete with misstatements of the law, 

misleading allegations, incoherent arguments, and unsupported proclamations of 

“rights”—all of which are too numerous to detail here. However, there are several 

factual allegations that are demonstrably false, which the Court identifies below.9 

8 This Order may not identify every false allegation in the Robinson Response; it 
points out only those that the Court believes are the most obvious and significant. 
 
9 In addition to containing false allegations, the Robinson Response also quotes 
language from previous orders of the Court, liberally underlining words and 
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1. The False Allegation of Racial Discrimination.   
Mr. Robinson cites the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and falsely alleges that the Show Cause 

Orders were issued because he is a minority.10  In support of this charged claim, 

he points to nothing other than his minority status.  This desperate accusation is 

legally pathetic and professionally despicable. Mr. Robinson exploits his minority 

status in transparent effort to distract and obfuscate—apparently being willing to 

say anything, regardless of how unfounded and outrageous, to avoid responding 

to the Show Cause Orders.  Mr. Robinson maligns a federal court with a slur of 

racism, encouraging unwarranted public mistrust of the legal system. He works a 

profound disservice upon those who actually suffer racial discrimination, by 

falsely equating their experiences to his. This is not merely vexatious litigation. 

This is not merely disreputable lawyering. This is the complete absence of 

shame. It is new low, even for Mr. Robinson, who already had a history of 

dishonest and disgraceful behavior before this Court. Mr. Robinson would be 

well-served to focus on intelligibly and intelligently responding to the Show Cause 

Orders, rather than standing on his fictional claim of victimhood. 

2. The False Allegation of Directives to the “U.S. Trustees.”  

Mr. Robinson makes the false allegation that the Court directed the “U.S. 

Trustees” to act, and insists that the “U.S. Trustees” lack standing. However, the 

Court directed the Chapter 7 Trustees account to the Court. The Court did not 

direct the UST, or an attorney representing the UST, to act in connection with the 

Show Cause Orders. 

3. The False Allegation of Directives to Collect the Fees. 
Mr. Robinson makes the false allegation that the Court directed the UST 

to collect Mr. Robinson’s fees. However, as noted above, the Court did not direct 

the UST to act. Moreover, the Court did not direct the Chapter 7 Trustees to 

phrases, but without indicating that the underlining is his, and was not in the 
original order. This leaves the false impression that the Court included Mr. 
Robinson’s excessive underlining and overly dramatic emphasis in its orders. 
 
10 Presumably, Mr. Robinson refers to the fact that he is African-American. 
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collect the fees. The Court directed the Chapter 7 Trustees to advise the Court 

as to the status of the fees. The fact that Mr. Robinson was free to return the fees 

to the estate by remitting them to the Chapter 7 Trustee does not impose the 

obligation upon the Chapter 7 Trustees that they must seek to collect the fees for 

the purposes of complying with the Show Cause Orders. 

4. The False Allegation of Persons Subject to the Show Cause Orders.   
In the prayer paragraph, Mr. Robinson makes the false allegation that the 

Court ordered Mr. Briggs and Critique Legal Services to show cause. As shown 

by the plain language of the Show Cause Orders, Mr. Briggs and Critique Legal 

Services are not respondents to the Show Cause Orders. 

5. The False Allegation of Denial of a Hearing. 
Mr. Robinson makes the false allegation that he is being denied a hearing 

on the Show Cause Orders and the Motion to Compel. This assertion is directly 

contrary to the record. The Motion to Compel is set for hearing next week, on 

January 13, 2015, and the Show Cause Orders are set for hearing the week 

after, on January 21, 2015. What Mr. Robinson appears to argue is that the Court 

was required to hold a hearing before issuing of the Show Cause Orders.  

However, a party is not entitled to a hearing to determine whether the Court may 

issue a show cause order. The Court does not need Mr. Robinson’s input or 

permission before issuing a show cause order against him. 
B.  The Representation Regarding Agreement to Transfer of Fees 
Mr. Robinson states that he and Mr. Briggs entered into a “compromise 

and settlement” that resulted in the transfer of the fees: 

Respondent hereby acknowledges the execution of all attorney 
fees paid were in compromise and settlement of disputed claims 
and said execution was not to be deemed as an admission of 
liability by Respondent or any party; and such liability being 
expressly denied, as communicated to the debtor’s attorney and to 
the debtors in the presence of their attorney, on December 6, 2014. 
(See Respondent’s Exhibit A1-G) 
 

It is unclear whether any such “compromise and settlement” was oral or written, 

as no Exhibit A1-G was attached. More importantly, it is unclear how any such 

compromise and settlement could have been lawfully entered or how the fees 
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could have been lawfully transferred, to the degree that they were unearned. 

Unearned fees are excessive for the services rendered, and must be disgorged 

to the estate—which is the point of the Show Cause Orders. (The Debtors, in 

fact, admitted that the returned fees are property of the estate, when they sought 

an exemption. Property cannot be exempted from the estate unless it was 

property of the estate to begin with.) The chapter 7 debtors, represented by Mr. 

Briggs, were not free to enter into any compromise and settlement—orally or 

written—involving the transfer of the property of the estate. Compromises and 

settlements involving property of the estate must be approved by the Court upon 

a motion brought by the chapter 7 trustee under Bankruptcy Rule 9019.  

In addition, Mr. Robinson admits that, on December 6, 2014, his fees 

collected in the In re Long, In re Moore, and In re Logan matters were transferred 

to Mr. Briggs. This also is a concerning admission. Mr. Briggs agreed to take In 

re Long for free and had already been paid for his services In Moore and In re 

Logan and had agreed not to fee share.  Why the fees, some or all of which may 

be property of the estate, were transferred to Mr. Briggs, and on what authority, 

is unclear. 

  The Court DIRECTS Mr. Robinson to bring to the January 13 hearing 
the original of every such “compromise and settlement” between and 
among Mr. Robinson and each above-referenced debtor, and the original of 
any agreement between himself and Mr. Briggs regarding the transfer of 
fees in the In re Long, In re Moore and In re Logan matters.  Further, the 
Court gives NOTICE to Mr. Robinson that his failure to comply with this 
directive may result in the imposition of sanctions. Further, the Court notes 

that, regardless of any “agreement” Mr. Robinson and Mr. Briggs may have come 

up with concerning the transfer of the fees—in the privacy of their offices, behind 

closed doors, as they planned their responses to the Chapter 7 Trustees’ 

inquiries and the Show Cause Orders—such agreements do not bind the Court in 

determining the issues raised in the Show Cause Orders and the Motion to 

Compel Turnover.  
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C.  The Requests for Relief 
1. The Demand for Relief under 28 U.S.C. § 144.  

Mr. Robinson demands relief under 28 U.S.C. § 144, which provides that a 

judge shall “proceed no further” in a matter upon the filing of a sufficient affidavit 

attesting to the judge’s bias. In the Steward litigation, Mr. Robinson and his co-

respondents also had demanded that the Judge disqualify under § 144. As the 

Court repeatedly explained in orders entered in the Steward litigation, it is well-

established law that, by the plain language of the statute, § 144 applies only to 

U.S. District Court judges.  It does not apply to U.S. Bankruptcy Court judges.  

Mr. Robinson cites no authority to the contrary. Moreover, even if § 144 applied, 

Mr. Robinson still failed to show that relief is proper. Section 144 requires the 

filing of a “sufficient affidavit” in support.  No affidavit was filed.   

2. The Demand for “Referral” of the Cases.  
Mr. Robinson demands that “this matter” be “referred” to the U.S. District 

Court. He offers no basis for such relief, and, in fact, there is no mechanism by 

which the Court may “refer” a matter to the U.S. District Court. Referral of 

bankruptcy matters is a one-way street: the U.S. District Court refers bankruptcy 

matters to the U.S. Bankruptcy Court pursuant to its standing order of automatic 

reference. This Court has no authority, statutory or otherwise, to “refer” a matter 

back to the U.S. District Court.  And this Court certainly has no authority to direct 

the U.S. District Court to hear a particular matter.  And while a party may file a 

motion to withdraw the reference, such motion is made to U.S. District Court. 

This Court does not determine a request to withdraw of the reference. 

3. The Demand for Dismissal Based on an Alleged Lack of Jurisdiction. 
Mr. Robinson seeks dismissal based on an alleged lack of jurisdiction.  As 

to the request for dismissal of the Show Cause Orders: one cannot obtain 

“dismissal” of a show cause order under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure (“Rule”) 

12(b) or by any other mechanism. A show cause order is not a request by a party 

for relief; it is a directive from the Court to respond—and thus, it is not subject to 

a request for “dismissal.” The plain language of Rule 12(b)(1) makes this clear: 

“Every defense to a claim for relief in any pleading must be asserted in the 
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responsive pleading if one is required.  But a party may assert the following 

defenses by motion: (1) lack of subject-matter jurisdiction . . .” Fed. R. Civ. P. 

12(b)(1). Responding to a show cause order does not involve making a “defense” 

because there is no “claim for relief” for the party to defend against, and there is 

no subject “pleading” (a document filed by a party requesting relief from the 

court). Responding to a show cause order involves responding to a directive set 

forth in a court order.  As such, Mr. Robinson has a choice: he may respond to 

the Show Cause Order and endeavor to show that cause exists for the Court to 

decline to order sanctions or other relief; or, he may decline to respond to the 

Show Cause Order and risk the Court deeming his failure to respond to be an 

admission. Further, Mr. Robinson is free to appeal and raise jurisdiction as a 

ground. However, dismissal is not a vehicle available to Mr. Robinson. 

As to the request for dismissal of the Motion to Compel Turnover: Mr. 

Robinson states that he does not “consent” to jurisdiction. However, jurisdiction is 

not established by Mr. Robinson’s consent. The Court has subject matter 

jurisdiction over the issues raised in the Motion to Compel Turnover and has 

personal jurisdiction over Mr. Robinson, who accepted fees in connection with a 

case filed before this Court.  Mr. Robinson also argues that because he allegedly 

returned the fees on December 6, 2014, the Court now lacks jurisdiction. 

However, Mr. Robinson’s alleged returning of the fees does not deprive the Court 

of jurisdiction over the Motion to Compel Turnover.  The Chapter 7 Trustees are 

still compelled to respond as directed in the Third Show Cause Order. 

4. The “Objections” to the Show Cause Orders.   
Mr. Robinson purports to “object” to the Show Cause Orders. However, 

one does not object to a court order; one objects to a request or action of a party. 

Moreover, Mr. Robinson does not appear to understand that the directives in the 

Show Cause Orders are not discovery requests. The Court is not a party; it does 

not conduct discovery; it does not issue interrogatories. Yet, Mr. Robinson 

incorrectly calls the Court’s directives “interrogatories,” then “objects” to them as 

though they are interrogatories. However, mischaracterizing the Court’s 
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directives as interrogatories, in an attempt to challenge them as interrogatories, 

amounts to a non-response to the Show Cause Orders. 

III.  CONCLUSION 
For the reasons set forth above, the Court ORDERS that: 

(i) any request for relief based on the false allegation that the 
that the Show Cause Orders were issued due to racial 
discrimination be DENIED; 
 

(ii) any request for dismissal of the Motion to Compel for an 
alleged lack of standing be DENIED; 

 
(iii) any request for relief based on an alleged lack of due 

process be DENIED; 
 

(iv) any request for relief based on an alleged failure to 
conducting a hearing be DENIED; 

 
(v) the request for relief under 28 U.S.C. § 144 be DENIED; 

 
(vi) the request for “referral” to the U.S. District Court be 

DENIED; 
 

(vii) the request for dismissal based on a lack of jurisdiction be 
DENIED; 

 
(viii) the “objections” to the Show Cause Order be OVERRULED; 

and 
 

(ix) Mr. Robinson be directed bring to the January 13, 2015 
hearing the original of every settlement between and among 
Mr. Robinson and any Debtor, and the original written 
agreement between himself and Mr. Briggs regarding the 
transfer of fees paid to Mr. Robinson the In re Long, In re 
Moore and In re Logan matters. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

 
In re:      §  
      § 

Evette Nicole Reed,   §  Case No. 14-44818-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §     
In re:      § 
      § 

Pauline A. Brady,   § Case No. 14-44909-705 
     §  

    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §  
In re:      § 
      § 
 Lawanda Lanae Long,   § Case No. 14-45773-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
      § 
In re:      § 
      § 

Marshall Beard,   § Case No. 14-43751-705 
     § 
   Debtor.  § 

______________________________________ § 
In re:      §  
      § 
 Darrell Moore,     § Case No. 14-44434-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §  
In re:      § 
      § 
 Nina Lynne Logan,   § Case No. 14-44329-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
In re:      § 
      § 

Jovon Neosha Stewart,  § Case No. 14-43912-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
In re:      § 
      § 
 Angelique Renee Shields,  § Case No. 14-43914-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
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ORDER DENYING (SECOND) MOTION TO DISMISS 
 

On January 12, 2015, Mr. James Robinson, a suspended attorney and a 

respondent to the Chapter 7 Trustees’ motion to compel turnover, and the 

respondent to the Court’s Show Cause Orders, filed a (second) Motion to 

Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction.  The Second Motion to Dismiss is 

hereby DENIED.  The alleged fact that Mr. Robinson has finally returned to the 

Debtors the fees he collected from them does not deprive this Court of subject 

matter jurisdiction over the issue of whether Mr. Robinson should be sanctioned 

for failing to timely return those fees. It also does not deprive the Court of subject 

matter jurisdiction over the issues raised in the Motion to Compel Turnover.  The 

chapter 7 trustees remain obligation to respond to the Court’s inquiries as set 

forth in the Show Cause Orders.  The hearing set for tomorrow on the Motion to 

Compel Turnover will proceed as scheduled.  

	
	
	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 				CHARLES E. RENDLEN, III 
              U. S. Bankruptcy Judge 
 
DATED:  January 12, 2015 
St. Louis, Missouri 
ska 
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Example of affidavit and attachments filed by Briggs regarding  

the return of their fees on December 6, 2014 
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)  Chapter 7
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TRANSCRIPT OF CASE 14-43751: MOTION TO COMPEL TURNOVER FILED BY
TRUSTEE ROBERT J. BLACKWELL [VOSS, BRYAN] (33).

TRANSCRIPT OF CASE NO. 14-43912:  MOTION TO COMPEL TURNOVER FILED
BY TRUSTEE DAVID A. SOSNE (27).  RESPONSE FILED BY DEBTOR (34)

TRANSCRIPT OF CASE NO. 14-43914:  MOTION TO COMPEL FILED BY
TRUSTEE DAVID A. SOSNE (30).  RESPONSE FILED BY DEBTOR (37).
TRANSCRIPT OF CASE NO. 14-44329:  MOTION TO COMPEL TURNOVER
FILED BY TRUSTEE TOM K. O’LOUGHLIN (26).  RESPONSE FILED BY

INTERESTED PARTY ROSS H BRIGGS (33).
TRANSCRIPT OF CASE NO. 14-44334:  MOTION TO COMPEL TURNOVER
FILED BY TRUSTEE KRISTIN J. CONWELL (24).  RESPONSE FILED BY

INTERESTED PARTY ROSS H BRIGGS (33)
TRANSCRIPT OF CASE NO. 14-44818:  MOTION TO COMPEL TURNOVER

FILED BY TRUSTEE SETH ALBIN (30). RESPONSE FILED BY DEBTOR (33)
TRANSCRIPT OF CASE 14-44909: MOTION TO COMPEL TURNOVER FILED BY

TRUSTEE E. REBECCA CASE (27). RESPONSE FILED BY DEBTOR (30)
TRANSCRIPT OF CASE NO. 14-45773: MOTION TO COMPEL TURNOVER

FILED BY TRUSTEE DAVID SOSNE (30). RESPONSE FILED BY DEBTOR (37)
BEFORE HONORABLE CHARLES E. RENDLEN, III

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT JUDGE

APPEARANCES:

Attorney for Debtors ROSS H. BRIGGS, ESQ
Beard, Stewart, Shields, Post Office Box 58628
Reed, Brady, and Long: St. Louis, Missouri 63158

Trustee for Stewart, Summers Compton Wells LLC
Shields, and Long: By:  DAVID A. SOSNE, ESQ.

8909 Ladue Road
St. Louis, Missouri 63124

Trustee for Darrel and Conwell Law Firm LLC
Jocelyn Moore: By:  KRISTIN J CONWELL, ESQ.
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Trustee for E. REBECCA CASE, ESQ.
Pauline A. Brady: 7733 Forsyth Boulevard
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APPEARANCES:
(continued)

Trustee for Marshall Blackwell and Associates
Beard: By:  ROBERT J. BLACKWELL, ESQ.

P.O. Box 310
O'Fallon, Missouri 63366-0310

Trustee for Nina Logan: O'Loughlin, O'Loughlin Koetting
By:  PATRICK O'LOUGHLIN, ESQ.
1736 N. Kings Highway
Cape Girardeau, Missouri 63701

Trustee for Evette Reed: Stewart, Mittleman, Heggie & Henry
By:  SETH A. ALBIN, ESQ.
7710 Carondelet Avenue
Suite 405
St. Louis, Missouri 63105

For James C. Robinson: Critique Services
By:  JAMES CLIFTON ROBINSON, PRO SE
3919 Washington Boulevard
St. Louis, Missouri 63108

For the U.S. Trustee: Office of U.S. Trustee
By:  PAUL RANDOLPH, ESQ.
111 S. Tenth Street, Suite 6353
St. Louis, Missouri 63102

ECRO: Dee Walker

TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE: TRANSCRIPTS PLUS, INC.
435 Riverview Circle
New Hope, Pennsylvania 18938
Telephone:  215-862-1115
Facsimile: 215-862-6639
e-mail CourtTranscripts@aol.com

Proceedings recorded by electronic sound recording,
transcript produced by transcription service.
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THE COURT:  (Recording commences with the following)1

cases and order to show cause.  And as we speak about these2

cases today, we’ll be talking about all eight, unless you3

segregate it out into the specific individual when we visit4

about them.  And I understand we’re having a discovery problem. 5

And -- well, go ahead, and I want to --6

MR. SOSNE:  You want entries --7

THE COURT:  -- take appearances --8

MR. SOSNE:  You want entries of appearances.  Okay.9

David Sosne, I’m the bankruptcy trustee in three of10

the cases, which are:  Stewart, Shields, and Long.11

MS. CONWELL:  Kristin Conwell, trustee for Darrell12

and Jocelyn Moore.13

MS. CASE:  Rebecca Case, Chapter 7 trustee for debtor14

Pauline A. Brady.15

MR. BLACKWELL:  Rob Blackwell.  I’m the trustee in16

the Beard case.17

MR. O’LOUGHLIN:  Pat O’Loughlin on behalf of the18

trustee in the Logan case, Your Honor. 19

MR. ALBIN:  Seth Albin, Chapter 7 trustee for Evette20

Nicole Reed.21

MR. BRIGGS:  Ross Briggs.  I’m debtor’s counsel in22

all of the matters except the following:  23

I have not entered on Darrell and Jocelyn Moore;24

I have not entered on Nina Logan;25
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I have entered my appearance on all the remaining1

debtors.2

MR. ROBINSON:  James Robinson representing himself as3

respondent, Your Honor.4

Your Honor, before we get started, let me know when5

it is permissible or when you allow me at some point to make an6

opening statement.  If you want me to do it now, or after the7

trustee make their statement, or whatever’s feasible, Your8

Honor.  But I have an opening statement. 9

THE COURT:  All right.  That will be fine.10

MR. ROBINSON:  You want it now?11

THE COURT:  I want to know are there any other12

parties here in the courtroom that want to be on the record13

before we start at this time?  I notice the U.S. Trustee is14

here.15

All right.  Mr. Trustee, do you want to state what16

your issues are so many Mr. Robinson can respond to some of17

those issues?18

MR. SOSNE:  Sure.19

THE COURT:  Because we actually have a bifurcated20

hearing here.  We’re trying to get the discovery ready so that21

we can go a week from today -- a week from tomorrow on the22

substantive part of the case.23

MR. SOSNE:  Your Honor, I’m David Sosne.  And rather24

than have all the trustees or the representatives of the25
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trustee identify the different matters, we have discussed1

amongst ourselves exactly how we want to proceed, and we2

thought that I could be the spokesperson for -- that applied to3

my cases, and they equally apply to the other cases.4

To the extent that others disagree with what I say,5

or it’s something specific to their case, then they’re sure to6

pipe in or correct me.  But I think that’s a way to streamline7

it.8

But the issue before the Court here is a very narrow9

one, at least as of today:  There is a motion to compel, and a10

motion for turnover for information and documents.  And it is11

that motion to compel which is before the Court today.12

We are not here to try or have a full scale trial13

with numerous witnesses on a show cause hearing, that is set14

for next week.  This is simply in response to the -- what we15

believe is not sufficient responses to the motion to compel,16

and so we’re asking for an order.17

So that is the scope of the issues before the Court18

today.  And if Mr. Robinson is interested in making some type19

of opening statement in that context, I’m fine with that.20

And then I can present to you -- what I will give to21

is essentially a proffer of what we did, why we did it, what we22

got, what we didn’t get, and what we expect.  And I think23

that’s probably the best way in which I think we can handle it.24

THE COURT:  And that makes sense.  And, Mr. Robinson,25
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I’ll give you an opportunity to go off message of what Mr.1

Sosne just said there after we’ve dealt with these very narrow2

issues that we’re dealing with today on the order to show3

cause.  The narrow issues are:  In the motion to dismiss for4

the turnover of documents and information that the trustees5

want to deal with.6

So if you want to, respond to those issues at this7

time in your opening statement.  Otherwise if your opening8

statement is lingering on the multiple motions to dismiss, of9

which I’ve had eight motions to recuse and five motions to10

dismiss between the Stewart case and these cases, let’s save11

that until the end.  Because I’m going to let you --12

MR. ROBINSON:  Well --13

THE COURT:  -- go on the record -- because I have a14

few questions for you.15

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, Your Honor, here’s the problem: 16

My opening statement -- I have a copy for these trustee, and I17

have a copy for the Court.  You know, I can -- and that way,18

you could determine the length of it by looking at it.  I19

didn’t get a chance to go downstairs and file it yet.  It20

answers some of the questions that Mr. Sosne raised.21

But also, Your Honor, it’s important that the Court22

understands that I am not here consenting to this Court’s23

jurisdiction, and I wanted to get that --24

THE COURT:  Well, you know, you can bring that up at25
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any time, and I don’t have any problem with that.  But if this1

Court doesn’t have jurisdiction over attorneys appearing in2

court and handling money of clients that come before this3

Court, then there isn’t a Constitution of the United States. 4

Period.5

All right?  You’ve tried that -- let’s see -- at6

least 13 times in various motions.  You’re done with that --7

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, I --8

THE COURT:  -- until the Supreme Court of the United9

States or Court of Appeals rules otherwise.  So let’s move on10

with --11

MR. ROBINSON:  Well --12

THE COURT:  -- that issue.  Jurisdiction can always13

be brought up.14

MR. ROBINSON:  Can I read my opening statement then,15

Your Honor, at this point?  Are you --16

THE COURT:  You can save it until the end --17

MR. ROBINSON:  Okay.18

THE COURT:  -- unless it deals with just what you19

started to talk about --20

MR. ROBINSON:  It does.21

THE COURT:  -- which is giving the trustees the22

information now.23

MR. ROBINSON:  It does.24

THE COURT:  Why haven’t you given --25
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MR. ROBINSON:  Let me --1

THE COURT:  -- the trustees the information?2

MR. ROBINSON:  I would like to read my opening3

statement, Your Honor. 4

THE COURT:  Well --5

MR. ROBINSON:  And -- and -- and --6

THE COURT:  -- you need to get out -- you’re in a7

loop here, Mr. Robinson.  Are you not understanding that this8

is a very narrow hearing?9

MR. ROBINSON:  And my -- and my opening statement10

addresses that, Your Honor.11

THE COURT:  Well, I just want you to address that12

part now, and you save the rest of that until later on.13

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, Your Honor, in my opening14

statement, I address that by stating --15

THE COURT:  No, you’re not.16

MR. ROBINSON:  I’m addressing it now, Your Honor.17

THE COURT:  Mr. Robinson --18

MR. ROBINSON:  I’m stating that --19

THE COURT:  -- are you going to give the trustees the20

information, number one?21

MR. ROBINSON:  I’m stating, Your Honor, in my -- I22

don’t know what he’s asking for.23

THE COURT:  What do you mean?24

MR. ROBINSON:  He hasn’t -- he hasn’t -- he hasn’t --25
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he hasn’t stated what he asked for.  But in my opening1

statement, Your Honor, I can address that.2

THE COURT:  Well, I guess you’re going to make your3

opening statement because I can’t get you out of the loop, Mr.4

Robinson.5

MR. ROBINSON:  I give each one of them a copy, Your6

Honor.  I give the Court one, too.7

MR. ROBINSON:  Respondent attorney James C. Robinson8

opening statement to today’s hearing.9

I am not here consenting to this Court’s subject10

matter jurisdiction.  I am here on three show cause orders to11

appear:  On November 26th, 2014, the Court, on its own12

initiative, issued a show cause order in the main cause Number13

14-45773, Document Number 18, directing:14

One, James Robinson show cause as to why his fees15

should not be disgorged under Section 329(b);16

And, two, the Chapter 7 trustees to provide17

information related to fees, again, on December the 2nd, 2014,18

Document Number 17.19

And the Court issued a show cause order in this20

matter to disgorge fees and seeking information related to21

those fees by the U.S. Trustees (sic).22

On December the 10th, 2014, Cause Number 14-47773,23

Document Number 26, respondent filed the petition for removal24

of the judge in this matter, which was denied on December 11,25
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2014 in Document Number 27.1

On December the 10th, 2014, Document Number 28, the2

judge in this matter issued an additional show cause order for3

trustee to collect unearned fees, and why monetary and non-4

monetary sanctions for fees returned as unlawfully held.5

The allegation why respondent delayed in returning6

unlawfully held unearned fees was determined by the Court with7

an evidence hearing of any type.8

To date, no debtor has demanded or claimed respondent9

owed debtor any fee -- any attorney fees in this matter.10

Respondent has fully and responded to each show cause11

order.  Respondent filed his reply in this Court on January the12

2nd, 2015.13

This is a quasi contempt hearing for monetary and14

non-monetary sanctions disguised as a motion to compel to seek15

information related to fees by the trustee’s bootstrapping the16

Court’s three show cause orders.17

The show cause orders define the scope of18

disparagement of attorney fees to 11 U.S.C. Section 329(b). 19

This is violation of respondent’s due process and equal20

protection of the law.  And that is evidenced -- in that an21

evidence hearing has not been held under 11 U.S.C. 2017 to22

determine if the fees were unearned in each case that is23

requested by respondent.  This entire proceeding today is24

tainted by the Court’s raising the issue that respondent may be25
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subject to monetary and non-monetary sanctions.1

The Court stated that -- and I’m paraphrasing this2

part when I say the Court stated -- but the language of the3

show cause order strictly stated, “Nothing here requires that4

Robinson waive his rights under the Fifth Amendment of the5

United States Constitution, or any similar right, under the6

law.  The United States Trustee is invited to participate in7

the process of addressing these issues.”8

The urging of the Court for respondent to consider9

taking the Fifth Amendment is a violation of his due process10

right to freely address all the issues in this matter without11

the fear of being criminally or civilly sanctioned.12

The Court raised the Fifth Amendment issue first, and13

I responded.  I am being coerced and instructed by the Court to14

consider pleading the Fifth.  All attorney fees were earned and15

returned under protest to debtors.16

The issues in this case are moot.  There is no case17

in controversy.  I am respecting -- fully request this matter18

be removed to the District Court pursuant to Rule 5 as to the19

Court’s rule of disciplinary enforcement.20

Thank you.21

THE COURT:  Well, the disciplinary enforcement, let’s22

work backwards.  Disciplinary enforcement is handled by23

District Court, and has nothing to do with our sole and24

complete jurisdiction, which is even a safe harbor under Stearn25
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under 329 where we are the arbiter and the starting point for1

all attorneys’ fees.2

This is only a hearing, not on the substantive nature3

of whether you’ve heard earned these fees, but to produce the4

information that you would use in your defense with the5

trustees about an items which you’ve gone on record saying is6

clearly property of the estate.  Your --7

MR. ROBINSON:  No, I haven’t.8

THE COURT:  Oh, yeah, you have judicially --9

MR. ROBINSON:  No, I haven’t.10

THE COURT:  -- admitted that --11

MR. ROBINSON:  No, I didn’t.12

THE COURT:  -- in your pleadings straight up,13

sideways, and in between, Mr. Robinson.14

MR. ROBINSON:  No, I did not.  I respectfully15

disagree, Your Honor.16

THE COURT:  All right.  You need to go forward then17

and explain that.18

MR. ROBINSON:  Explain what?19

THE COURT:  Because everybody wants to know --20

MR. ROBINSON:  I did not --21

THE COURT:  We want evidence.22

MR. ROBINSON:  I never said that I did not hear my23

fees.24

THE COURT:  Are you going to keep interrupting me?25
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MR. ROBINSON:  No, sir.1

THE COURT:  You had your say, I didn’t interrupt you.2

MR. ROBINSON:  Go ahead.3

THE COURT:  Even though it was truly inappropriate,4

many of the items you said, and you’re -- and you’ve conflated5

various issues throughout this statement that you just read.6

The whole concept for this hearing in the order to7

show cause is due process.  Period.  All the trustees are8

asking for is the information that they have requested. 9

Nothing great.10

You are getting the opportunity for a full defense11

when we have a full hearing when you have complied with12

discovery.  The problem is in the past, in the Stewart case,13

you failed to do that.14

So we, unfortunately, have to go forward with a15

hearing today to determine what discovery you are going to16

produce.17

Now this information you gave here has nothing to do18

with the attorneys’ fees.  It has everything to do with these19

issues that have been ruled on prior by the Court about20

jurisdiction, recusal, and other items.21

So, therefore, Mr. Robinson, everything you just said22

is denied.  And we’re going to go forward with the specifics of23

this case.  The whole concept is to get to due process.24

MR. ROBINSON:  Your Honor --25
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THE COURT:  You have missed the point again.1

MR. ROBINSON:  Your Honor, as you just stated, it’s2

not about the fees, then what is it about?3

THE COURT:  No, it is about the fees.  That’s what I4

said.  It’s all about the fees.5

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, I misunderstood.  You just said6

it wasn’t about the fees.7

THE COURT:  No, it’s not about your constitutional8

arguments or jurisdiction.  It’s not about the jurisdiction.9

MR. ROBINSON:  Then --10

THE COURT:  It’s all about the fees.  That’s all I’ve11

been trying to say.12

MR. ROBINSON:  Then, Your Honor, if it’s about the13

fees, then how could we get to the fees?  You stated that they14

were unearned --15

THE COURT:  Well, we’re going to get -- no, we get to16

get to the fees because we’ve got to track them all the way17

through.18

MR. ROBINSON:  But first, Your Honor, to get to the19

fees --20

THE COURT:  Because you’ve admitted that you accepted21

fees prior to your suspension on June 10.  Is that not correct?22

MR. ROBINSON:  Yes, I --23

THE COURT:  In all eight of the cases.24

MR. ROBINSON:  I accept -- fees were direct to me,25
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yes, Your Honor.1

THE COURT:  All right.  All right.  Now you might2

want to save this for another week because I’m about to ask you3

the next question.  All the information that’s been provided to4

this Court by you and Mr. Briggs so far is that none of these5

fees or the money orders are dated prior to -- and you can6

correct me if I’m wrong, I may not remember all eight --7

December 6th of this year, that’s substantially past the time8

that the order to show cause was entered.9

MR. ROBINSON:  What’s Your Honor -- what’s Your Honor10

referring to, Your Honor?11

THE COURT:  The money orders.  The money --12

MR. ROBINSON:  No, no, no.  Which show cause --13

THE COURT:  The money you returned to the debtors.14

MR. ROBINSON:  Which show cause order are you15

referring to, Your Honor?16

THE COURT:  Well, we start in November.17

MR. ROBINSON:  You’re not speaking about the June18

25th?  When you asked Mr. Briggs to inquire to me about19

returning fees to the Court, you’re not talking about that.20

THE COURT:  Oh, you mean when Mr. --21

MR. ROBINSON:  Yeah, which --22

THE COURT:  Mr. Briggs was asked to correct the co-23

counsel statement, is that the one you’re talking about where24

he originally filed that he was going to be co-counsel with25
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you, a suspended attorney, and he corrected all that to be sole1

and only attorney, which he announced today, that he’s the sole2

and only attorney for six of the debtors.3

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, no, correct me.  I thought you4

were referring to -- that you had determined that I owed fees,5

and they were unlawfully held, and you instructed Mr. Briggs on6

June the 25th, 2014 to remit fees back to the Court, or at7

least to Mr. Briggs.  That’s what I’m -- 8

THE COURT:  Okay.  I think you’re --9

MR. ROBINSON:  I’m trying to understand.10

THE COURT:  You’ve got me confused, and that’s not11

what the order said.  So it will say what it says --12

MR. ROBINSON:  That -- that --13

THE COURT:  You’re going to get an opportunity to14

deal with that in your defense in -- a week from tomorrow.  So15

let’s --16

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, you just --17

THE COURT:  Let’s just go forward with the18

information.  This is about taking fees from clients for19

certain services that had been rendered or would be rendered,20

and how they were handled thereafter.  That’s the time line.21

MR. ROBINSON:  So -- so you’re saying that the fees22

were unearned?  I’m trying to get an understanding what you23

saying, Your Honor. 24

THE COURT:  Well --25
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MR. ROBINSON:  You’ve -- did -- 1

THE COURT:  Well, I don’t know.  You’ve got to come2

forward --3

MR. ROBINSON:  I didn’t hear the word “unearned.”4

THE COURT:  Wait a minute.  The burden’s on you to5

come forward --6

MR. ROBINSON:  No, no.  I didn’t hear you say --7

THE COURT:  -- and determine what is earned and what8

is not earned.9

MR. ROBINSON:  I didn’t hear you say --10

THE COURT:  I haven’t prejudged --11

MR. ROBINSON:  -- whether or not they were unearned.12

THE COURT: That’s what the hearing -- Mr. Robinson --13

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, I need you to say that they were14

unearned, Your Honor.  Are you saying --15

THE COURT:  To determine whether they’re earned or16

unearned.  Are you listening?17

MR. ROBINSON:  I’m waiting on you to say that, Your18

Honor.  I’m waiting til you use that term.  Now if you say19

they’re unearned, then I’m entitled to due process under20

Section 329.21

THE COURT:  Well, that’s exactly what this is.22

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, to get to 329, I have to have an23

evidentiary hearing under Section 2017, Your Honor.24

THE COURT:  No, you don’t.25
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MR. ROBINSON:  Yes, I do.  Because in your motion for1

-- in your show cause order, you defined and limited the scope2

of your show cause order to Section 329.  So you don’t have a3

broad discretion to go on a fishing expedition, Your Honor. 4

You clearly defined what your scope was, it’s for unearned fees5

and Section 329.  You don’t get an opportunity to do a fishing6

expedition to come in here for sanctions to get any type of7

information --8

THE COURT:  Oh, sure I can.9

MR. ROBINSON:  -- against me.10

THE COURT:  That’s quite untrue.11

MR. ROBINSON:  You don’t have that.12

THE COURT:  And the third show cause order clarified13

all these items.14

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, I made my statement.15

THE COURT:  You need to read that.16

MR. ROBINSON:  I made my statement, Your Honor.17

THE COURT:  And -- and, Mr. Robinson --18

MR. ROBINSON:  Yes.19

THE COURT:  -- there isn’t a fishing expedition. 20

We’re dealing with eight debtors here.21

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, this is a quasi, like I said,22

judicial contempt hearing.23

THE COURT:  No.  The --24

MR. ROBINSON:  And it’s did the -- that’s exactly25
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what it is, Your Honor.1

THE COURT:  The contempt’s only going to come if you2

don’t comply --3

MR. ROBINSON:  But I respectfully --4

THE COURT:  -- with discovery and/or you are found5

after an evidentiary hearing to have violated some rule code6

section or law.7

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, I respectfully disagree, and Mr.8

Sosne can go ahead with whatever he’s going to say.9

THE COURT:  Well, that’s your prerogative, but you10

need to comply with the law.11

MR. ROBINSON:  I -- I’m going to yield right now,12

Your Honor, to Mr. Sosne.13

THE COURT:  You’ll get your --14

MR. SOSNE:  Your Honor, as I indicated, this is a15

narrow -- the scope of this hearing is quite narrow, and it16

simply relates to the request for information and documentation17

that the various trustees requested in the aggregate to -- in18

order to comply with the various court rulings.19

By way of background, once the Court issued the first20

show cause order on November 26th, 2014, and then thereafter21

followed up with the show cause order of December 2nd, 2014,22

the trustees got together and realized that there were various23

-- there was various information that the Court had requested24

that the bankruptcy trustee -- Chapter 7 trustees obtained in25
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connection with the various inquiries that had been -- that are1

before the Court.2

In order to comply with the trustees’ duties, both in3

terms of the court orders advising the trustees what should be4

sought, as well as the trustees’ various responsibilities in5

terms of review of fees in any event, the trustees collectively6

discussed what was the best and most expeditious mechanism by7

which the information could be obtained in order to meet the8

various deadlines that were fairly short deadlines, and also9

given the fact that we had eight cases and six trustees, that10

it was needed -- that we thought a -- to streamline it so that11

all the trustees would work together.12

As a result, the trustees -- and this is all spelled13

out in the motion to compel turnover, nothing is particularly14

new there.  The trustees recited that a letter was -- was15

tendered to -- actually to Mr. Briggs, to Mr. Robinson, and16

also to Critique Legal Services, asking that information be17

turned over responsive to the specific request that are18

contained in the various show cause orders.19

And there are three -- I’ll say -- we’ll call them20

three show cause orders:  Show cause order one, two, and three. 21

And the information in -- is specifically laid out in each of22

these orders, I don’t think that it’s necessary for me to read23

what that is.  So we requested that information by letter, and24

requested a response.  That letter, I believe, was December25
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3rd.  We asked for the information to be provided by December1

10th so that we could prepare for the show cause hearing that2

was -- that’s set next week.3

The essence is this:  What the trustees requested was4

not only documents, and not only just recitations of what5

people said happened, but we wanted both.6

And if you look in the motion to compel, there’s a7

defined term of Information, with a capital I, and Documents8

with a capital D, in terms of what we wanted.  And it’s9

essentially this, to paraphrase the politics and paraphrase10

various movies, is to follow the money.   That’s what we wanted11

to do.  I wanted a recitation.  We wanted a recitation of what12

happened, and we wanted supporting documents. 13

And perhaps I can just take you through it a14

little bit:  For example, in show cause order 1, it says, “To15

whom specifically the fees were paid.”  Well, the fees were16

either paid by cash, by check, by some other mechanism.  We17

would have some type of evidence of documentation that would18

support that.  That information was not provided.19

Where -- B, where the fees were held following20

payment, including whether such fees were held in a client’s21

trust account.  Once again, it’s basically taking your paid me,22

you put it someplace, you do something with it, you disburse23

it, what happened?  So we wanted -- we thought it was24

appropriate, given the various mandates, take us through25
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exactly what happened.  Over the period of time, from the1

initial payment to the date of ultimate disbursement, which Mr.2

Robinson has represented, that those funds have been returned3

to the debtors.4

Whether they have or have not, we don’t know for5

certain, but we saw -- we saw copies of checks or money orders,6

and we have his statement.7

But we’re missing a whole bunch of information in8

between, and that’s what we want.  We want the -- we want a9

recitation of line item-by-line item, together with the10

supporting documentation.  And we think that that would comply11

with the document request, and with the mandates of the Court.12

Now in terms of having access to the information, we13

-- we figured there’s -- the people who have this information,14

Mr. Robinson, Mr. Briggs, Critique Legal Services, all of them,15

some of them, that’s the universe we’re living in.  Why?  Well,16

Mr. Robinson filed various pleadings stating that he was d/b/a17

Critique Legal Services in various 2016 disclosures, as well as18

the petitions and other things.  So we figured -- and he19

offices, I think, at the same place as Critique Legal Services.20

So you would think that he would -- that he, as a,21

quote, “representative” of them, or doing business as them, in22

what context, I’m not sure, but would have that information. 23

And when you ask for information, it’s not just what you have24

in your pocket, but also what’s reasonably within your control25
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after exercise of some reasonable due diligence.1

So if I ask Mr. Blackwell to produce documents, and2

he says I don’t have them, simply because he hasn’t spent the3

time to look for them, that’s not sufficient. 4

There’s a good faith effort of having to produce or5

provide information.  So we thought that Mr. Robinson would6

have that information given his close relationship and7

affiliation.8

Mr. Briggs -- we also requested that information of9

Mr. Briggs for the reason that he has had over the years, and10

each of the trustees could attest to it, a close relationship11

in some context with Critique Legal Services.  He’s appeared --12

he’s now entered his appearance on behalf of the various13

debtors.  He now -- he has appeared at numerous 341 meetings14

over the years involving with Critique Legal Services.15

So he obviously has some knowledge, a relationship,16

he’s representing these people.  And as debtors’ counsel, he17

would have the obligation, if he doesn’t already know, to be18

able to find out what happened to the money.  And he could19

inquire, if he doesn’t have his own personal knowledge of the20

information.  But he is close, and he’s part of what I would21

call the inner sanctum there somehow.22

And then what’s interesting today is what I’ll call23

the “empty chair syndrome.”  Is that there’s nobody else here24

form Critique Legal Services.  We sent it to them, and we --25
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the letter -- the letter on the motion -- not on the motion,1

excuse me.  The letter requesting the information was directed2

to the managing agent or managing person there.  And also we3

put “Attention: Managing Person, Mr. Robinson, and Mr. Briggs.” 4

So that empty chair here today is that extra step, they’re not5

here today.  Because under the Code and rules, it’s not just6

the counsel that is required to turn over information, but any7

person.8

So we -- we suspect -- so those are the three -- the9

three -- the scope.10

Now in terms of the responses that we received, and11

why we think they’re inadequate.  I’ll take Mr. Briggs first. 12

Mr. Briggs indicated that he doesn’t have any of this13

information, it’s not -- and not within -- and if you can --14

you -- I assume you’ve read his response.  And basically it’s15

just a very conclusory statement.  And whether it’s true or not16

-- let’s assume that it’s true, we don’t have the documentation17

to support each of the requests.  And I think given that he’s18

in the inner circle, that he has access to it, or can request19

that information, and could provide that information.  And that20

is where we believe his response is deficient.21

Mr. Robinson’s response -- his response is22

essentially, if I can understand his response, is one is that23

he’s returned -- whatever monies there were -- are, that he’s24

returned them.  Well, that’s not the issue.25
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The issue is, as I said, follow the money.  He may1

have returned them, that’s fine.  But we don’t know all of the2

other steps or the timing.3

And we have -- and he said the fees were paid to him. 4

But, again, we don’t have the Information, with a capital I,5

and the Documentation, with a capital D.6

Chapter and verse.  One could put together a very7

simple straightforward affidavit following each specific8

request.  That’s how I would have done it if somebody asked me. 9

“To whom were they paid?”  “They were paid to Mr. X.”  “Here’s10

the document support that.”  Et cetera, et cetera, et cetera.11

So the response that we felt that Mr. Robinson12

provided was also deficient, and it didn’t provide that chapter13

and verse that we thought was important.14

Third, of course, we had no response from Critique15

Legal Services.  Now whether Mr. Briggs is an employee, or an16

agent of, I don’t know.  All I know is is that we know that17

he’s been -- that between Briggs and Robinson, we just know all18

of the close relationships there.  We don’t know how they19

operate.  We don’t know the innerworkings of it.  But the20

information that we’ve requested would help us discern what21

that is.22

And then, once we had that information, then we could23

have a hearing next week, and the Court could evaluate, and24

adjudicate, and determine whatever issues it’s looking at in25
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terms of fees.  1

But until we have that information, we don’t have the2

complete picture.  And so we’re just simply -- it’s a fact-3

finding mission.  That’s what a motion to compel is.  And that4

fact-finding, at this point, is only based upon conclusory5

statements, no evidence of sufficient due diligence, no6

evidence that -- no documentation provided.  And so we would7

want an order compelling the parties to provide a statement,8

preferably in an affidavit form, line item-by-line item,9

together with the supporting documentation.  They could do it10

collectively, they could do it individually, but we want that11

information.12

We would prefer not to have to do 2004 exams or bring13

in and subpoena people because we thought that this information14

could be provided in terms of fees that could be provided15

voluntarily.16

So that’s -- that is the nature, I think, of why17

we’re here.  And I tried to crystallize it.  I don’t know if18

any of the trustees disagree with what I’ve said, or want to19

supplement it.  But I’ll give them that opportunity.20

THE COURT:  Anyone have anything further at this21

time?22

(No audible response heard)23

MR. SOSNE:  Oh, oh, yeah, as I -- I mentioned that24

this was a proffer, and so I would ask the Court to take this25
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as a proffer rather than my taking the stand.  And I would like1

the Court to take both judicial notice, as well as put into2

evidence all of the documents that are set forth in that motion3

to compel, all of the pleadings, the -- you have all the4

responses.  Everything I said is within -- is certainly -- that5

I think the Court should take notice of.  The only thing that’s6

outside that record was my statement in terms of the close7

affiliations between Robinson and Briggs with Critique Legal8

Services, but I think that’s a fairly well-known fact to just9

about everybody in this courtroom.10

Thank you.11

THE COURT:  And other proceed -- so anyway -- and,12

Mr. Briggs.13

MR. BRIGGS:  Yes.  Your Honor, as I stated earlier, I14

represent most, but not all, of the debtors in this case.  I15

have filed in the cases in which I’ve entered 2016(b)s and16

other documents.17

I have stated in the individual files -- I’ve stated18

in response to this motion that I’ve not received fees at all19

from any debtor.  I’ve not received any sharing of fees from20

Mr. Robinson.  I’ve received simply no fees at all.21

Mr. Robinson, after he was suspended, brought to my22

attention that there were a number of debtors, his clients,23

that would be unrepresented.  I would ask if I could provide24

pro bono representation.  I have not represented all of Mr.25
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Robinson’s clients, as you can see, I was unable to do that. 1

But I did volunteer to represent a number, some are on this2

docket.3

I was not present when the debtor paid any fees to4

Mr. Robinson.  What I know about the statement of fees is what5

the debtor has shared with the Court and myself in this6

statement of affairs.  That fees were paid on whatever date the7

statement of affairs says.  It was paid to Mr. Robinson.  I was8

not present --9

THE COURT:  Now was that paid to Mr. Robinson10

individually or do you know --11

MR. BRIGGS:  I don’t know.12

THE COURT:  -- the structure?  You don’t know the13

structure.14

MR. BRIGGS:  I don’t know.  All I know is what the15

debtor has stated in the statement of affairs.  I came in after16

the fact providing pro bono representation to allow for the17

conclusion of the case.18

I certainly object to any judicial notice that I’m,19

quote, “in the inner sanctum,” end quote.20

THE COURT:  Well, he said that was speculative, and21

I’m using that as speculating.22

MR. BRIGGS:  It’s not true, and I dispute it.  That23

that -- I’m happy -- I did hear Mr. Sosne say I could, on24

behalf of the debtors, request the information the Court and25
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Mr. Sosne has requested to Mr. Robinson.  I could do that.  I1

will do that.  It may be redundant for me to do it, but I can2

do it, and I will do it.3

But here --4

THE COURT:  And who do you intend to request the5

information from?6

MR. BRIGGS:  I’m happy to accommodate and cooperate7

with Mr. Sosne.  I’m hearing for the first time today that he8

is suggesting I could request this information, I assume, in my9

capacity as debtor’s counsel; happy to do so.10

But here’s what I have --11

THE COURT:  Who do you intend -- okay.  Let’s follow12

the string, Mr. Briggs.13

MR. BRIGGS:  Uh-huh.14

THE COURT:  Who is it that you intend to request the15

information from?  And do you think you can get it by a week16

from tomorrow?17

MR. BRIGGS:  I don’t think I’ll be more successful18

than Your Honor and Mr. Sosne because I’m not in the inner19

sanctum.  I’m pro bono counsel.  I have no leverage.  I have no20

knowledge.  21

THE COURT:  You’re --22

MR. BRIGGS:  I have no documents.23

THE COURT:  You’re saying Critique, right.24

MR. BRIGGS:  Whoever you’ve asked, there’s more than25
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one entity involved.  Whatever the Court has asked, whatever1

Mr. Sosne says I should request, I want to show that I’m2

continuing to cooperate, and happy to do so.  What --3

THE COURT:  Specifically, okay, I’m not --4

MR. BRIGGS:  What do you -- what do you want me to5

request?6

THE COURT:  You’re -- you’re --7

MR. BRIGGS:  I’m happy to accommodate Mr. Sosne’s8

insinuation that I’m supposed to request the information.  I9

will do so.10

THE COURT:  Okay.11

MR. BRIGGS:  Whatever is required in that regard, I’m12

happy to make such a request.13

THE COURT:  I’m sure Mr. --14

MR. BRIGGS:  I’m debtor’s counsel.15

THE COURT:  I’m sure Mr. Sosne, and the other16

trustees, can come up with exactly and specifically what17

information they’re going to request.  And you will request18

that of either Mr. Robinson and/or Critique Legal?19

MR. BRIGGS:  Whatever the Court deems need to be20

requested, I will do so.21

But as far as this motion is concerned, I am not in22

the inner sanctum.  There was a letter that the trustees, Mr.23

Sosne in particular, directed to me as managing agent for24

Critique Legal Services.  I have not, am not, never was a25
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managing agent for Critique Legal Services.  I was never an1

officer for Critique Legal Services.2

THE COURT:  Do you have a person he should direct3

that to since you do employ Critique Legal Services?4

MR. BRIGGS:  I absolutely do not, that’s completely5

wrong, and I dispute that fact.  There are no --6

THE COURT:  You do not employ certain paralegal7

services from Critique Legal Services from time-to-time?8

MR. BRIGGS:  I -- I --9

THE COURT:  Are you saying that for the record?10

MR. BRIGGS:  I have former employees that happen to11

be my employees today.  I do have that. 12

But -- but I -- but I don’t employ any Critique Legal13

Services employee.  For that matter, I reviewed the Missouri14

Secretary of State.  It appears that that corporation was15

dissolved a decade ago.  I didn’t form it, wasn’t a participant16

in its formation.17

The facts here today --18

THE COURT:  The corporation, but was the LLC?19

MR. BRIGGS:  The -- the LLC exists, it does.20

THE COURT:  Is what?21

MR. BRIGGS:  The LLC, I believe, continues to exists.22

THE COURT:  That’s --23

MR. BRIGGS:  The request from Mr. --24

THE COURT:  That’s what we’re actually talking about.25
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MR. BRIGGS:  No.  Mr. Sosne’s letter was directed to1

Critique Legal Services -- Services, that’s what it says.  I2

was responding to what Mr. Sosne asked for.3

It appears to me that corporation dissolved ten years4

ago.  Even when it was in existence, I had no participation.  I5

wasn’t the managing agent.  I was not the officer of Critique6

Legal Services.7

So when he asked for documents I do not have, my8

response is I don’t have what you’re -- you’re requesting.9

As far as these debtors are concerned, they remitted10

fees.  They tell us that in statement of affairs.  I was not11

present.  I have no paperwork.  No documentation.  No ledger. 12

No information.  I wasn’t there.  I’m providing free legal13

services.  I don’t have it.14

I can make a request.  If I’m directed to write a15

letter to Mr. Robinson, similar to what Mr. Sosne has16

requested, I’m happy to make such a request because I heard17

that today for the first time.18

My position is that I’ve been fully responsive19

because the documents and information that Mr. Sosne has asked20

for is information and documents I do not have, and do not21

know.22

I am most concerned that an order will be entered23

that will direct me to provide documents that I don’t have.  It24

would appear to be a lack of cooperation when I repeat myself25
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that I simply don’t have what’s being requested.1

Now if -- if the debtors have more information, I’ll2

certainly make inquiry with them.  They’ve shared with the3

Court and myself what the fees were, when they were paid, to4

whom they were paid in their statement of financial affairs. 5

That’s the -- that’s the scope -- that’s what I know about the6

payment of attorneys’ fees in the cases on today’s matter.7

THE COURT:  Right.  And -- and Mr. Sosne, of course,8

said the Court will take judicial notice of what’s on file. 9

And, of course, that’s what you’re saying also, is that your10

2016s disclose --11

MR. BRIGGS:  They disclose that I --12

THE COURT:  -- your relationship and -- and, in some13

cases, what had prior been paid and/or exemptions that you14

later claimed and filed those amended exemptions sometime in15

December --16

MR. BRIGGS:  I did --17

THE COURT:  -- is that correct?18

MR. BRIGGS:  I did file amended exemptions.  Your19

Honor, this is not precisely responsive to Mr. Sosne, but I20

think the Court -- we’re following the money, are we not?21

THE COURT:  Correct.22

MR. BRIGGS:  Just so I can provide a bit of that23

story.  Mr. Robinson had delivered two money orders that24

haven’t -- that I have here today, just for the record.  He had25
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shared them -- he had delivered them to my office in my1

absence.  I have --2

THE COURT:  Do you know which cases they are?3

MR. BRIGGS:  It is Lawanda Long, I have a money order4

in my file today for $299.  I’ve taken no action because I5

thought perhaps it’d be more prudent just to bring it here6

today.7

I have a money order for Darrell and Jocelyn Moore. 8

Now, again, I don’t represent those clients.  But a money order9

for 349.10

THE COURT:  349.11

MR. BRIGGS:  349.  I brought them to the Court, and I12

want to just bring it to the Court’s attention that here is13

some money.  Whatever direction is appropriate will be what14

will happen with those funds.15

THE COURT:  Okay.  So are the trustees here in those16

cases?  Ms. Conwell?17

MS. CONWELL:  I am the trustee on the Moore case. 18

And actually Mr. Moore contacted my office sometime after, I19

believe it was the response was filed or the order to show20

cause; I apologize, I don’t have my notes here.  But he21

admitted he had not received the funds at that time.22

And I did inquire of the debtor whether or not he had23

heard from his attorney, which he -- well, I guess not his24

attorney Mr. Robinson was suspended.25
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THE COURT:  His former attorney.1

MS. CONWELL:  Yes.  And he had not.  So it does --2

doesn’t appear he really knew what to do.3

And as far as taking the money today, I mean I would4

prefer not to do that today.5

THE COURT:  So you want Mr. Briggs --6

MS. CONWELL:  To hold it.7

THE COURT:  -- to continue to hold --8

MS. CONWELL:  Yes, I would. 9

THE COURT:  -- onto the check.10

MS. CONWELL:  Um-hum.11

THE COURT:  So you don’t have to do the U.S.12

Trustee’s --13

MS. CONWELL:  Right.14

THE COURT:  -- special paperwork --15

MS. CONWELL:  That’s correct.16

THE COURT:  -- whenever you even abandon property.17

MS. CONWELL:  Right.18

THE COURT:  Is that correct?19

MS. CONWELL:  And even taking any funds, I would hate20

for them to be diminished by any bank fees.21

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Okay.  But at least we acknowledge22

that, we know what the trustee’s position is on that particular23

item at this moment.24

MS. CONWELL:  Yes.25
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THE COURT:  And, Mr. Sosne?1

MR. SOSNE:  Judge, I think we’re getting ahead of2

ourselves.  This is not the fact-finding mission here.  In3

other words, this is not the hearing.4

THE COURT:  Oh, no.  And I was going to defer all of5

that until next week.6

MR. SOSNE:  I just think --7

THE COURT:  But I wanted to hear --8

MR. SOSNE:  Okay.9

THE COURT:  -- where in the world are we going.10

MR. SOSNE:  But in terms of what -- what Mr. Briggs11

said, he’s debtor’s counsel.   Over the years, he’s shown up12

for various 341 meetings for Critique Legal Services.  He13

either --14

THE COURT:  Well, he -15

MR. SOSNE:  -- just met the person the first time at16

the 341 meeting, or if he did his job, he would have sat down17

with these people God knows where.18

But whether the inner sanctum -- that’s almost19

irrelevant.  What we want -- and I’ll state it again -- we want20

a statement, preferably in affidavit form, dealing with each of21

the particular items, together with documentation that supports22

each of those items.23

And that is equally the responsibility of Mr. Briggs,24

as it is Mr. Robinson.  And the two of them can work together25
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if they want to provide that information.  And if Mr. Briggs1

says he doesn’t have it and he doesn’t know, that’s not2

responsive.3

He has the means to do it.  Whether as debtor’s4

counsel, or whether as some affiliation because he obviously5

knows these people.  He just didn’t pop up out of nowhere.  And6

so there’s obviously some relationship, whatever that may be.7

And between his role as counsel and that8

relationship, he has the obligation to do a little bit of due9

diligence.  And now that we’re here today, January whatever,10

13th, and we requested this December 3rd, this should have been11

done previously.12

THE COURT:  Well --13

MR. SOSNE:  That’s why we have the motion to compel.14

THE COURT:  Mr. Sosne, are you saying he’s calling a15

ticky-tacky foul on you, to use basketball terms?  Because you16

accidentally used the word somewhere corporation, or Inc., or17

something, instead of LLC --18

MR. SOSNE:  Well, I don’t know --19

THE COURT:  -- on Critique?20

MR. SOSNE:  -- what a ticky-tacky foul is.  21

THE COURT:  And are you asking --22

MR. SOSNE:  But what -- but I don’t know -- I don’t23

know what Critique --24

THE COURT:  And you specifically amending and25
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clarifying all your requests to include any entity of Critique1

Legal Services, including the LLC?2

MR. SOSNE:  Absolutely.  Because, first of all, the3

letter that he said says Critique Legal Services.4

THE COURT:  And are you -- I’m not one to put words5

in your mouth.  But you’re surprised that Mr. Briggs is saying6

that it’s not -- that he wouldn’t know that it was whatever the7

Critique entity calls itself today.8

MR. SOSNE:  Well, it’s a little surprising.  But the9

-- when I said Critique Legal Services, what I meant was in any10

configuration.  Whatever entity is here before us, and that has11

filed numerous cases over the many years, whatever that entity12

is, whatever entity deposits that money, or has the money,13

whatever entity produces the paperwork that’s the schedules,14

and does whatever it does, and when we said “attention15

managing” --16

THE COURT:  And isn’t it infinitely clear that in all17

the Stewart cases, and all the other items that Mr. Robinson18

files d/b/a Critique Legal Services, and that was the entity19

you were referring to?20

MR. SOSNE:  Well, that’s where I start --21

THE COURT:  As it traces through.22

MR. SOSNE:  Well, that’s where I started with was Mr.23

Robinson d/b/a Critique Legal Services.  And -- and every 34124

meeting he has represented himself as on behalf of Critique25
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Legal Services as debtor’s counsel, he’s there.  Critique Legal1

Services’ name is all over there.2

And then Mr. Briggs, he’s appeared at the 3413

meetings for various individuals.  And he has -- over the4

years.  And has entered his appearance, and you know the5

relationship there.6

So exactly what Critique Legal Services, I don’t7

know.  But maybe the affidavit that they give, or the statement8

they give can further define that since he -- if he’s counsel,9

and you have somebody who was -- had been Mr. Robinson d/b/a10

Critique Legal Services, you would think that all he has to do11

is either go on the -- go on the web site of the State or ask12

somebody at Critique Legal Services exactly what happened, and13

put that information together.14

And when I said that -- I never suggested that he was15

the managing agent, by the way.  It said “Critique Legal16

Services.  Attention:  Managing Agent.”  Whoever that is.  I17

don’t know who that person is.  Attention --18

THE COURT:  And you were not intending that to be Mr.19

Briggs --20

MR. SOSNE:  I didn’t say Ross Briggs was that21

managing agent.22

THE COURT:  -- because you didn’t realize he was23

that, yeah.24

MR. SOSNE:  I said “Attention: Ross Briggs.”25
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THE COURT:  Okay.1

MR. SOSNE:  “Attention:  James Robinson.”  Because,2

once again, who is Critique Legal Services?  And as I said, we3

have the empty chair here.4

So what I’m simply asking him, whether it’s in his5

knowledge today, in his limited scope of knowledge, or same is6

true with Mr. Robinson, is that they have both the duty and7

obligation to make reasonable inquiry given their respective8

relationships, whatever they are, and to comply with the motion9

to compel, should put together a statement, again, preferably10

in affidavit form, going through each of the specific items as11

the Court requested.  You almost did it in paragraph form, or -12

- and go through one item, second item.  It’s very simple to13

do.14

And I would ask that each of them do it, or they do15

it collaboratively -- in a collaborative fashion, if they want16

to do it, and identify which -- what they know and what they17

don’t know.18

But after reasonable due diligence.  I don’t expect19

somebody to provide information that is completely outside the20

control.  I cannot provide information of what happens in Mr.21

Blackwell’s office.  I have no -- I have no relationship with22

it.  But I could certainly tell you what happens at Summers23

Compton Wells.  Or if I don’t know about it, I certainly know24

who to talk to, and I can provide that information, whether25
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it’s through my own personal knowledge, or through reasonable1

inquiry.  Lawyers can spin those words fairly clearly.  There’s2

some things you know, and there’s some things you can3

reasonably find out, and there’s some things that you just4

don’t know because you cannot find out.  They’re beyond your5

knowledge.6

So that’s what I’m asking for.  And that’s what I7

think each of the trustees is asking for.8

Not coming here and saying, “Well, I didn’t know that9

Mr. Sosne wanted it.”  For God’s sakes, I think it was clear10

what we wanted.  Information, capital I, D, capital D -- you11

know, Documents with a capital D.  Give us the information and12

provide it in that -- in that -- in the scope that I’ve13

identified.14

I didn’t realize that I had to identify it today, the15

exact way to do it.  But --16

THE COURT:  It doesn’t hurt, when we have discovery17

disputes, to discuss that --18

MR. SOSNE:  Um-hum. So --19

THE COURT:  -- so that there’s a clear understanding. 20

And so --21

MR. SOSNE:  So -- so that’s where -- that’s where we22

are.23

THE COURT:  So, I think -- I think, Mr. Briggs, since24

Mr. Sosne’s right there, do you understand what he’s25
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requesting?1

MR. BRIGGS:  I do.  Just as Mr. Sosne can’t recount2

what happens in Mr. Blackwell’s office, I can’t recount what3

happens in an office that I’m not at and have no control.4

I’m happy to provide Mr. Sosne the affidavit, which5

is exactly like the -- the analogy --6

THE COURT:  Well, who would have had —7

MR. BRIGGS:  -- analogy he said that I can’t tell you8

what’s going on in Blackwell’s office, I will do likewise in an9

affidavit. 10

THE COURT:  Are you saying that about Critique?  So11

who does have the information and access of Critique?12

MR. BRIGGS:  Probably who owns and controls it, not13

me.14

THE COURT:  And who is that, to your knowledge?  On15

the record.16

MR. BRIGGS:  Missouri Secretary of State has --17

THE COURT:  No.18

MR. BRIGGS:  -- has documents --19

THE COURT:  No.20

MR. BRIGGS:  I know what --21

THE COURT:  Who is it?  Who --22

MR. BRIGGS:  Mr. Robinson may well be.  It may -- it23

may be Beverly Diltz.  It may -- but --24

THE COURT:  What do you mean “may be?”25
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MR. BRIGGS:  That’s what the Missouri Secretary --1

THE COURT:  You --2

MR. BRIGGS:  -- of State says.3

THE COURT:  You are using --4

MR. BRIGGS:  I assume it’s correct.5

THE COURT:  -- pleadings of Mr. Robinson, who6

purported to be Critique Legal Services, and you surely, in7

your representation of the debtors from time-to-time, had to8

make inquiry on who got the base information when trustees9

would ask questions, or your particular clients.10

MR. BRIGGS:  Correct.  Mr. Robinson --11

THE COURT:  So where did you go to get that12

information?13

MR. BRIGGS:  Mr. Robinson.  I don’t know what’s going14

on in Blackwell’s office.  And I don’t know what’s going on in15

the offices that I have no connection on.  I certainly disputed16

judicial notice over facts that are not subject to judicial17

notice.18

THE COURT:  Well, I didn’t say you were Critique.19

MR. BRIGGS:  I have no control.20

THE COURT:  Mr. Sosne made that statement.21

MR. BRIGGS:  No involvement.  I do not run it.  It’s22

just like I don’t run Blackwell’s office, and I can’t tell you23

what he’s doing, and I can’t tell you what’s going on in24

another office that’s at a different address that I’m not at25
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and debtors are meeting.  They’re telling the Court and me what1

is true in the statement of financial affairs.2

Mr. Sosne, and even Your Honor has referred to3

Stewart.  You’ve referred to any number of other cases,4

including over and above the cases that are here.5

I think what’s appropriate is for me to be responding6

to what’s on the docket.7

THE COURT:  Well, that’s exactly correct.8

MR. BRIGGS:  No involvement -- I have no control over9

any entities that shared a fee in any other matter before Your10

Honor.  There’s been no evidence to the contrary.  I will be11

happy to provide that in affidavit form.12

THE COURT:  Isn’t that exactly what Mr. Sosne is13

asking?14

MR. SOSNE:  Here -- I think the distinction here is15

what I -- he’s saying that I don’t know what’s going on in16

Blackwell’s office.  But here’s the difference:  I’m not17

Blackwell’s -- I’m not the attorney.  He is the attorney.  He’s18

of record.  He is the attorney for the debtors.  He has a19

responsibility to the debtors and to the Court dealing with20

what fees were paid.  So if the fees were earned, wouldn’t that21

be something that he’d like to know?  22

Plus he’s appeared at 341 meetings and Critique Legal23

Services, I don’t appear for Mr. Blackwell.24

I also have not asked for who is the owner, because25
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that isn’t what is asked for in the show cause order.  I1

haven’t asked for who sits at the Board of Directors or who is2

the managing agent of an LLC, or the manager, or members, et3

cetera.  We haven’t asked that.4

THE COURT:  Principal, yes.5

MR. SOSNE:  We simply asked him for all the issues6

relating to fees which would be reasonably within his control.7

Now if he’s stonewalled by -- if he -- if -- if he’s8

trying to make his due diligence, and he’s stonewalled by9

Critique, and to say that he doesn’t know who owns or runs that10

places, uh -- well, that’s sort of unusual.  The -- but I would11

suggest this, is that if he’s stonewalled, that’s what he tells12

us.13

So he has certain ways --14

THE COURT:  And it --15

MR. SOSNE:  -- and mechanisms to get --16

THE COURT:  And wouldn’t -- wouldn’t it be17

appropriate because of the close connection of Critique to18

these debtors that at least Mr. Briggs -- and this would be19

what I would expect in my due diligence -- to show their20

response to your request for the information --21

MR. SOSNE:  He could ask each -- he could ask each of22

the debtors.  He could ask the debtors.  They could provide23

supplemental affidavits, for all I know.  24

THE COURT:  That --25
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MR. SOSNE:  They -- he could --1

THE COURT:  That would be helpful.2

MR. SOSNE:  He could -- he could ask them, “Who did3

you pay?  Where did you meet?  Where’d you give the money? 4

What happened?”5

THE COURT:  “Who’d you talk to at intake?”  Yeah.6

MR. SOSNE:  What did you know and when did you know7

it?  Who said that?8

But the -- the -- the issue is very -- is very9

simple.  I think we’re over-complicating it.  He can make his10

reasonable due diligence.  He can make his inquiry.  And let11

him provide us with those answers.12

The same is true with Mr. Robinson.  He can -- he can13

-- if he has that information -- he should know that14

information since he was intimately involved.  And he should15

also provide that information since he was intimately involved,16

then he should also provide that information.17

THE COURT:  And he should go get --18

MR. SOSNE:  That’s what we’re requesting.19

THE COURT:  -- it if he doesn’t have it.20

MR. SOSNE:  Excuse me?21

THE COURT:  Is that what you’re saying?  He should go22

get it if he doesn’t have it, is that what you’re saying?23

MR. SOSNE:  Unless, for some reason, somebody24

stonewalls him.25
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THE COURT:  You’ll -- you’ll -- just stay put.1

MR. SOSNE:  Unless for some --2

THE COURT:  We’re going to deal with Mr. Briggs.  Mr.3

Robinson, make your notes.4

MR. SOSNE:  Unless someone -- unless someone5

stonewalls him, or prevents him --6

THE COURT:  Yeah.7

MR. SOSNE:  -- from doing it.  Then we understand8

that.  Then we have a different context.  But we haven’t even9

gotten there yet.10

THE COURT:  No.  And that’s -- that’s for another11

day.12

MR. SOSNE:  So -- so I think what Mr. Briggs has said13

is -- I think you have to listen carefully that it’s a much14

different situation than my getting information from Mr.15

Blackwell.16

THE COURT:  Blackwell, who has a totally standalone17

entity that you do not have cooperative --18

MR. SOSNE:  Other than seeing --19

THE COURT:  -- appearances for.20

MR. SOSNE:  Other than seeing him at various time --21

THE COURT:  Which we all know occurs.22

MR. SOSNE:  -- or being on opposing sides, we have --23

we have no other relationship but -- other than a collegial24

one.25
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But the -- but this is different.  And they have1

access to it, or reasonably should have access to it.  And if2

for some reason somebody’s preventing them, then that’s3

something the Court should know.  Because the Court has control4

over -- or it has supervisory role over -- over fees in any5

case.  It’s bankruptcy 101.6

MR. BRIGGS:  Your Honor, I think we’re home.  Here’s7

what Mr. Sosne has said today:  He wants me to make the same8

request that’s been made already by the Court and Mr. Sosne, I9

will do so.10

He’s asked me to make inquiry with the debtor; happy11

to do so.  Will do so.12

Now, of course, the debtor has provided information13

already, it’s in the statement of financial affairs.  I’ll make14

inquiry with the debtors asking about what they know that’s15

encompassed within the request of the Court and provide it to16

the Court in affidavit form.17

Mr. Sosne has referred to -- we all know, and a bunch18

of cases not before the Court, and I simply will object to19

propositions of fact that have not been proven at all.  I20

dispute that I have any special access, but I am debtor’s21

counsel.  I certainly -- I certainly can supplement the record22

by making the request to Mr. Robinson that’s already been23

requested, and I’m happy to report back to the Court as to what24

response I get.25
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THE COURT:  And Critique Legal Services, if your1

debtors lead you that they dealt with them.2

MR. BRIGGS:  Absolutely.  Whatever -- whatever --3

whatever the debtors say.4

THE COURT:  Okay.  I just wanted to clarify that. 5

Because it seems like you’re consenting to what the trustee --6

MR. SOSNE:  I didn’t hear the second --7

THE COURT:  -- has asked for.8

MR. SOSNE:  I didn’t hear the second part --9

MR. BRIGGS:  I’m -- I’m --10

MR. SOSNE:  -- which was the documents --11

THE COURT:  The --12

MR. SOSNE:  The information and the documents. 13

THE COURT:  Well, including what documents you14

retrieve, right?15

MR. BRIGGS:  I have no documents.  The --16

THE COURT:  No, no, no.  What documents you retrieve17

after your -- 18

MR. BRIGGS:  I will ask for documents --19

THE COURT:  You will ask for them.20

MR. BRIGGS:  I will ask for documents, just as the21

Court has.  If I receive them, I will produce them to the22

trustee.  If I don’t receive them, I will report to the trustee23

and the Court as to what response I have.24

I have -- there’s no showing.  I have no special25
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access to ledgers, client accounts.  I don’t have any access to1

it.  If Critique wants to give it to me, I’m happy to produce2

it to the Court and to the trustee.3

I will make the same request Your Honor has.  I will4

report back as to what the nature of that response is.5

If the debtors have anything over and above what we6

already know, I’m happy to produce that to the trustee, happy7

to provide the affidavit that Mr. Sosne suggested would be8

needed to put in affidavit form, the factual information that9

I’m sharing with Your Honor.10

THE COURT:  Oh, the U.S. Trustee would like --11

MR. RANDOLPH:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Paul Randolph12

for the U.S. Trustee.13

Your Honor, we support the motions to compel here14

today.  We think it actually promotes what the respondent was15

requesting, and that’s an evidentiary hearing that will be16

useful and meaningful before the Court.  So if the trustees17

could have the information prior to that hearing, I think that18

will just make the process go more efficiently.19

And it’s my understanding that Critique, the LLC, may20

be represented by attorney, Laurence Mass.  I may be incorrect21

in that regard, but he might be able to shed some light on some22

of the information.23

THE COURT:  That would be something that we could all24

take notice of, that he has entered his appearance in the25
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Stewart -- LaToya Stewart cases, and filed multiple pleadings1

at the appellate level or District Court level --2

MR. RANDOLPH:  Yes.3

THE COURT:  -- on behalf of Critique Legal Services. 4

So the trustees could also direct certain inquiries to him. 5

And, Mr. Briggs, you might include him in your inquiry as a6

courtesy because he may or may not be representing Critique in7

these particular cases, but wouldn’t it be prudent to go ahead,8

at least give him knowledge of what you’re requesting.9

MR. BRIGGS:  If Your Honor -- if Your Honor wants me10

to assist the Court in trying to find this paperwork, I’m happy11

to do so.12

THE COURT:  That’s all we’re asking for.13

MR. BRIGGS:  I will make the same request that you14

have, Your Honor.15

THE COURT:  All right.16

MR. BRIGGS:  And I’ll share it with Mr. Mass, if you17

think that’s a proper idea.18

THE COURT:  Well, and the request with the way Mr.19

Sosne clarified it today, if there was any problem with20

figuring out what we’re trying to track, which is following the21

money.22

MR. SOSNE:  Like -- for example, let’s start with the23

employment -- the -- let’s -- let’s start with the fee24

agreement.  What does the fee agreement say?  Let’s get a copy25
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of that.1

Then let’s get a copy of the -- I’m going through2

this list here.  Do I have to?  But I will.  To whom3

specifically the fees were paid.  Then we -- we -- who were4

they paid to?5

THE COURT:  Such as a receipt or --6

MR. SOSNE:  A receipt, a check, a ledger, something7

that shows what it is to support it.  Where the fees were held8

following payment.  Were they in a trust account?  Were they9

put into some other account?  Were they put into Mr. Robinson’s10

account?  Were they put into Critique Legal Services’ account? 11

What account were they held?12

Then through the -- through the third order, we want13

to know essentially what’s happened to the fees from then until14

now.  Were they held there?  Were they disbursed to anyone? 15

When were they disbursed?  What are the documentation16

supporting that?  Where are the fees held today?17

Well, we had conflicting pleadings saying that they18

had been returned, and now Mr. Briggs says he’s holding at19

least one or two checks.20

THE COURT:  Holding two checks.21

MR. SOSNE:  He’s holding two checks.22

THE COURT:  Logan and Moore.23

MR. SOSNE:  So that -- that could be part of it.  And24

he could state “I am holding those checks,” and has -- gives25
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copies.1

And then whether any of those fees have been2

disbursed to Mr. Robinson, any attorney affiliated -- any3

affiliated or otherwise associated with, formerly or4

informally, Critique Legal Services, LLC or any permutation of5

the -- that’s the umbrella Critique, or to any other person. 6

That seems to be fairly clear to me.  And then --7

THE COURT:  Does that make sense to you, Mr. Briggs,8

so far?9

MR. BRIGGS:  It does.  I’ll do exactly what Your10

Honor did last month, I’ll duplicate your effort.  I don’t know11

if I’ll be more successful, but I’m happy to give it a try.12

THE COURT:  That’s -- that’s all we’re asking of you.13

MR. SOSNE:  And where the fees were held following14

payment and throughout the six months following Mr. Robinson’s15

suspension, including whether such fees were held in a client16

trust account.  And the fees -- the Court requires an17

accounting of where the fees had been, and why they were not18

returned sooner.  If you -- line item-by-line item.  19

If that cannot be done clearly and cogently with20

documentations and explanations --21

THE COURT:  You know, and that’s the whole point on22

the order to show cause.  We move well beyond our struggle here23

by just simple information that everyone should have, or should24

make themselves knowledgeable of.25
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MR. SOSNE:  So that’s what we’re requesting, Judge.1

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Robinson would like to be2

heard.3

MR. ALBIN:  Your Honor, before --4

THE COURT:  Oh, yeah.  Mr. Albin.  Get the last --5

get a trustee.6

MR. ALBIN:  Seth Albin, trustee in Evette Nicole7

Reed.8

Your Honor, again, I just want to make sure that we9

clarify that we don’t have to come back for Mr. Briggs and his10

clients.  For example, in my case, yesterday the debtor filed11

an amended statement of financial affairs listing -- in12

Question 9, listing payment to James Robinson d/b/a Critique13

Services on Washington Boulevard on February 10th, 2014 for14

299.  And that those funds were returned on 12/6/2014, and a15

copy of a money order was also filed.16

Again, what I’m looking for is, you know, the access17

that he does have for sure as to his own client because he just18

filed this stuff, and she filed amended schedules, is an19

affidavit from that debtor saying how that money was paid --20

all the things that Mr. Sosne -- not just -- it seemed to be21

getting lost in this about Critique.  That he does have access22

to his own clients.  Obviously they’re providing him23

information because they’re filing schedules yesterday --24

THE COURT:  Right.25
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MR. ALBIN:  -- in preparation for this hearing.  So1

what I’m looking for -- and I think we’re all looking for on2

top of everything else -- is an affidavit from each debtor that3

he represents saying all this information, how they paid, their4

fee agreement.  I think he should have access to that5

information.6

THE COURT:  Oh, I think that Mr. Briggs has said that7

you would have that.  And that -- and wouldn’t that tie it up,8

Mr. Briggs, at least from your standpoint?9

MR. BRIGGS:  I’m not sure what we’re trying to tie up10

because we’re alluding to all kinds of other cases.11

THE COURT:  No, we’re -- we’re only talking about12

eight cases here --13

MR. BRIGGS:  As far as these --14

THE COURT:  --  and six that you represent people in.15

MR. BRIGGS:  I’m happy to talk with the debtor, and16

supplement what they have to say.  You said there was an17

amendment yesterday.  There was -- there were some amendments18

in December, so maybe (indiscernible - away from microphone).19

MR. ALBIN:  It was the statement -- Schedule B,20

Schedule C --21

MR. BRIGGS:  Why don’t we talk? 22

MR. ALBIN:  Okay.23

MR. BRIGGS:  So that I know exactly what you’re --24

THE COURT:  Oh, yeah.  And, Mr. Briggs, you might25
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move the microphone over when you’re speaking from there,1

otherwise come to the podium.  Because we want to make sure we2

pick you up.3

MR. ALBIN:  All I was trying to clarify was is that4

the information I’m looking for on top of anything he can5

request from Critique also includes -- he has a duty to go to6

his own client, who obviously has some information because they7

filed something yesterday supplementing what they previously8

filed.9

THE COURT:  Right.10

MR. BRIGGS:  Well --11

THE COURT:  And it’s -- and it’s under your12

representation, so --13

MR. SOSNE:  There’s -- there’s -- there’s one other14

thing I want to bring to the Court’s attention.  In our prayer15

-- in our motion, wherefore the trustees respectfully request16

that this Court enter an order compelling Ross Briggs, James17

Robinson, and Critique Legal Services -- the empty chair -- to18

immediately turn over the Information, capital I, and19

Documents, capital D, specified in the show cause order, and20

additional show cause order, and to turn over the additional21

information and supporting documents responsive to the third22

order to each of the respective trustees.23

So I think the order should also be directed to24

Critique Legal Services.25
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THE COURT:  Well, and by their absence, knowing full1

well that they are a pivot point of information, speaks2

volumes.3

MR. SOSNE:  And they were served.  We sent them --4

they were served, the certificate of service reflects that, so5

I think it should be to all three.  And then we’ll get the6

complete picture.7

THE COURT:  And --8

MR. SOSNE:  If somebody stonewalls us, it’s because9

somebody’s violating a court order.10

THE COURT:  All right.  And the Court’s going to rely11

on Mr. Briggs and yourself, and/or other trustees, to share12

with Mr. Mass whatever we enter today.  Because he’s not13

entered in this case, but as a courtesy.  Because we want14

Critique to know that this due process -- this whole process --15

we want -- they’re apparently a component because the other two16

parties here use him as an opportunity not to produce documents17

and information which Mr. Briggs is trying to overcome today.18

MR. SOSNE:  Right.  I don’t want the shell game.19

THE COURT:  That’s correct.  And we aren’t going to20

have a shell game.  They’re not here, they’re in default.21

Now, Mr. Robinson, we can address some of your22

issues.23

MR. ROBINSON:  Thank you, Your Honor.24

First, Your Honor, I want to apologize for speaking25
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out loud while I was over there, and not at the podium.  I do a1

lot of State Court trials, and I’m used to just objecting,2

especially in criminal proceedings, Your Honor.3

Your Honor, first of all, I have no documentation4

memorializing any retention of any fees, attorney fees paid to5

me.  I don’t have any.6

My fees are reasonable, they’re not unreasonable7

fees, Your Honor.  I stated to the trustees when I responded to8

them -- when I responded to them on December the 8th, and9

addressed to all the trustees here that I received the fees10

that were paid directly to me.  So there’s no -- it’s --11

there’s no issue.12

THE COURT:  That’s okay.  Just leave that off.13

MR. ROBINSON:  It’s no issue as far as who got the14

fees.  They were not shared or held, Your Honor, I stated that. 15

I stated that in my response that was filed on January the 2nd,16

2015.  I stated that to Mr. Sosne and the trustees on December17

the 8th, 2014.  I paid all the clients on the dispute to avoid18

litigation, and I paid them in a timely manner, Your Honor. 19

That was not an admission of any liability.20

THE COURT:  No, no.  I think it’s the Court going to21

determine whether it’s timely or not, and that’s an issue for22

the future.23

MR. ROBINSON:  Now as far as whether or not they were24

shared, I’m going back to that issue, I did not share any25
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attorney fees with anyone, Your Honor.  So I complied in good1

faith, I don’t know why the -- this is -- if -- this whole2

thing to me -- and I apologize to the Court for having to3

characterize this setting -- but it goes back to, for some4

reason, that it’s not about the attorney fees that were5

returned, like you said.  It’s about an attempt to -- maybe to6

disbar Attorney Robinson for some unethical conduct and to drag7

along Mr. Briggs.8

THE COURT:  That’s --9

MR. ROBINSON:  Because I have no idea why the10

trustees are saying that Mr. Robinson has not complied in good11

faith.  I don’t know what they want because I don’t have any12

documentation memorializing any of the fees.13

THE COURT:  Well, then -- then why didn’t you file14

something with this Court --15

MR. ROBINSON:  I told the --16

THE COURT:  -- that showed that you tried to retrieve17

this information from a group that you purported to be a d/b/a18

of called Critique?  That is -- that is the 800 pound gorilla19

of this issue.20

MR. ROBINSON:  I was unaware that that’s what they21

wanted.22

THE COURT:  Well --23

MR. ROBINSON:  It was directed to me.24

THE COURT:  It was directed to them, too, and your25
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d/b/a.1

MR. ROBINSON:  It was directed to me, Your Honor. 2

And I have a d/b/a, Critique Services. 3

THE COURT:  You --4

MR. ROBINSON:  And I answered --5

THE COURT: You have it -- when you say you have it --6

MR. ROBINSON:  What I’m saying, Your Honor --7

THE COURT:  -- we seem to have -- 8

MR. ROBINSON:  I -- when I was working --9

THE COURT:  We seem to be straining on definitions.10

MR. ROBINSON:  When I was working for -- before you11

suspended me --12

THE COURT:  Correct.13

MR. ROBINSON:  -- I operated James Robinson d/b/a14

Critique Services, simple as that.15

THE COURT:  Was -- what kind of entity was Critique16

Services, just for the record?17

MR. ROBINSON:  I -- I can’t -- I -- I can’t answer18

that, Your Honor.  That’s a legal question.  I can’t answer19

that.  I just know I had a d/b/a working as Critique Services. 20

I had a licensing agreement, Your Honor, to use that name.21

THE COURT:  Oh, so you were using the name under a22

licensing agreement.23

MR. ROBINSON:  Right.  Between me --24

THE COURT:  Don’t you think that would be relevant to25
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show us so --1

MR. ROBINSON:  I have a -- I have --2

THE COURT:  -- that we can figure out why you cannot3

get information at this date?4

MR. ROBINSON:  I -- I -- I didn’t --5

THE COURT:  And that would help protect you.6

MR. ROBINSON:  Your Honor, I was unaware of the fact7

that the Court wanted me to do something of that nature, Your8

Honor.  Because the -- the directive was directed to me, Your9

Honor.10

THE COURT:  Are we clear today?11

MR. ROBINSON:  Not really.  Because I’ve answered. 12

I’ve answered everything that the trustees has asked me.  I’ve13

responded to them.14

THE COURT:  Let’s hear from Ms. Case for a second. 15

Let her clarify this.16

MS. CASE:  Your Honor, there is at least one document17

because the debtors -- when you ask them at the meeting of18

creditors these questions, “Do you have a receipt,” they pull19

the receipt out frequently and hand it to you, or they indicate20

that they will get the receipt to you.21

So someone has a receipt book someplace.  Whether it22

is Mr. Robinson doing business as Critique Legal Services, or23

whether it is Critiques Services, LLC, or whether it is24

Critique Services Corporation, there is a receipt book.25
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THE COURT:  And what does it say on that receipt as1

who receives it?2

MS. CASE:  Different things, different times.3

THE COURT:  Different things at different times.4

MS. CASE:  Different things, different times.  But5

the receipt book, someone’s got this receipt book.  I would6

think that is a documentation that would be produced, the7

receipt book.8

THE COURT:  Are --9

MS. CASE:  We can start there.10

THE COURT:  A copy of the receipt.11

MS. CASE:  Or a copy of the receipts that the debtors12

have.13

THE COURT:  That is held --14

MS. CASE:  By the debtor.15

THE COURT:  -- by the party receiving it --16

MS. CASE:  Correct.17

THE COURT:  -- and/or debtor. 18

MS. CASE:  It’s --19

THE COURT:  The debtor -- I think all the debtors --20

they’ve produced --21

MS. CASE:  It looks like --22

THE COURT:  -- those in my court before.23

MS. CASE:  It’s the old fashion kind that looks like24

it’s -- where you just write on it, and you rip it out --25
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THE COURT:  And it self-duplicates.1

MS. CASE:  -- and there’s a carbon behind it --2

THE COURT:  Right.3

MS. CASE:  -- is that it appears to be.  It’s a4

receipt book.  It’s one like the U.S. Trustee’s Office requires5

the trustees to keep in the event someone, heaven forbid,6

should show up at our office and want to pay us cash.  We have7

to have a receipt book.  I think I’ve only had that happen one8

time, but I’ve got a receipt book.9

These people show up with a receipt, that’s what we10

need to see.  One of many things.  It’s very basic, but, yes,11

there is something.  There is a receipt.12

MR. ROBINSON:  Your Honor, I’ll be more than happy to13

give the Court a copy of the licensing agreement that was14

provided to the U.S. Trustee’s Office and the consent order,15

Your Honor, that I operated under.16

THE COURT:  Okay.  And you just heard about the17

receipts.18

MR. ROBINSON:  Your Honor, if I’m able to find the19

receipt, I’ll be more than happy to provide that information,20

Your Honor.21

THE COURT:  You see, that’s all we’re looking for,22

step-by-step, in an affidavit on what happened to the money. 23

Step-by-step.24

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, I don’t know how much more they25
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want to know what happened because I -- I admitted to the Court1

on these eight debtors, I received the money.  I -- I don’t2

know what more they want.3

THE COURT:  Well, they want to know where it went,4

where it was held, where it came from, or what account it came5

from to get the money order.6

MR. ROBINSON:  Well --7

THE COURT:  It’s just simply explaining.8

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, let me say this, Your Honor.9

THE COURT:  It sounds like you want -- you’re trying10

to tell us you’re willing to explain this.11

MR. ROBINSON:  Well --12

THE COURT:  Well, put it in affidavit form, and put13

that documents that support your statement, that’s all they’re14

asking.  That’s what this hearing is primarily about today.15

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, Your Honor, when I think about16

that, I have to be careful.  There is a due diligence I have to17

do in order to not be sanctioned by the Court for not, in good18

faith, complying.19

But under -- under Supreme Court Rule 4-1.6, you ask20

-- you may be asking me to violate a confidential communication21

between me and my client, Your Honor.  That information -- no22

client -- that eight debtors that are not here, they’re not23

expect to have their documentation brought into this Court,24

Your Honor.  I don’t have consent for that.25
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THE COURT:  Well, then why didn’t you file a1

protective order back at the very first of December when you2

started filing things?3

MR. ROBINSON:  Because, Your Honor, the --4

THE COURT:  That would be the proper procedure.5

MR. ROBINSON:  Because the scope -- the scope of this6

hearing has expanded so, Your Honor, that now it deems to be7

possibly necessary.8

THE COURT:  No, it hasn’t.  Never has.9

MR. SOSNE:  For example, there’s -- there’s no10

privileged information that we’re requesting.  Because all11

we’re ask -- we’re not asking for what -- what --12

THE COURT:  Was said or --13

MR. SOSNE:  -- legal -- legal advice was given.14

THE COURT:  Yeah.15

MR. SOSNE:  We’re asking for the source of the funds,16

where the funds were paid, that’s fair game.17

Secondly, I’ll mention this:  If Mr. Robinson said he18

got paid the money, who typed up the schedules?  Who prepared19

the schedules?  Who met -- who were the people who met with the20

debtors?  Was it Mr. Robinson who did it all himself, and he21

kept the money?  Or were there people there typing at Critique22

Legal Services, LLC, Corporation, Proprietorship, Partnership,23

who’s doing what?  So when we want to know the disbursement of24

funds, that’s -- it’s -- it’s -- those are -- those are the25



67

TRANSCRIPTS PLUS, INC.
PHONE 215-862-1115 ! FAX 215-862-6639 ! E-MAIL CourtTranscripts@aol.com

types of things that are -- that are -- that are -- that are --1

that we would like to know.  When I take in funds and do a2

debtor case myself on a -- from time-to-time, we have staff who3

actually do certain things, and certain designated duties.  I4

don’t know if Mr. Robinson does all these things himself, I5

doubt it.  Because I’ve been at 341 meetings where we’ve had6

situations that were -- the debtors didn’t even know who Mr.7

Robinson was.8

So we have -- obviously somebody’s doing something. 9

Who is it?  Are they Mr. Robinson’s employees under some sort10

of fictitious name?  Are they employees of the corp or the LLC? 11

Who’s doing them?  So they’re obviously getting paid.12

So are the funds then held in Mr. Robinson’s trust13

account?  Are they held in a -- I mean those are the types of14

things that -- chapter and verse that are important.  Which15

account are they held, and how are they disbursed?16

THE COURT:  Mr. Robinson, does that make sense?17

MR. ROBINSON:  Your Honor, no, it doesn’t.  Because18

the scope of funds is -- Your Honor, is privileged19

communication between attorney and the client.20

THE COURT:  What?21

MR. ROBINSON:  Yes, it is, Your Honor.22

THE COURT:  Well, you’d better get a protective23

order, and we’d better be having a hearing on that because I’ve24

never heard that in my lifetime.25
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MR. ROBINSON:  Well --1

THE COURT:  Because --2

MR. ROBINSON:  -- it’s under Supreme Court rules,3

Your Honor.4

THE COURT:  The Supreme Court rule says -- read it to5

me.  Read that Supreme Court Rule.6

MR. ROBINSON:  I don’t have it in front of me.  7

THE COURT:  Well, let’s see --8

MR. ROBINSON:  But I know the source of funds9

THE COURT:  -- if we can’t just pull on some10

information here.  Because, Mr. Robinson, you’ve got to educate11

me.12

MR. ROBINSON:  And also, Your Honor, the scope --13

THE COURT:  I want to be -- I want to be educated by14

you on exactly how fees are privileged information under the --15

MR. ROBINSON:  The source of funds, Your Honor.16

THE COURT:  Well, we didn’t --17

MR. ROBINSON:  He asked for the source.18

THE COURT:  Like in the debtor --19

MR. ROBINSON  Out of his mouth -- out -- his mouth --20

THE COURT:  Yeah, believe it or not --21

MR. ROBINSON:  Mr. Sosne said the source --22

THE COURT:  -- those aren’t confidential --23

MR. ROBINSON:  -- of funds.24

THE COURT:  -- and never have been.25
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MR. SOSNE:  You have -- it’s on the -- it’s on the1

bankruptcy schedules, the statement --2

THE COURT:  It’s on the bankruptcy schedules.3

MR. SOSNE:  -- of financial affairs, and other4

disclosures of who -- what’s the source of the funds.  It could5

be the debtor, it could be the debtor’s mom, debtor’s dad,6

both.7

THE COURT:  It’s --8

MR. SOSNE:  Source of funds --9

THE COURT:  It’s right there, Mr. Robinson.10

MR. ROBINSON:  Your Honor --11

THE COURT:  You sign an affidavit that says it’s12

true.13

MR. ROBINSON:  -- but when you -- when you call --14

but when you call it --15

THE COURT:  You sign an affidavit --16

MR. ROBINSON:  Your Honor --17

THE COURT:  -- under risk of your license.18

MR. ROBINSON:  But when you call -- when you call19

that information up in this courtroom, Your Honor, without the20

debtor being here authorizing me to discuss that, then I may be21

subject to violating that client’s privilege communication. 22

That’s what I’m saying, Your Honor.23

THE COURT:  No, you aren’t.24

MR. ROBINSON:  And also, Your Honor, what Mr. Sosne25
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is asking for as far as who typed what, things of that nature,1

that’s beyond the scope of this hearing, Your Honor.2

THE COURT:  No, it isn’t.3

MR. ROBINSON:  That’s my objection.  We may disagree,4

Your Honor, respectfully.5

THE COURT:  Well, it’s overruled.  Your objection is6

without merit.  It’s so without merit that I’m asking you to7

read the actual rule about confidential communication into the8

record that you’re saying you’re violating.  Do you want to do9

that?10

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, I know -- well, I know for a11

fact, Your Honor, I have to -- and I don’t know the -- and I12

think it’s still under 4.1-6, that I have a duty to object to13

any invalid order.  And I’m saying all three show cause order14

are invalid.  And under Missouri Supreme Court rules, I have to15

object to protect my clients, Your Honor, and myself as far as16

attorney/client privileges and communication.17

THE COURT:  It’s only under specific exceptions that18

you can invoke this rule.19

You have previously filed a disclosure in the20

bankruptcy schedules, including Form 2016.21

MR. ROBINSON:  Your Honor, I said --22

THE COURT:  And --23

MR. ROBINSON:  -- under certain circumstance, when24

it’s called into play, I may be violating that rule.  That’s25
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specifically what I said, Your Honor.1

THE COURT:  So you aren’t going to supply that. 2

You’re going to rely on Mr. Briggs to get that from the3

debtors.4

MR. ROBINSON:  Your Honor, I’m going to comply in5

good faith, as I’ve always done.  And it’s up to the trustees6

as movants to show that I have not complied in good faith if7

they’re going to ask this Court for any kind of sanctions.8

May I be excused from the podium?9

THE COURT:  Sure.  10

MR. ALBIN:  Your Honor, again, Seth Albin, Chapter 711

trustee for Evette Nicole Reed.12

Again, at the minimum, I’ve heard a lot about what13

Mr. Robinson can’t do, or won’t do, or is unable to do for a14

variety of reasons.  I think what we’re all looking for here15

today is what information he can provide.16

For example, in the statement of financial affairs,17

again, Question 9 that was filed yesterday, the debtor says18

they received -- they paid James Robinson d/b/a Critique19

Services on February 10th, 2014 $299.20

I think the bare minimum that Mr. Robinson should be21

able to provide an affidavit of whether or not he actually got22

that money.  What happened to that money?  Did it get deposited23

in an operating account?  Was it paid in cash, by check?  Was24

it put into an attorney trust account?  When was that money25
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disbursed to himself or any other entity that he has ownership1

interest.  I mean those are all factual issues that I think2

that’s part of what we’re looking for.3

THE COURT:  And that’s purely within the knowledge4

and purview of Mr. Robinson.5

MR. ALBIN:  Correct.  So --6

THE COURT:  And that is not a confidential7

communication because you handled the money, Mr. Robinson.8

MR. ALBIN:  So I think what we’re looking for is --9

when we come out of here today is an order that says -- instead10

of saying he’ll comply, and then he does a statement, and then11

we come back here a week from now saying we still don’t have12

the information, can we get something a little bit more13

specific exactly what he -- what he can do right now, and then14

we can take the other stuff up at another time if he wants to15

file some case law, or whatever, a brief, I don’t care.16

But there is -- got to be some information he can17

provide us, you know, to help us prepare for next week.18

THE COURT:  And the -- and the motion to compel will19

be specific.20

MR. ROBINSON:  Excuse me, Mr. Albin.  What is the21

reason why you just stated you wanted that information?  Why? 22

Why do you want the information that you just asked for?23

MR. ALBIN:  So I can comply with the court order.24

MR. ROBINSON:  What court order?25



73

TRANSCRIPTS PLUS, INC.
PHONE 215-862-1115 ! FAX 215-862-6639 ! E-MAIL CourtTranscripts@aol.com

MR. ALBIN:  I’m not -- Mr. Robinson, I’m not here to1

get cross-examined by you.2

MR. ROBINSON:  No, I want to -- you’re asking me to3

provide information.  So I’m asking you why do you want me to4

provide that information to you?5

THE COURT:  It’s part of his due diligence, Mr.6

Robinson.  And it should be apparent to you --7

MR. ROBINSON:  Due --8

THE COURT:  -- if you were a true officer of this9

Court --10

MR. ROBINSON:  I am, Your Honor.11

THE COURT:  -- that you would account --12

MR. ROBINSON:  That’s why I’m asking --13

THE COURT:  -- for these items, and you would have14

given an affidavit already instead of stonewalling --15

MR. ROBINSON:  If --16

THE COURT:  -- this entire proceeding --17

MR. ROBINSON:  I’m not stonewalling, Your Honor.18

THE COURT:  -- which is why there is a motion to19

compel.20

MR. ROBINSON:  If he -- I need --21

THE COURT:  You could have gotten rid of 90 percent22

of this --23

MR. ROBINSON:  I need him to say --24

THE COURT:  -- by what you’re trying to say today.25
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MR. ROBINSON:  If he’s trying to say that that1

information is needed to show that the fees were unearned --2

THE COURT:  No.  I need it.  Period.3

MR. ROBINSON:  I want to know why --4

THE COURT:  That’s why you are compelled to furnish5

it.6

MR. ROBINSON:  I want to know if the trustee is --7

are you asking that information so -- in the three -- in the8

hearing next week to show that the fees were unearned, do you9

need that information?  Is that why you asking for that10

information?11

MR. ALBIN:  I’m not going to be cross-examined by12

you.13

THE COURT:  No, and --14

MR. ROBINSON:  It’s not a cross-examination.15

THE COURT:  No, well --16

MR. ROBINSON:  He needs to say --17

THE COURT:  You can swear him next week.  I’m telling18

you to get it.  Are you -- 19

MR. ROBINSON:  But what’s the reason?20

THE COURT:  Do you want any more clarification?21

MR. ROBINSON:  Is it for -- to show for --22

THE COURT:  The Court orders you, not Mr. Albin.23

MR. ROBINSON:  But -- but is it --24

THE COURT:  I order you.25
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MR. ROBINSON:  Is it to show for unearned fees, Your1

Honor.  Or is -- is the information going to be used to show --2

THE COURT:  We don’t know, Mr. Robinson.3

MR. ROBINSON:  Then it’s a fishing expedition.4

THE COURT:  We need this -- there’s no fishing --5

MR. ROBINSON:  You just stated --6

THE COURT:  This is --7

MR. ROBINSON:  -- you don’t know.8

THE COURT:  Oh, is it fishing when you take money of9

other people and cannot account to this Court on why you held10

it from June 10th to December 6th?  Are you kidding me?11

MR. ROBINSON:  I respectfully --12

THE COURT:  This is a disgrace.13

MR. ROBINSON:  I respectfully disagree, Your Honor.14

THE COURT:  You are disgraceful.15

MR. ROBINSON:  I respectfully disagree with what you16

saying, Your Honor.17

THE COURT:  You -- there’s nothing fishing about it. 18

You must track this.  You have filed sworn pleadings before19

this Court that said you received this money.  Therefore,20

there’s nothing fishing about each of the specific cases. 21

Period.22

MR. ROBINSON:  I’ve made my statement, Your Honor. 23

Thank you.24

THE COURT:  Are you withdrawing that now?25
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MR. ROBINSON:  No, I’m not.1

THE COURT:  There’s nothing fishing about this.2

MR. ROBINSON:  Withdrawing what?3

THE COURT:  The fishing comment.4

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, Your Honor, if he is not able to5

tell me why he wants it --6

THE COURT:  Because --7

MR. ROBINSON:  -- then it’s fishing.8

THE COURT:  I -- I ordered it.  It’s already ordered.9

MR. ROBINSON:  You ordered it because you wanted to10

show unearned fees.11

THE COURT:  No --12

MR. ROBINSON:  I’m asking why does he want it.13

THE COURT:  -- I don’t know if there are unearned14

fees.15

MR. ROBINSON:  You already stated --16

THE COURT:  Why are we having a hearing but to17

determine --18

MR. ROBINSON:  You stated that’s why we’re here. 19

Your show cause order stated that, Your Honor.  You can’t --20

THE COURT:  My show cause --21

MR. ROBINSON:  You can’t separate --22

THE COURT:  We’re here on discovery issues, Mr.23

Robinson.24

MR. ROBINSON:  Based on your show cause order.25
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THE COURT:  You are going on into the future.  In1

order to show that you earned those fees, you first need to2

comply with discovery.  I believe --3

MR. ROBINSON:  No.4

THE COURT:  -- that’s basic first year law school.5

MR. ROBINSON:  Well, I already made my --6

THE COURT:  We want to know discovery.  You have not7

complied with discovery.  You have not given this information. 8

There is nothing fishing about it.9

MR. ROBINSON:  I already --10

THE COURT:   You are caught in a trap, Mr. Robinson. 11

You’d better figure out --12

MR. ROBINSON:  I respectfully disagree, Your Honor,13

because I practice lawfully, and I respect this Court, Your14

Honor.  And I --15

THE COURT:  Well, you have signed affidavits that say16

you got the money.  Therefore, you need to sign an affidavit --17

MR. ROBINSON:  I admitted I got the money, Your18

Honor.19

THE COURT:  -- that --20

MR. ROBINSON:  There’s no question about that.21

THE COURT:  -- that complies with this discovery.22

MR. ROBINSON:  I will do the best I can to in good23

faith to comply with that, Your Honor.  But I’m doing it under24

objection, Your Honor, that it’s unlawful, void, show cause25
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order, and this is a contempt hearing really, Your Honor.1

THE COURT:  Well, it doesn’t get into contempt if you2

-- only if you fail to comply.3

THE COURT:  Those are the consequences.  Is there4

anything else that the trustees would like to say?5

(No audible response heard)6

THE COURT:  Mr. Briggs, did you want to say7

something?8

MR. BRIGGS:  Just some information I want to share9

with the Court.10

THE COURT:  Please.  We don’t pick you up because you11

don’t have the microphone in front of you.12

MR. BRIGGS:  I hear you.  I apologize, Your Honor.13

As I shared with the Court earlier, I have two money14

orders in my file.  I gather that maybe I should retain those15

money orders unless a specific trustee or Your Honor would16

dictate that they are delivered to some --17

THE COURT:  Well, we’re only trying to do discovery18

at this point.19

MR. BRIGGS:  And I know this is not exactly within20

the scope of the motion.  But I want the Court to know I’m21

going to be communicating with debtors.  Some of these debtors,22

pursuant to the amended schedules that I’m sure Your Honor read23

in December, there were some refunds actually made.24

Within one or two days after that, I, by written25
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correspondence, asked the individual trustees whether they1

wished those funds to be turned over to their office.2

Trustee Blackwell responded saying that the funds3

that identified need not be returned.4

I have not heard from the other trustees.5

If they -- if they need those funds turned over, I’m6

most interested in hearing that today, or on another day.7

THE COURT:  Well, I think that’s for next week.8

MR. BRIGGS:  Okay.9

THE COURT:  It’s just like -- we’re not -- we’re10

trying to deal with discovery today.11

MR. BRIGGS:  Okay.  So I will await further12

direction, either from the trustees, or Your Honor, or all as13

to whether the funds -- the debtors have possession of these14

funds.  If they need to be turned over, any time the Court or15

the trustees dictate that that should occur, I need to be16

acting on that promptly.  If that should be taken up at a later17

date, I will await further guidance.18

THE COURT:  Thank you.19

MR. ROBINSON:  Your Honor, respectfully, this is not20

to say that I’m attempting to prolong whatever you -- they’re21

unlawfully asking for.  The hearing is on the 21st, I believe. 22

I don’t know, Your Honor -- because I’m going to ask23

respectfully that I wait to get this -- what they’re asking for24

distinctly put in the order so I can reply line-by-line.  And I25
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don’t know if I can do that by the 21st, Your Honor.1

THE COURT:  You’d just better do your best because2

you’ve had since November to get this done.3

MR. ROBINSON:  Can -- can I expect the Court to issue4

the order line so I can go by line-by-line?5

THE COURT:  You’ll have the order in two days.6

MR. ROBINSON:  Thank you, Your Honor.7

THE COURT:  Now is there something else on this?  I8

have a matter that --9

MR. SOSNE:  Your Honor, I don’t think the trustees10

have anything.  We just want then to know that we’ll get the11

order, and then the date by which they have to produce the12

information, and then we have the hearing, I believe, the show13

cause hearing, 10 o’clock, I have it, on the 21st.14

So I don’t know if the document and the affidavit15

production would be ordered by the 20th, or some other time.  I16

-- or -- or the 19th.  I don’t know how much time you’re going17

to give them.  They could start -- certainly start working on18

it right now.  They --19

THE COURT:  They -- they know exactly --20

MR. SOSNE:  They’ve heard enough.21

THE COURT:  They know exactly what you want.22

MR. SOSNE:  Engagement letter, if any.  All the --23

all the things we --24

THE COURT:  It sounds like Mr. Briggs isn’t going to25
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have any trouble getting it done by then, and --1

MR. SOSNE:  So they could certainly start working on2

it now.  It’s just a question of what date.3

THE COURT:  The question is whether Mr. Robinson, had4

he worked on it before, would have probably been done by now.5

MR. SOSNE:  That’s -- that’s true.  Anyway, so that’s6

-- that -- there’s really nothing else.  I think the trustee7

have made their -- have tried to comply with the orders, and8

have made their positions known.9

Thank you.10

THE COURT:  All right.  And, Mr. Robinson?11

MR. ROBINSON:  Yes, sir?12

THE COURT:  Which -- or maybe I should ask Mr. Briggs13

first.  What date do you believe you could get it done by,14

Tuesday morning before the Wednesday hearing?15

MR. BRIGGS:  I’m going to let the -- the Court tell16

me when I need to get it done.  Now I will say for the record,17

of course, some of the information is going to be generated18

through the debtor.  So I don’t know their schedule.  I would19

just suggest the Court pick a deadline.  If I’m having20

difficulty, I will promptly bring it to the Court’s attention.21

But what I will try to do is not -- not ask for more22

time.  I have to go to the debtors.  If they’re on vacation,23

that might make a difference.  I would simply ask for more24

time.25
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THE COURT:  And we could always supplement later on.1

But I’m inclined to say noon on Tuesday.  Because it2

should -- this should be fairly --3

MR. BRIGGS:  I will do my best to make it happen noon4

on Tuesday.5

THE COURT:  -- fairly direct based on your limit --6

on your previously stated limitations as far as you’re7

concerned.8

Mr. Robinson, will be directed at the same time, but9

to fill in the affidavit.  Because we’re really at information10

that should be in your knowledge that go back to, like you say,11

in the one case, February was when you were paid, of 2014.  And12

you started work on their case, and you weren’t suspended until13

June 10th, and you clearly have information on that.14

And then you’d have information thereafter on how you15

refunded the fees.16

MR. ROBINSON:  I’m -- I’m not -- when I say --17

THE COURT:  Then those would be the things that we,18

at a minimum, expect from you.19

MR. ROBINSON:  When I say I understand what you20

saying, that doesn’t mean I’m acquiescing, Your Honor.  I’m21

just going to attempt to comply.22

THE COURT:  No, no, I just want to know --23

MR. ROBINSON:  Yeah.24

THE COURT:  -- if you do understand.25
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MR. ROBINSON:  Yeah, I’m going to attempt to comply1

in good faith, Your Honor, as speedily as possible.2

THE COURT:  Okay.  3

(Pause)4

THE COURT:  Based on the information, are we5

interested in possibly pushing this to Wednesday, the 28th? 6

Trustees, please check.  Mr. Briggs, you available?  This might7

give you additional time --8

MR. BRIGGS:  Your Honor, I’ll just make myself9

available.10

THE COURT:  Mr. Robinson, I take it you’re available?11

MR. ROBINSON:  I’ll make myself available, Your12

Honor.13

THE COURT:  That will give you more time to comply.14

MR. ROBINSON:  Thank you.15

MS. CASE:  What time on the 28th, Your Honor?  What16

time on the 28th?17

THE COURT:  We were thinking 10.18

MR. ALBIN:  Your Honor, there’s someplace I have to19

be at noon.  Would it be possible that we could start at 9:30? 20

I don’t --21

THE COURT:  Let’s just say 9.22

MR. SOSNE:  So the show cause hearing will be at 9 on23

-- on the 28th?24

THE COURT:  9 on the 28th.  So we push the -- the25
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21st hearing, no one has to be here.1

(Pause)2

THE COURT:  Anything else to come before the Court?3

(No audible response heard)4

THE COURT:  Court will be in recess.5

6

(Whereupon, at 11:42 A.M., the hearing was adjourned.)7

8
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Order Compelling Turnover 



IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

 
In re:      §  
      § 

Evette Nicole Reed,   §  Case No. 14-44818-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §     
In re:      § 
      § 

Pauline A. Brady,   § Case No. 14-44909-705 
     §  

    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §  
In re:      § 
      § 
 Lawanda Lanae Long,   § Case No. 14-45773-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
      § 
In re:      § 
      § 

Marshall Beard,   § Case No. 14-43751-705 
     § 
   Debtor.  § 

______________________________________ § 
In re:      §  
      § 
 Darrell Moore,     § Case No. 14-44434-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §  
In re:      § 
      § 
 Nina Lynne Logan,   § Case No. 14-44329-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
In re:      § 
      § 

Jovon Neosha Stewart,  § Case No. 14-43912-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
In re:      § 
      § 
 Angelique Renee Shields,  § Case No. 14-43914-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
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ORDER GRANTING THE MOTION TO COMPEL TURNOVER 
Between November 26, 2014 and December 10, 2014, the Court entered 

three show cause orders (as described herein; collectively, the “Show Cause 

Orders”) in the above-referenced cases (each, a “Case”; collectively, the 

“Cases”).  In the Show Cause Orders, the Court directed James Robinson—an 

attorney affiliated with the “firm” of Critique Services L.L.C. but who currently is 

suspended from the privilege of practicing before this Court—to show cause why 

he should not be sanctioned and required to disgorge certain attorney’s fees that 

he accepted from the above-referenced debtors (each, a “Debtor”; collectively, 

the “Debtors”) prior to being suspended. In addition, in the Show Cause Orders 

the Court directed the chapter 7 trustees (each, a “Trustee”; collectively, the 

“Trustees”) to account to the Court for the whereabouts and status of those fees 

over the past six months.  On December 12, 2014, the Trustees filed in each 

Case a Motion to Compel Turnover, seeking a court order compelling the 

following persons to turn over certain documents and information that the 

Trustees require to comply with the Court’s directive: 

(i) Robinson; 

(ii) Ross Briggs, an attorney with a long-time relationship (formal and 

informal) with Critique Services L.L.C. and Critique Legal Services 

L.L.C., 1 who took over the representation of most of the Debtors2 after 

Robinson’s suspension; and  

(iii) Critique Legal Services.  

On January 13, 2015, the Motion to Compel Turnover came for hearing. The 

Court now grants the Motion to Compel Turnover, on the terms herein. 

1 “Critique Legal Services L.L.C.” is a dissolved company that was organized by 
non-attorney Beverly Diltz (née Holmes). Diltz is also the owner and organizer of 
the similarly named (but not dissolved) Critique Services L.L.C., the “firm” with 
which Robinson is affiliated. 
 
2 Briggs is the Debtors’ counsel in all the Cases but In re Moore and In re Logan. 
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I.  FACTS RELATED TO THE MOTION TO COMPEL TURNOVER 

A.  Pre-Hearing Events 
1. The June 10, 2014 Suspension of Robinson 

On June 10, 2014, in the matter of In re Latoya Steward (Case No. 11-

46399), Robinson was suspended from the privilege of practicing before this 

Court for, among other things, contempt and the willful, unexcused refusal to 

make discovery. 3   He currently remains suspended. During his suspension, 

Robinson may not practice before this Court in any capacity, in any case, on 

behalf of any person, other than in representation of himself. He may not serve 

as co-counsel. The Court records indicate that, prior to being suspended, 

Robinson collected fees from the Debtors. The records also appear to indicate 

that, due to his suspension, Robinson could not have rendered some or all the 

services for which he collected his fees. However, as of November 26, 2014—the 

date when the Show Cause Orders began issuing—there had been no 

representation that Robinson had returned any of the fees. 

2. The November 26, 2014 First Show Cause Order 
On November 26, 2014, in the first-listed six of the eight Cases (the “First 

Six Cases”), the Court entered an Order Directing (I) James Robinson to Show 

Cause as to Why His Fees Should Not Be Disgorged Under § 329(b), and (II) the 

Trustee to Provide Information Related to Fees (the “First Show Cause Order”). 

In each of the First Six Cases, the records appear to show that Robinson 

collected fees prior to his suspension, but that the cases were filed only after his 

suspension. Briggs filed the cases and represented the Debtors, instead of 

Robinson. However, Briggs could not “earn” Robinson’s collected fees for him, 

3 In In re Steward, the debtor—a former client of Robinson and Critique Services 
L.L.C.—filed a motion to disgorge attorney’s fees.  Robinson and Critique 
Services L.L.C., along with their untoward attorney, Elbert Walton, responded the 
discovery requests in that contested matter by launching a campaign of 
contempt, false statements, vexatious litigation, and abuse of process, to avoid 
making discovery.  As a result of months of refusal to comply with the discovery 
process, Mr. Robinson and Mr. Walton ultimately were suspended, and Mr. 
Robinson, Mr. Walton and Critique Services L.L.C., were monetarily sanctioned. 
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regardless of Robinson’s contention that, despite his suspension, the “clients 

were serviced[4] in a competent manner.”  Attorneys are not fungible, and a non-

suspended attorney cannot earn a suspended attorney’s fees for him. In addition, 

Robinson’s recently made assertion that his fees were only for “preparation 

services” is dubious. Robinson is not a non-lawyer bankruptcy petition preparer; 

until his suspension, he was a lawyer who was retained to represent clients in 

bankruptcy cases. 

Accordingly, in the First Show Cause Order, the Court ordered Robinson 

to show cause why any unearned fees he held should not be ordered disgorged 

pursuant to § 329(b) of title 11 of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy 

Code”5), the statute that permits disgorgement of a debtor’s attorney’s fees that 

are excessive. It also ordered the Trustees to address certain issues related to 

the fees, including: to whom, specifically, the fees were paid; where the fees 

were held following payment; where the fees are held today; and whether any of 

those fees have been disbursed to Robinson, to any attorney affiliated or 

otherwise associated with (formally or informally) Critique Services L.L.C. or any 

permutation of Critique Services L.L.C., to any employee, officer, or owner of 

Critique Services L.L.C., or to any other person. The Court also advised that, 

while it would welcome Robinson voluntarily providing to the Trustees any portion 

of any fees in any Case that were paid to him but which he did not earn, 

Robinson returning the fees at this point would not make the show cause inquiry 

moot. Returning the fees now would not resolve whether there was impropriety in 

failing to timely return the fees.   

3. The December 2, 2014 Second Show Cause Order  
On December 2, 2014, the Court entered an Additional Order (the 

“Second Show Cause Order”), adding two more cases (the “Additional Two 

Cases”) to the show cause inquiry. In the Second Show Cause Order, Robinson 

4 Presumably, Robinson meant “served,” not “serviced.” 
 
5 Hereinafter, any reference to “section[s]” or “§[§]” refers to the indicated 
section(s) of the Bankruptcy Code, unless otherwise indicated. 
 

 4 

                                            



again was directed to show cause as to why the fees that he collected prior to his 

suspension should not be ordered disgorged. In the Additional Two Cases—

unlike in the First Six Cases—Robinson had filed the cases before his 

suspension. However, the records appear to indicate that Robinson failed to 

render all legal services required in those cases prior to his suspension. For 

example, the dockets show that the § 341 meetings of creditors were conducted 

on June 17, 2014—after Robinson’s suspension. Robinson could not have 

(lawfully) represented his clients at those statutorily required meetings. 6  The 

Second Show Cause Order directives were similar to the directives in the First 

Show Cause Order. 

4. The December 3, 2014 Letter of the Trustees Requesting Documents 
and Information 

 
On December 3, 2014, the Trustees sent a letter (the “December 3 

Letter”) addressed to: (i) Briggs at his post office address; (ii) Critique Legal 

Services at its Washington Avenue address; (iii) the attention of Briggs at the 

Washington Avenue address of Critique Legal Services; (iv) the attention of the 

unnamed managing agent of Critique Legal Services at the Washington Avenue 

address of Critique Legal Services; and (v) the attention of Robinson at the 

Washington Avenue address of Critique Legal Services. In the December 3 

Letter, the Trustees asked that the recipients “provide all of the information 

together with all supporting and verifying documentation responsive to each of 

the questions addressed” in the First Show Cause Order.   

5. The December 6, 2014 Return of Robinson’s Fees  

Shortly after the issuance of the first two Show Cause Orders, Briggs filed 

amended schedules in certain of the Cases, representing that, on December 6, 

2014, Robinson returned the fees to the Debtors. He also filed amended 

schedules for those Debtors, claiming an exemption in the fees. That is, right 

6 The Court also notes that, according to its records, the Debtors in the Additional 
Two Cases had no (non-suspended) counsel on the date of their § 341 meetings.   
Briggs did not first appear for those debtors until more than a month later. 
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after the First and Second Show Cause Orders were entered, Robinson suddenly 

retuned all the fees he had collected and been holding for months. 

It is unexplained why Briggs made no attempt over the six months 

following his retention by the Debtors to advocate before this Court for his clients’ 

interests in the fees.  It is also unexplained on what authority the fees were 

returned to the Debtors. Robinson had no authority to transfer those fees in 

“settlement and compromise” of any claims, as Robinson now asserts was the 

purpose of the December 6, 2014 transfers of the fees.  Unearned fees are 

property of the estate, and property of the estate cannot be transferred without 

Court authority. 

6. The December 8, 2014 Responses of Briggs and Robinson to the 
December 3 Letter 

 
On December 8, 2014, Briggs sent the Trustees a letter advising that he 

had no requested documents or information. He offered no explanation as to 

why, as the Debtors’ counsel, he could not have accessed documents and 

information about fees that his own clients paid in connection with the Cases in 

which he represents them. He made no suggestion that he would attempt to 

obtain the documents and information about his own clients and their interests.   

Similarly, Robinson responded with a letter (together with Briggs’s letter, 

the “December 8 Letters”) that was essentially non-responsive. He stated that he 

had recently returned the fees to the Debtors—a fact, which if true, had nothing 

to do with the vast majority of the requested documents and information. It did 

not address how Robinson came into possession of the fees, to what degree the 

fees might have been earned prior to his suspension, where the fees had been 

held for the past six months, and why the fees had not been timely returned to 

the degree they were not earned.  

Critique Legal Services did not respond to the December 3 Letter. 

7. The December 10 Third Show Cause Order  
On December 10, 2014, the Court issued a third show cause order (the 

“Third Show Cause Order”).  In the Third Show Cause Order, the Court advised 

that it was concerned that this forum and these Cases were used as vehicles by 
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Robinson to improperly retain property of the estate. It appeared that Robinson 

had kept unearned fees for months—assuming the Court would not notice and 

the Trustees would not care7—and did not return the fees until faced with a show 

cause order. In addition, the Court expressed concern that Robinson violated the 

rules of professional conduct by failing to timely return unearned fees. The Court 

cannot permit this forum to openly host such behavior. The Court required an 

accounting of where the fees have been since Robinson’s suspension and why 

they were not returned sooner. The Court also gave notice that it was 

considering imposing sanctions against Robinson. 

8. The December 10, 2014 Motion to Disqualify filed by Robinson 
On December 10, 2014, Robinson filed a Motion to Disqualify the Judge.  

On December 11, 2014, he filed an Amended Motion to Disqualify.  Briggs did 

not file a motion to disqualify the Judge and did not join in Robinson’s request. 

 Robinson’s request for disqualification was an untimely re-hash of the 

numerous and various unmeritorious motions to disqualify that Robinson had 

filed in In re Steward and its adversary proceeding, Steward v. Critique Services 

L.L.C., et al. (Case No. 13-4284)(together, the “Steward Litigation”). In several 

orders in the Steward Litigation, the Court had already addressed why 

disqualification (on the same grounds as asserted here) was not proper. On 

December 11, 2014, the Court entered a short order denying the request for 

disqualification.  Attached thereto were copies of orders entered in the Steward 

Litigation that addressed the disqualification issue at length. 

 Briggs appeared to complain at the January 13 hearing that the Court had 

referred in this matter to “other cases”—presumably, the Steward Litigation. 

However, Briggs and Robinson are not entitled to a fictional reality or judicial 

amnesia. The Court is not required to pretend that the Steward Litigation did not 

occur.  This is especially true since (i) Robinson’s suspension during the course 

of the Steward Litigation is an integral fact related to the Show Cause Orders and 

7 These Cases are not the only cases in which Robinson may have kept 
unearned fees following his suspension. The Cases are a sampling. 
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the Motion to Compel Turnover, and (ii) Robinson brought the Steward Litigation 

references upon himself by re-asserting the same grounds for disqualification 

here that were rejected as a basis for disqualification in the Steward Litigation. 

9. The December 12, 2014 Motion to Compel Turnover 
 Given that Briggs and Robinson had made it clear that they would not 

cooperate with the Trustees, the Trustees filed the Motion to Compel Turnover. 

10. The December 13, 2014 Response of Briggs to the Motion to Compel 
Turnover.  

 
On December 13, 2014, Briggs filed a Response to the Motion to Compel 

Turnover, stating that he is not in possession of the requested documents and 

information. He also insisted that his representation of the Debtors was done on 

an “emergency” basis, blaming the “emergency” on the Court, the United States 

Trustee (the “UST”), and an unnamed law firm.8   

It is not clear how this alleged “emergency” basis for retention is relevant 

to Briggs’s objection to the Motion to Compel Turnover. But, to any degree, 

Briggs’s self-serving self-portraiture as an attorney selflessly providing urgent pro 

bono services is patent nonsense, as the facts surrounding his retention show.9  

8 Briggs claims that the “emergency” was created because “neither the 
Bankruptcy Court, the [UST], nor any other law firm had made provision for the 
protection of the legal rights of Robinson’s former clients after his suspension.”  
This contention has no basis in law or reality.  Robinson’s contempt and abuse of 
process, and his refusal to prepare for the foreseeable sanctions, resulted in his 
clients being left without counsel. 
 
9 There was no “emergency” requiring Briggs’s services. First, the consequences 
of Robinson’s suspension were entirely avoidable and within Robinson’s control.  
Robinson had known for weeks, if not months, that he was in jeopardy of being 
suspended, and did nothing to avoid the suspension or protect his clients upon 
his suspension. Second, Briggs did not act altruistically in representing 
Robinson’s former clients. Shortly after Robinson’s suspension, Briggs began 
filing Notices of Appearance and Attorney Compensation Disclosures pursuant to 
Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure (“Rule”) 2016(b) in pending cases of 
Robinson’s clients.  In those papers, Briggs represented that he would serve as 
“co-counsel” with Robinson (despite the fact that Robinson was not capable of 
serving as co-counsel due to his suspension) and that he would provide his 
services on a fee-sharing basis.  The Court issued orders striking the Notices of 
Appearance and the Rule 2016(b). The reason that Briggs is now representing 

 8 

                                            



11. The January 2, 2015 Response of Robinson to the Show Cause 
Orders and the Motion to Compel Turnover.  

 
On January 2, 2015, Robinson filed a response in which he “responds, 

objects and moves to [d]ismiss” the Show Cause Orders and the Motion to 

Compel. His response contained numerous blatantly false allegations, 

misstatements of law, and baseless proclamations. In addition, his response 

contained a second request for disqualification of the Judge—this time based on 

28 U.S.C. § 144, a statute that does not apply to bankruptcy judges.  Robinson 

also sought dismissal for a lack of subject matter jurisdiction and insisted that he 

does not “consent” to jurisdiction. On January 9, 2015, the Court entered an 

order determining the false allegations to be false, denying the request for 

second disqualification, and denying the request for dismissal.  

12. The January 12, 2015 Second Motion to Dismiss filed by Robinson 

On January 12, 2015—just before the close of Court on the day before the 

10:00 A.M. hearing on the Motion to Compel Turnover— Robinson filed a second 

motion to dismiss. In this last-minute effort to stall the next day’s hearing, 

Robinson insisted, again, that the Court was deprived of subject matter 

jurisdiction because he had returned the fees. The Court has considerable 

experience from the Steward Litigation with Robinson’s penchant for eleventh-

hour pleadings filed in an effort to create delay.  Later that day, the Court entered 

an order disposing of the second motion to dismiss. 

the Debtors free-of-charge is not due to any charitable initiative on his part.  It is 
because the Court entered orders determining that Briggs was deemed to have 
agreed to serve as sole counsel on a pro bono basis, and directing Briggs to file 
Rule 2016(b) statements to that effect (which he ultimately did).  
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B.  The January 13, 2015 Hearing on the Motion to Compel Turnover 
At the January 13, 2015 hearing on the Motion to Compel Turnover, each 

of the Trustees appeared, either in person (each is also an attorney) or through 

counsel. Trustee David Sosne was selected by the Trustees to helm their oral 

presentation.  Trustee Rebecca Case and Trustee Seth Albin also made brief 

comments. Also appearing were an attorney from the UST, 10  Ross Briggs 

(representing himself), and Robinson (representing himself).  

Briggs’s Oral Argument. In explaining his refusal to provide any 

documents and information in response to the December 3 Letter, Briggs claimed 

that the December 3 Letter was addressed to him in the capacity as the 

“managing agent” of “Critique Legal Services.”  However, that is not true.  In the 

December 3 Letter, Briggs is identified separately from the unnamed “managing 

agent.”  Briggs was not requested to provide documents as a managing agent of 

“Critique Legal Services.”  

In opposing the Motion to Compel Turnover, Briggs claimed professional 

impotence. According to Briggs, he is not an agent of Critique Legal Services 

L.L.C. or in the “inner sanctum” of power, and thus has no influence or access 

that would allow him to obtain the requested materials.  

As a preliminary matter, the Court notes that Briggs’s contention of 

significant distance between himself and “Critique” (whether that would refer to 

Critique Legal Services L.L.C., Critique Services L.L.C. or any person doing 

business as “Critique Services”) lacks candor. Briggs had a well-established 

affiliation with Critique Legal Services L.L.C. (in fact, “Critique Legal Services” 

was, at one point, his d/b/a), and maintains a working relationship with Critique 

Services L.L.C. to this day: 

• Briggs previously worked for Critique Legal Services L.L.C., on-and-off for 

several years.  Briggs v. LaBarge (In re Phillips), 433 F.3d 1068, 1070 n.1 

(8th Cir. 2006)(“Briggs first worked full-time for Critique from August 2001 

through December 2002. After December 2002, Briggs began working at a 

10 The UST orally expressed support for the Motion to Compel Turnover. 
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different office, but co-counseled with Critique attorneys ‘on occasion.’ He 

returned full-time to Critique in November 2003, but only for five or six 

weeks, departing in mid-December 2003”).  

• Briggs was sued by the UST in Rendlen v. Briggs (Case No. 03-4003) on 

claims relating to sub-standard and improper business and legal 

practices.11 In that adversary proceeding, Briggs was named as a “dba” of 

Critique Legal Services, and Diltz was his co-defendant. The matter 

eventually settled with Briggs agreeing to a suspension, a limitation on his 

practice, attendance at legal ethics training, and the payment of a fine. 

• Briggs currently employs former Critique Legal Services, L.L.C. staff. 

• On October 31, 2013, Briggs returned $199.00 in unearned fees (that had 

been held for some time) to the In re Steward debtor, who had paid for 

legal services at the office of Critique Services L.L.C.  (See In re Steward 

(Case No. 11-46399, Doc. No. 99)). 

• On December 9, 2013, the Steward debtor sued Briggs in Steward v. 

Critique Services L.L.C., et al., on claims related to sub-standard and 

improper business and legal practices. Briggs’s co-defendants were 

Critique Services L.L.C., Diltz, Robinson, and other non-attorney persons 

associated with Critique Services L.L.C. The matter eventually settled with 

the defendants agreeing to pay to the debtor $30,000.00. 

• Briggs regularly represents Critique Services L.L.C. “clients” at § 341 

meetings conducted by the Trustees—a fact pointed out at the hearing by 

the Trustees and which Briggs did not dispute.   

• In the instant Cases, Briggs did nothing to advocate for his own clients 

related to the fees they paid to Robinson. Briggs did not seek an 

accounting of the fees to determine to what degree they were not earned. 

He did not file a motion for disgorgement under § 329(b). He simply let 

Robinson keep the fees, unchallenged, for six months—appearing to 

11 The adversary proceeding was filed by UST Joel Pelofsky.  Sometime after   
Briggs settled with the UST, the Judge was substituted as the name-plaintiff upon 
his appointment as the UST. 
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choose Robinson and Critique Services L.L.C.’s interests over the 

interests of his clients. 

• Shortly after Robinson’s suspension last June, Briggs worked hand-in-

glove with Robinson to take over the representation of many of Robinson’s 

clients. In doing so, Briggs filed notices of appearance in which he 

attempted to aid Robinson in end-running his suspension by representing 

that he and Robinson would serve together as “co-counsel,” and he filed 

Rule 2016(b) disclosures in which he represented that he would fee-share 

with Robinson. 

Second—and more importantly for purposes of the Motion to Compel 

Turnover—Briggs’s “sanctum” status is not determinative of the Motion to 

Compel Turnover.12  Even if Briggs is outside the “power-center,” he still can be 

compelled in his capacity as the Debtors’ attorney to obtain and turn over the 

documents and information. The requested documents and information concern 

property of the estates of Briggs’s clients. As Trustee Sosne observed at the 

hearing: “[Briggs] is the attorney for the debtors. He has a responsibility to the 

debtors and to the Court dealing with what fees were paid.” Briggs is not a 

lawyer-eunuch merely because he may not currently be a formal employee or 

agent of Critique Legal Services L.L.C. or Critique Services L.L.C. To comply 

with a turn over directive, Briggs can politely ask any Critique entity or Robinson 

for the information and documents; he can insist firmly; he can serve a 

subpoena; he can file a motion asking the Court to direct a person to respond. 

Briggs does not need “sanctum” access; he only needs to lawyer for his clients. 

 Robinson’s Oral Argument. As flaccid and ineffectual as Briggs’s oral 

presentation was, it was a shining example of deft lawyering compared to the 

sophomoric charade conducted by Robinson. Robinson began his appearance 

by advising that he would read into the record his “opening statement.”  He then 

passed out printed copies of his “statement”—as if the others in the courtroom 

12 If the exact nature of Briggs’s relationship with Critique Services, Diltz, or 
Robinson later becomes a material disputed issue of fact, the Court will hold a 
full evidentiary hearing on the issue. 
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needed a visual aid to fully grasp the coming recondite exegesis. He also 

advised that that he would file his “statement,” as if the “statement” were a 

responsive pleading.13  

Before Robinson began reading his “statement” into the record, the Court 

reminded him that the issues raised by the Motion to Compel Turnover were 

narrow and that his “statement” should address only those issues. The hearing 

was one on the Motion to Compel Turnover; it was not a hearing on the Show 

Cause Orders. Robinson, however, proved either incapable or unwilling to 

deviate from his script, much of which fell well-outside the issues raised by the 

Motion to Compel Turnover. The Court advised Mr. Robinson that he was “stuck 

in a loop”—an off-point loop of distraction.  

Perhaps not surprisingly, Robinson’s “opening statement” turned out not to 

be an opening statement at all, but was a closing argument. And during this 

“statement” presentation, Robinson did the following: 

• He argued with the Court. 

• He re-hashed already-decided issues. 

• He misstated the law and procedure. 

• He insisted that he did not “consent” to subject matter jurisdiction. 

• He baselessly insisted that the Show Cause Orders are unlawful and void. 

• He baselessly insisted that the Motion to Compel Turnover was moot and 

that there was no case in controversy. 

• He uncleverly mischaracterized or misrepresented comments from the 

bench and language from Court orders. 

• He falsely claimed that the Trustees had not stated what they want turned 

over, when, in fact, they had clearly stated what they want turned over. 

• He falsely claimed that the Court directed the Trustees to “collect” 

Robinson’s fees (to the contrary, the Court stated in the First Show Cause 

Order that, if Robinson chose to return the fees now, he should remit them 

13 It was neither necessary nor proper for Mr. Robinson to file his “opening 
statement.” It is not a pleading or a responsive document. 
 

 13 

                                            



to the Trustees; this was not a directive to the Trustees to undertake the 

process of “collecting” the fees or seeking turnover of the fees).  

• He falsely stated that, in the Third Show Cause Order, the Court made the 

factual determination that Robinson had failed to earn the fees (to the 

contrary, the Court stated that, in light of Robinson’s sudden return of the 

fees, “it appears that Mr. Robinson knowingly held, for many months, 

unearned fees that were property of the estate, and returned those fees 

only in the face of the Order to Show Cause” (emphasis added); 

Robinson’s real complaint seems to be that he does not like how things 

appear—a situation that he could have avoided by not acting in a manner 

to create the appearance). 

• He baselessly alleged that he was being denied due process. 

• He baselessly alleged that he is being denied equal protection.14 

• He falsely accused the Trustees of “bootstrapping.” 

• He falsely accused the Court of holding a “quasi-contempt” proceeding. 

• He falsely accused the Court of conducting a “disguised” hearing. 

• He falsely accused the Court of conducting a “tainted” proceeding. 

• He falsely accused the Court of “coercing” him. 

• He falsely accused the Court of denying him a hearing under § 329(b). 

• He falsely accused the Court of “encouraging” and “instructing” him to 

assert his Fifth Amendment rights (Robinson appeared to be alluding to 

the fact that the Court noted in its Show Cause Orders that the Court was 

not directing Robinson to respond in violation of his Fifth Amendment 

rights—an appropriate statement, given that the Court was concerned 

about financial impropriety). 

14 Robinson did spare the Court a revisiting the baseless accusation he made in 
his January 2 written response, in which he claimed that the Court racially 
discriminated against him by issuing the Show Cause Order.  Of course, 
shamelessly lying may be easier to do in a pleading, since the written format 
affords protection from being immediately held to account.  
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• He claimed that he is in fear of being criminally sanctioned—despite the 

fact that the Show Cause Orders did not commence criminal contempt 

proceedings and the Court never mentioned criminal contempt. 

• He ended his “statement” by demanding—in what is certainly a first before 

this Court—that the Court refer the matter to the U.S. District Court for this 

District (the “U.S. District Court”) for initiation of disciplinary proceeding 

against him under Rule V of the U.S. District Court’s Rules of Disciplinary 

Enforcement (each such rule, an “E.D.Mo. R.D.E.”).15  

In summary, Robinson’s “statement” was a rambling, argumentative screed of 

accusations, arrogance, incoherence, and irrelevancies.  

Then, from this inauspicious start, Robinson chose to make things worse.  

During the hearing: 

• He repeatedly took a belligerent tone with the Court. 

• He shouted at, argued with, and interrupted the Court. 

• He demanded that the Court answer his questions and respond to his 

incorrect premises and arguments. 

• He falsely claimed that he had responded to everything that the Trustees 

asked of him when, in reality, he had responded to almost nothing that the 

Trustees had asked of him. 

15 Robinson is already the subject of a disciplinary proceeding before the U.S. 
District Court (E.D. Mo. Dist. Ct. Case No. 14-MC-354) as a result of his 
suspension. It is unclear why Robinson now wants another disciplinary referral. 
Moreover, Robinson requests a referral under E.D.Mo R.D.E. V, which provides 
for a specific type of disciplinary proceeding involving the appointment of special 
counsel for investigation and prosecution. This aside, the Motion to Compel 
Turnover is not a disciplinary matter. It appears that what Robinson really wants 
is simply to get this matter away from this Court. However, as the Court 
explained in its January 12 order, there is no authority for this Court to “refer” the 
Motion to Compel Turnover or the Show Cause Orders to the U.S. District Court. 
Referral of bankruptcy matters is a one-way street.  The U.S. District Court refers 
matters to this Court; this Court does not “refer” matters to the U.S. District Court 
or dictate to the U.S. District Court what matters it must determine. 
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• He falsely stated that in a June 25, 2014 order, the Court determined that 

Robinson had “owed fees” that were “unlawfully held,” and directed Briggs 

remit those fees to the Court.16  

• He falsely claimed that the Court had limited the scope of the Show Cause 

Orders to an inquiry under § 329(b).17 

• When asked what kind of entity is “Critique Services” (Robinson’s own 

purported d/b/a), he laughably responded that he couldn’t answer that 

because that is “a legal question”—despite the fact that he is a lawyer 

(someone who is supposed to be qualified to answer “legal questions”). 

• He claimed, without credibility, that he was unaware of what the Trustees 

wanted. 

• He made the utterly unreassuring claim that he would proceed in good 

faith “as I’ve always done.” 

• He proclaimed, erroneously, that Missouri Supreme Court Rule of 

Professional Conduct (“Mo. Prof. R.”) 4-1.6 prevents him from disclosing 

16 Robinson’s claim is simply fiction. On June 25, 2014, the Court entered an 
order in a series of cases (a copy of which also was entered in In re Steward), in 
which the Court addressed misleading representations made by Briggs in his 
efforts to represent Robinson’s clients following Robinson’s suspension. The 
June 25, 2015 order included the directive that: 

before the Case is closed, Mr. Briggs file an affidavit attesting to the 
amount of fees returned by Mr. Robinson to each Debtor. Such 
affidavit shall be accompanied by a receipt of returned fees, signed 
by the receiving Debtor and reflecting the date upon which the fees 
were received by the Debtor. Nothing herein shall limit or prevent 
the Court from ordering Mr. Robinson to show cause as to why any 
portion of the fees that were paid to him by any Debtor were not 
returned to such Debtor if unearned.  

The Court did not find that Robinson’s fees were unearned; it did not find that the 
fees were being unlawfully held; and it did not direct Briggs to remit the fees. The 
Court only directed Briggs to file an affidavit regarding any returned fees (a 
directive with which Briggs did not timely comply), and advised Robinson that he 
may be held to account for why his fees, if unearned, were not returned. 
 
17 In the Third Show Cause Order (the “Order Directing (I) James Robinson Show 
Cause Why the Court Should Not Impose Sanctions Against Him . . .”), the Court 
gave notice that it was considering sanctions (not merely disgorgement). 
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fee information,18 and that the “Supreme Court” has held that the client fee 

information is subject to attorney-client privilege. He offered no citation to 

a “Supreme Court” case (either to Missouri Supreme Court or a U.S. 

Supreme Court case).19  

• He asserted, without credibility, that he has no records related to the fees 

he collected from the Debtors.20  

• He verbally accosted Trustee Albin at the lectern, hijacking the proceeding 

and demonstrating a complete lack of respect for the Court and counsel.21  

18 Mo Prof. R. 4-1.6(a) provides that “[a] lawyer shall not reveal information 
relating to the representation of a client unless the client gives informed consent, 
the disclosure is impliedly authorized in order to carry out the representation, or 
the disclosure is permitted by Rule 4.16(b).”  In turn, Mo. Prof. R. 4-1.6(b) 
provides that “[a] lawyer may reveal information relating to the representation of a 
client to the extend the lawyer reasonably believes necessary . . . to comply with 
other law or a court order.” Moreover, Comment  [3] states that “[t]he principle of 
client-lawyer confidentiality is given effect by related bodies of law: the attorney-
client privilege, the work-product doctrine, and the rule of confidentiality 
establishing professional ethics.”  None of the “related bodies of law” apply here.  
 
19 Client fee information generally is not protected by attorney-client privilege.  In 
re Grand Jury Subpoena Served Upon R.I.K., 55 F.3d 368, 369 (8th Cir. 
1995)(“As we recently stated in United States v. Sindel, 53 F.3d 874 (8th Cir. 
1995), the rules of confidentiality ordinarily do not apply to client identity and fee 
information. . . . the federal common law of attorney-client privilege does not bar 
disclosure of [such] information requested in the grand jury subpoena.”); Starr 
Indemn. & Liability Co. v. Continental Cement Co., L.L.C., 2012 WL 6012904, at 
*5 (E.D. Mo. Dec. 3, 2012)(“[O]rdinarily[,] fee arrangements . . . the logistics of 
the payments involved are not matters to which attorney-client privilege attaches, 
as they are not deemed to be communicative” (quoting Comcast of Ill. X LLC v. 
Multivision Elecs., Inc., No. 4:06MC675-DJS, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 37528, at 
*3-4, 2007 WL 1527849 (E.D. Mo. Mary 23, 2007)). 
  
20  Robinson offered no affidavit, evidence, or explanation establishing how this 
could be true. On Robinson’s word alone, the Court is supposed to believe that 
Robinson’s high-volume practice does business without keeping records of 
receipts, deposits and transfers. It is not believable that there is no accounting of 
who pays the fees, the amount of the fees paid, when fees are paid, when fees 
are earned, where fees are held, and to whom fees are transferred. Even if 
Robinson does not have immediate access to the requested documents and 
information because they are not in his possession, someone has these records. 
Robinson is responsible for obtaining his records about his former clients’ fees.  
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• When the Court cut off Robinson’s histrionic inquisition of Trustee Albin, 

Robinson committed the lawyering equivalent of ramming the Titanic 

further into the iceberg, by shouting at the Court, interrupting the Judge, 

and demanding that the Court respond to his questions.  

• He shouted at the Court that it was conducting a “fishing expedition.” 

• In an Orwellian coup de grâce, Robinson proclaimed the exact opposite of 

reality: that he respects the Court.    

The Agreement by Briggs and Robinson to Act in Good Faith to 
Obtain and Turn Over the Requested Documents and Information.  By the 

end of the January 13 hearing, Briggs and Robinson both agreed to act in good 

faith to obtain and turn over the requested documents and information. However, 

the Court is concerned that it may be waiting for Godot. 

About half-way through the January 15 hearing, Briggs made a one-

eighty, and began stating—repeatedly—that he now would be “happy” to respond 

to the Trustees’ requests in his capacity as the Debtors’ counsel. The Court is 

skeptical of this new spirit of helpfulness—given Briggs’s weeks of failure to be 

responsive, his months of disregard of his own clients’ interests in the fees, and 

his historically cozy relationship with Critique entities. Moreover, Briggs 

ominously prognosticated he would be not more successful in obtaining the 

requested documents and information—an odd representation of knowledge from 

someone who emphatically insists that he is not inside an “inner sanctum.”   

21 During this ill-conceived stunt, Robinson turned directly to Trustee Albin at the 
lectern and obnoxiously demanded that Trustee Albin explain to him personally—
right then and there—why he was requesting the documents and information. 
Robinson’s plan appeared to be: blindside and bully Trustee Albin (an almost 
comically bad idea, given Trustee Albin’s professional experience and courtroom 
demeanor—neither of which suggests that he would endure such nonsense). For 
Robinson, that moment could have gone from one of mere foolishness to one of 
complete embarrassment, had Trustee Albin chosen to set Robinson straight 
about courtroom procedure or orally moved for sanctions for Robinson’s abusive 
courtroom conduct.  However, Trustee Albin chose not to add to the drama of the 
Robinson’s sideshow, and simply advised Robinson that he would not be cross-
examined. And that was the last Robinson got out of Trustee Albin. 
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 Robinson’s representation inspired even less confidence. While he 

agreed, superficially, to respond to the Trustees’ requests, he contended that he 

was doing so under protest (whatever that might mean). He claimed that he did 

not know “what more the Trustees want,” because (he falsely asserted) he had 

already responded in full to their requests.  And, he agreed to comply in good 

faith “as he had always done.”  The glaring problem with this representation is, of 

course, that Robinson had never acted in good faith to start with.  Instead, he 

responded to the Show Cause Orders and the Motion to Compel by making 

unfounded allegations and meritless arguments. He returned the fees after the 

Show Cause Orders were entered, then tried to claim that, by finally returning the 

fees, he could not be held accountable for his months of failing to do so. He 

made a baseless accusation of racial discrimination, demonstrating a willingness 

to stoop to anything to get out of responding. He frequently conducted himself in 

a bellicose and argumentative manner in the courtroom.  He twice made frivolous 

requests for judicial disqualification. In short, his filings, positions, and conduct 

wreak of bad faith and desperation. Therefore, a promise from Robinson that he 

will conduct himself going forward in the same way that he has been conducting 

himself in the past foreshadows non-compliance and bad faith. 

C.  The Post-Hearing Affidavits filed by Robinson and Briggs 
 Before the Court could finalize and enter this Order, Robinson and Briggs 

each filed a post-hearing affidavits. The Court makes the following observations 

about those affidavits. 

1. The January 20, 2015 Affidavit filed by Robinson.  
On January 20, 2015, Robinson filed an affidavit, attesting that he 

provided the licensing agreement to the Trustees. He also attested that the 

Debtors’ fees were “paid in cash, receipted, and handed over to me.”  In addition, 

he attested, “the attorneys fees were not held” and the “attorneys fees were not 

deposited in any accounts.”  

If this affidavit is meant to be a response to the Trustees’ requests, it is 

grossly deficient. First, Robinson has almost no credibility, given his established 

propensity for lying to the Court. Therefore, no issue will be resolved and no 
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inquiry will be satisfied based on his affidavit alone. Moreover, setting aside 

Robinson’s unsupported attestation that the Debtors paid in cash, the affidavit 

basically says nothing. For example: who issued the receipt? If a receipt was 

given, then there is a paper trail—so where is Robinson’s copy of such receipts? 

Where is the ledger reflecting the receipt of this income? The cash was “handed” 

to Robinson by whom? Moreover, Robinson’s contention that the fees were not 

“held” is, on its face, untrue.  If he was “handed” the fees, then he also “held” the 

fees, even if only for a short time.  Where were the fees placed after being 

“receipted” and “handed over” to Robinson, if he did not place them into any type 

of account? And how long were they held there?  And, Robinson attests that, the 

fees were spent before the Debtors’ Cases were even filed. There is no 

attestation that the fees had been earned in part or in total at the time they were 

spent—and, again, Robinson admits that the fees were spent before the Cases 

were even filed (that is, before all services were rendered). In short, Robinson’s 

affidavit is not a full, good faith response to the Trustees’ requests and appears 

to raise more issues as to whether the fees were held and transferred properly. 

2. The January 20, 2015 Affidavit Filed by Briggs.   
On January 20, 2015, Briggs filed an affidavit in the Case of In re Reed 

(Case No. 14-44818) (it not clear why the affidavit was not filed in each of the 

Cases). In the affidavit, Briggs attests that, since the January 13 hearing, he had 

undertaken to contact the Debtors and has been able to contact many of them. 

He attests that certain Debtors have provided copies of their receipts from 

Robinson and their retainer agreements.  He attests that several of the Debtors 

have executed, or will execute soon, affidavits in which they attest to “their 

personal knowledge regarding to whom they paid fees in retaining Attorney 

James Robinson as their bankruptcy counsel, and where such fees were held 

and disbursed after remittance.” Such affidavits may be a start to responding to 

the Trustees’ requests.  However, the personal knowledge of the Debtors will not 

be sufficient to respond in full, since the Trustees have requested information 

and documents that is beyond the scope of the Debtors’ personal knowledge. 
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Briggs also spends most of the second page of the two-page affidavit 

attesting to his own personal ignorance. He attests that he knows nothing 

regarding the receipt of the fees, the holding of the fees, the deposit of the fees, 

or the disbursement of the fees. He attests that he has no “knowledge, access or 

control concerning any check, ledger, bank account or account statement of Mr. 

Robinson or Critique Services as it relates to these [D]ebtors or as requested by 

this Court. . . . My communications with Mr. Robinson concerning the above 

[D]ebtors have been limited to assisting in the completion [sic] legal 

representation of the [D]ebtors . . .”  This insistence of ignorance does not 

establish that Briggs has responded in full and in good faith to the Trustees’ 

requests. Why Briggs has not inquired of Robinson or Critique Services L.L.C. 

about the fees Robinson received from Briggs’ clients in these Cases is not 

stated.  Briggs seems to have no curiosity on the part of his clients or as an 

officer of this Court about where his clients’ fees were held by the suspended 

Robinson for six months, and why they were returned only in the face of the 

Show Cause Orders. He appears to have chosen to be ignorant of facts related 

to his clients’ Cases. He claims that his communications “have been limited to 

assisting in the completion” of the legal representation of the Debtors—failing to 

recognize that this instant matter involves the legal representation of his clients. 

The Cases cannot be closed until the issues related to the fees are resolved.   

Regardless of his alleged current state of ignorance, Briggs must make a 

good faith effort to obtain those requested documents and information from any 

third party that may have such. To do so, he may have to inquire of Robinson; he 

may have to inquire of Critique Services L.L.C. Briggs may not stand on his 

claims of personal ignorance, without any effort to obtain and turn over those 

documents and information from whoever may have them. 

III.  LAW AND ANALYSIS 
A. Subject Matter Jurisdiction 

The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the issues raised in the 

Motion to Compel Turnover, which include those raised pursuant to § 329(b), 

Rule 2017(a), and § 542(e), and over the issue of whether relief under § 105(a) is 
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proper.  Robinson insists that he does not “consent” to subject matter jurisdiction.  

However, subject matter jurisdiction is not contingent on his consent. 

B. Personal Jurisdiction 
Briggs did not assert a lack of personal jurisdiction. He is counsel of 

record in six of the eight Cases.  He has consented to personal jurisdiction or 

waived any objection based on a lack of personal jurisdiction. Moreover, even if 

he did not consent to, or waive any objection based on a lack of, personal 

jurisdiction, the Court has personal jurisdiction over Briggs. 

Robinson did not assert a lack of personal jurisdiction.  On page 2 of his 

response, Robinson vaguely alleged a lack of “jurisdiction.”  On page 3 of his 

response, he claimed that the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction—but made 

no reference to personal jurisdiction. In his “opening statement,” Robinson 

alleged that the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction, without any reference to 

personal jurisdiction. As such, Robinson has consented to personal jurisdiction or 

has waived any objection based on a lack of personal jurisdiction. Moreover, 

even if he did not consent to, or waive any objection based on a lack of, personal 

jurisdiction, the Court has personal jurisdiction over Robinson. 

The Court has personal jurisdiction over Critique Legal Services L.L.C., to 

the degree that such entity exists. Critique Legal Services L.L.C. was a limited 

liability company formed and registered with the Secretary of State for Missouri, 

was located in St. Louis, did business here, and had substantial contacts with 

this District.  

The Court has personal jurisdiction over Critique Services L.L.C.  Critique 

Services L.L.C. is a limited liability company formed and registered with the 

Secretary of State for Missouri, is located in this District, does business in this 

District, has substantial contacts in this District, and is the firm with which 

Robinson is affiliated. 

C. Rule 7034 Not Applicable 
An introductory remark from the bench characterized the hearing as one 

about a “discovery problem.” It perhaps would have been more precise to 

characterize the proceeding as one about a “turnover request problem.”  

 22 



Although a contested turnover request can be similar to a contested production 

request, in the sense that both usually involve the refusal to make available 

requested information, there is not formal discovery dispute before the Court in 

these matters.  “Discovery”—as that term of art is used in the Rules—generally 

applies in two circumstances in bankruptcy cases: in an adversary proceeding 

and in a contested matter. Neither exist here.22  The off-the-cuff use of the term 

“discovery” does not invoke a formal discovery procedure. And, the Trustees do 

not rely upon or seek relief under Rule 7034—the Rule that permits production as 

part of the discovery process. The Court makes this observation that the parties 

are not engaged in a formal discovery process because, in his Response, 

Robinson appears to treat the Show Cause Orders’ directives as requests for 

production made in the discovery process (he “objected” to the Court’s directives, 

as if they were discovery requests from a party).  

D.  Section 329(b) 
The first authority on which the Trustees rely is § 329(b). Section 329(b) 

provides that, “if [compensation paid or agreed to be paid to an attorney 

representing a debtor in connection with a bankruptcy case] exceeds the 

reasonable value of any such services, the court may cancel any such 

agreement, or order the return of any such payment, to the extent excessive, 

to—(1) the estate, if the property transferred—(A) would have been property of 

the estate . . .” Section § 329(b) empowers the Court to order disgorgement of 

fees to the degree that they are excessive—and unearned fees are, by definition, 

excessive because no services were rendered for them.  

 Although § 329(b) does not specifically address how a party seeking 

documents and information related to the fees may obtain such, § 105(a) 

provides a mechanism.  Section 105(a) provides that:  

22 The Show Cause Orders did not initiate an adversary proceeding under Rule 
7001 or a contested matter under Rule 9014(a). In addition, production of 
documents may be compelled in connection with an examination under Rule 
2004(c), but no Rule 2004 examination has been initiated. 
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[t]he court may issue any order . . . that is necessary or appropriate 
to carry out the provisions of this title. No provision of this title 
providing for the raising of an issue by a party in interest shall be 
construed to preclude the court from, sua sponte, taking any action 
or making any determination necessary or appropriate to enforce or 
implement court orders or rules, or to prevent an abuse of process. 
 

Section 105(a) gives the Court authority to direct turnover if such turnover is 

necessary or appropriate to carry out provisions of § 329(b).  

E.  Rule 2017(a) 
Another authority on which the Trustees rely is Rule 2017(a). This Rule, 

subtitled “Payment or Transfer to Attorney Before Order for Relief,” provides that  

[o]n motion by any party in interest or on the court's own initiative, 
the court after notice and a hearing may determine whether any 
payment of money or any transfer of property by the debtor, made 
directly or indirectly and in contemplation of the filing of a petition 
under the [Bankruptcy] Code by or against the debtor or before 
entry of the order for relief in an involuntary case, to an attorney for 
services rendered or to be rendered is excessive. 
 

This Rule complements the statutory authority given to the Court in § 329(b).  

F.  Section 542(e). 
In addition, the Trustees rely on § 542(e). Section 542(a) provides that 

“[s]ubject to any applicable privilege, after notice and a hearing, the court may 

order an attorney, accountant, or other person that holds recorded information, 

including books, documents, records, and papers, relating to the debtor’s 

property or financial affairs, to turn over or disclose such recorded information to 

the trustee.” Therefore, pursuant to § 542(e), the Court may order any person to 

turn over the Trustees’ requested documents and information related to the 

Debtors’ property (including any unearned fees), as well as documents and 

information related to the Debtors’ financial affairs in general, regardless of 

whether such documents and information relate to the Debtors’ property. 

III.  ANALYSIS 
A.  A Turnover Directive to Critique Legal Services L.L.C. Is Proper 

Critique Legal Services L.L.C. did not object or in any way respond to the 

Motion to Compel Turnover.  The Court HOLDS that, based on the facts herein, 
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and pursuant to § 329(b), Rule 2017, § 542(e), and § 105(a), it is proper to order 

that Critique Legal Services L.L.C. turn over all documents and information, as 

set forth in the turnover directive below. 

B. A Turnover Directive to Robinson and Briggs Is Proper Based on 
Consent and Representation of Intent to Comply 

 
At the hearing, Briggs and Robinson agreed to make a good faith effort to 

obtain the requested documents and information. As such, Briggs and Robinson 

effectively withdrew their objections to the Motion to Compel Turnover and 

agreed that such relief is proper, and the Court HOLDS that such relief is proper.  

The Court expects good faith and full compliance with this Order without 

objections, refusals, avoidance, evasion, confusion, hesitation, impotence, 

incompleteness, tardiness, mistake, misunderstanding, misplacement, 

displacement, delay, diversion, reports of my-dog-ate-my-homework, or any 

other time-buying excuse not to perform. 

C.  A Turnover Directive to Robinson Is Proper Pursuant to § 329(b), Rule 
2017, § 542(e), and § 105(a) 

 
Because Robinson oxymoronically agreed to respond in good faith to the 

Trustee’s requests, but claims the is acting under protest, and because he has 

not yet acted in good faith, the Court is concerned that Robinson may later 

renege on his stated intent to respond in good faith. Therefore, out of an 

abundance of caution, the Court HOLDS that, based on the facts herein, and 

pursuant to § 329(b), Rule 2017, § 542(e), and § 105(a), it is proper to order that 

Robinson to turn over all documents and information, as set forth in the turnover 

directive below. 

D. A Turnover Directive to Briggs Is Proper Pursuant to § 329(b), Rule 
2017, § 542(e), and § 105(a) 

 
In light of Briggs’s assertion in his affidavit of personal ignorance regarding 

the requested documents and information, the Court is concerned that Briggs 

either does not understand what a good faith effort to comply with the turnover 

requests entails, or that he intends to make no additional efforts to comply. 

Therefore, out of an abundance of caution, the Court HOLDS that, based on the 
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facts herein, and pursuant to § 329(b), Rule 2017, § 542(e), and § 105(a), it is 

proper to order that Briggs, in his capacity as counsel for certain of the Debtors, 

turn over all documents and information, as set forth in the turnover directive 

below. This directive may require him to seek documents and information from 

third parties—even if it places him in the (presumably) undesirable position of 

making inquiries to Robinson and Critique Services L.L.C. If Briggs gets 

“stonewalled” (as Trustee Sosne termed it at the hearing), then he can file a 

credible and specific affidavit detailing his efforts. 

E. A Turnover Directive to Critique Services L.L.C. Is Proper 
In the pleadings and at the hearing, the terms “Critique,” “Critique Legal 

Services,”  “Critique Legal Services L.L.C.,” “Critique Services,” and “Critique 

Services L.L.C.” were used. Mr. Briggs, however, was notably precise in referring 

to “Critique Legal Services L.L.C.” when representing that he was not a 

“managing agent.” He (correctly) pointed out that the December 3 Letter was 

addressed to “Critique Legal Services,” 23  and advised that Critique Legal 

Services L.L.C. was dissolved years ago. Trustee Sosne responded to Briggs’s 

scrupulousness by pointing out that, over the years, there have been many uses 

of the “Critique” label and name. Since the distinction between Critique Legal 

Services L.L.C. and Critique Services L.L.C., and the correct identity of the 

“Critique” entity that the Trustees seek to compel, were issues raised at the 

hearing, the Court notes that its own records reveal various uses of the “Critique” 

name by companies, individuals and d/b/a’s over the years: 

• In 1999, in the matter of Pelofsky v. Holmes (Case No. 99-4065), the UST 

sued Diltz24 and “Critique Services.”  In 2001, in the matter of Pelofsky v. 

Holmes (Case No. 01-4333), the UST sued Diltz again. This second 

23 The Motion to Compel Turnover also named “Critique Legal Services.” 
 
24 In addition to the UST suits brought against Diltz and her Critique entities in 
this District, the U.S Bankruptcy Court across the river in the Southern District of 
Illinois has barred Diltz “in the broadest possible fashion” from acting “in any 
capacity in which she might have anything to do with any Bankruptcy Case in this 
District.” In re Bonner (SDIL Case No. 03-31505). 
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Pelofsky v. Holmes matter was settled by a consent order in which Diltz 

was listed as “d/b/a Critique Services.”  In the consent order, Diltz was 

ordered to refrain from the unauthorized practice of law and was 

permanently enjoined from providing bankruptcy petition preparation 

services unless she was doing so as an employee or general contractor of 

a duly licensed lawyer. 

• On August 9, 2002, Diltz registered Critique Legal Services L.L.C. and 

Critique Services L.L.C. as limited liability companies.25  Critique Legal 

Services L.L.C.’s articles of organization show that Diltz was its sole 

registered agent and organizer, and that its purpose was to “provide 

attorney representation”—whatever that might mean. Critique Legal 

Services L.L.C. was dissolved in 2003 (Briggs volunteered this fact at the 

January 13 hearing). Critique Services L.L.C.’s articles of organization 

show that Diltz is its sole registered agent and organizer, and that its 

purpose is “bankruptcy petition preparation service.”  Critique Services 

L.L.C. is not dissolved, continues to operate, and is the company with 

which Robinson is affiliated. 

• In 2003, in the matter of Rendlen v. Briggs (Case No. 03-4003),26 the UST 

again sued Diltz, as d/b/a Critique Services and d/b/a Critique Legal 

Services. The suit also named as co-defendants Briggs (d/b/a Critique 

Legal Services) and Critique Legal Services L.L.C. The suit eventually 

settled in two parts. First, Briggs settled by agreeing to a suspension, a 

limitation on his practice, attendance at legal ethics training, and the 

payment of a fine.  Separately, Diltz and Critique Legal Services L.L.C. 

settled by agreeing to a permanent bar on being a bankruptcy petition 

preparer in this District. 

25 Information in this bullet point is publicly available from the Office of the 
Secretary of State of Missouri, as Briggs pointed out at the January 13 hearing.   
 
26 Rendlen v. Briggs was filed by UST Joel Pelofsky.  After Briggs settled with the 
UST, the undersigned Judge was substituted as the name-plaintiff, after the 
Judge’s appointment as the UST. 
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• In 2005, in UST v. Holmes, et al. (Case No. 05-4254), the UST once again 

sued Diltz, in her individual capacity, in her capacity as a member of 

Critique Services L.L.C., and d/b/a Critique Services.  Her co-defendants 

were Critique Services L.L.C. (d/b/a Critique Services) and Renee 

Mayweather, a non-attorney. And, once again, the UST asserted claims 

based on impermissible or improper provision of bankruptcy petition 

preparation services. The suit settled when the defendants agreed to be 

barred from providing bankruptcy preparation services in this District, to 

pay reimbursements, and to refrain from the unauthorized practice of law. 

• In 2013, in the contested matter of the motion to disgorge filed by the 

debtor in In re Steward, Robinson repeatedly represented that “Critique 

Services L.L.C.” is his d/b/a—despite an invitation from the Court to 

explain how a natural person and an artificial legal entity could be one-

and-the-same. Attorney Elbert Walton, who represented both Robinson 

and Critique Services L.L.C. as respondents to the motion to disgorge, 

offered no explanation on behalf of his clients. In the pending appeal 

before the U.S. District Court from the suspension order entered in In re 

Steward (USDC Case No. 4:14-CV-1094), Critique Services L.L.C.—

represented by attorney Laurence Mass—now contends that Robinson 

and Critique Services L.L.C. are not the same entity. 

• In 2014, the UST filed motions against Diltz, Robinson and Critique 

Services L.L.C. for disgorgement and the issuance of orders to show 

cause, in the matters of In re Williams (Case No. 14-44204), In re Ericks 

(Case No. 14-44248), In re Pierce (Case No. 14-44982), and In re 

Freeman (Case No. 14-45025). The motions were based on allegations of 

improper business practices and violations of a previous injunction. In their 

joint response, the Diltz and Critique Services L.L.C. admitted that Diltz is 

the sole member and owner of Critique Services L.L.C.  After the filing of 

the response, the judge presiding over those cases entered Orders to 

Appear and Show Cause against Robinson, Diltz, and Critique Services 

L.L.C.  At a January 20, 2015 hearing, attorney Laurence Mass—counsel 
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for Diltz and Critique Services L.L.C.—advised that Diltz is the sole 

employee of Critique Services L.L.C.  Discovery currently is ongoing. 

Given the distinction between Critique Legal Services L.L.C. and Critique 

Services L.L.C., and given the history and overlap between and among the 

Critique entities and affiliated persons, and in light of the fact that Critique 

Services L.L.C. is the currently operating company with which Robinson is 

affiliated, the Court HOLDS that it is proper under § 105(a) to order that Critique 

Services L.L.C. turn over all documents and information, as set forth in the 

turnover directive below.  

IV.  THE TURNOVER DIRECTIVE 
For the reasons set forth herein, the Court ORDERS Briggs,27 Robinson, 

Critique Legal Services, L.L.C., and Critique Services L.L.C., to perform as 

follows by January 30, 2015, at 12:00 P.M. (Central): 
turn over to the Trustees all documents (as that term is typically and 
broadly defined to include documents and communications in hard 
copy and/or electronic form) responsive to each of the requests of the 
Court in the three Show Cause Orders and responsive to the 
Trustees’ request for a full and complete accounting of the payment, 
handling and/or treatment and uses of funds paid by each Debtor in 
each of the Cases or by another person on the Debtor’s behalf, 
including, but without limitation to:   
 

1. Engagement letters, contracts and other documents containing or 
setting forth any fee arrangement and/or terms of representation 
with any of the Debtors. 

2. All checks (both front and back thereof), money orders, receipts, 
receipt books, ledgers, bank statements and other documents 
reflecting: 

a.    Any payment of fees or expenses paid by on or behalf of 
any of the Debtors; and/or 

b.    Any accounts into which any such funds for fees and 
expenses were deposited. 

3. All checks (both front and back thereof), receipts, ledgers, check 
registers, journals, adjustments, account statements, and other 
documents reflecting any disbursement, credit or debit adjustment 

27 In responding to these directives, Briggs is required to obtain and turn over the 
documents and information for those Debtors that he represents.  Robinson, 
Critique Legal Services L.L.C., and Critique Services L.L.C. are required to 
comply with this Order as to all Debtors. 
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or transfer (attributable and/or traceable to any portion of fees and 
expenses paid by or on behalf of any of the Debtors) by and 
between any of the following: 

a.    Robinson; 
b.    Briggs; 
c.    Any business entity, whether incorporated or 

unincorporated, that uses the word “Critique” in its 
name; 

d.    Any attorney affiliated or otherwise associated (formally 
or informally) with “Critique Services L.L.C.,” “Critique 
Legal Services L.L.C.,” or any other permutation of 
“Critique,” or any employee, officer, owner or manager 
of “Critique Services L.L.C.” or “Critique Legal Services 
L.L.C.,” or any other permutation of “Critique,” or to any 
other person. 

This shall include any transfers, disbursement or adjustments of 
funds from one account of a person or entity to another account of 
such person or entity, such as, by way of example and not by 
limitation, a transfer from a trust account to an operating account or 
a business account to a personal account. 

4. All checks (front and back), receipts, bank statements, ledgers and 
other documents reflecting any refund, accounting, and/or 
disbursement made or given to the debtor with regard to any fee or 
expense paid by any of the Debtors (or by anyone on any Debtor’s 
behalf). 

5. All contracts and other documents reflecting or identifying any 
arrangement or agreement between any of the following persons or 
entities with regard to fee and expense arrangements, and/or 
performance or allocation of legal or clerical services, and/or 
payments for any performance or allocation of legal or clerical 
services, in effect at any time from the date of the first payment of 
the fee to the present with regard to administration of bankruptcy 
cases: 

a.    Robinson; 
b.    Briggs; 
c.    Any business entity, whether incorporated or 

unincorporated, that uses the word “Critique” in its 
name; 

d.    Any attorney affiliated or otherwise associated with 
(formally or informally) with “Critique Services L.L.C.”, 
“Critique Legal Services L.L.C.” or any other 
permutation of “Critique,” or any employee, officer, 
owner or manager of “Critique Services L.L.C.” or 
“Critique Legal Services L.L.C.,” or any other 
permutation of “Critique,” or to any other person. 
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6. Licensing agreements, contracts and other documents reflecting 
any licensing that includes the name “Critique” and refer to or 
include Robinson as a party.  

 
The Court further ORDERS that Briggs and Robinson turn over to the 

Trustees by January 30, 2015, at 12:00 P.M. (Central) any contracts or other 

documents effecting or otherwise memorializing any agreement between and 

among Robinson, Briggs, and/or the Debtors in any of the Cases regarding the 

transfer of the fees from Robinson to such Debtor.  The Court previously directed 

Briggs and Robinson to bring these documents to the January 13 hearing, but 

they failed to submit these documents.  

In addition, the Court ORDERS that the Trustees, Robinson, Briggs, 

Critique Legal Services L.L.C. and Critique Services L.L.C. to appear for a status 

conference on February 4, 2015, at 10:00 A.M. (Central), so that the Court can 

be advised of whether turnover was accomplished. The UST is invited to attend. 

Any Trustee is excused from attending, provided that at least two other Trustees 

appear and have been authorized to represent the positions of any absent 

Trustee. This does not limit the number of Trustees that may appear. The Court 

also ORDERS that the hearing on the Show Cause Orders be RESET to 

February 18, 2015, at 1:00 P.M. 
The Court gives NOTICE that it may impose monetary or non-monetary 

sanctions upon any person who fails to comply with this Order. 

 
 
 
           CHARLES E. RENDLEN, III 
              U. S. Bankruptcy Judge 
 
DATED:  January 23, 2015 
St. Louis, Missouri 
ska 
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COPIES TO: 

 

Each Debtor in the above-referenced Cases, 
at his address as listed in each Case 
 
Critique Services L.L.C. 
3919 Washington Ave. 
St. Louis, MO 63105 
 
Critique Legal Services L.L.C. 
3919 Washington Ave. 
St. Louis, MO 63105 
 
Beverly Diltz 
3919 Washington Ave. 
St. Louis, MO 63105 
 
Laurence Mass 
230 S. Bemiston Ave. 
Suite 1200 
Clayton, MO   63105 
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Attachment 197 

 
Briggs’s January 24, 2015 letter to Robinson and Critique Services L.L.C. 





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Attachment 198 

 
Mass’s Notice of Appearance and Critique Services L.L.C.’s Response  

to the Order Compelling Turnover 
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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI

In re: )
)

Evette Nicole Reed, ) Case No. 14-44818-705
)

Debtor. )
)

In re: )
)

Pauline A. Brady, ) Case No. 14-44909-705
)

Debtor )
)

In re: )
)

Lawanda Lanae Long, ) Case No. 14-45773-705
)

Debtor )
)

In re: )
)

Marshall Beard, ) Case No. 14-43751-705
)

Debtor )
)

In re: )
)

Darrell Moore, ) Case No. 14-44434-705
)

Debtor )
)

In re: )
)

Nina Lynne Logan, ) Case No. 14-44329-705
)

Debtor )
)

In re: )
)

Jovon Neosha Stewart, ) Case No. 14-43912-705
)

Debtor )
)

In re: )
)

Angelique Renee Shields, ) Case No. 14-43914-705
)

Debtor )
)
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ENTRY OF APPEARANCE

In spite of the fact that Critique Services, LLC was not served with Motions to Disgorge

or any other action in the above-captioned eight bankruptcy cases for the above-named debtors,

Laurence D. Mass enters his appearance for Critique Services, LLC on the above-captioned

Motions to Disgorge.

Critique Legal Services, LLC was dissolved in 2003 as shown in the records of the

Secretary of State for the State of Missouri.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/  Laurence D. Mass                          

Laurence D. Mass #30977

Attorney for Critique Services, LLC

230 So. Bemiston Ave., Suite 1200

Clayton, Missouri 63105

Telephone: (314) 862-3333 ext. 20

Facsimile:  (314) 862-0605

Email: laurencedmass@att.net

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

By signature above I hereby certify that I electronically filed the foregoing with the

Clerk of the United States District Court, Eastern District of Missouri by using the

CM/ECF system, and that a copy will be served by the CM/ECF system upon those

parties indicated by the CM/ECF system.

By: /s/  Laurence D. Mass                  

mailto:laurencedmass@att.net
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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI

In re: )
)

Evette Nicole Reed, ) Case No. 14-44818-705
)

Debtor. )
)

In re: )
)

Pauline A. Brady, ) Case No. 14-44909-705
)

Debtor )
)

In re: )
)

Lawanda Lanae Long, ) Case No. 14-45773-705
)

Debtor )
)

In re: )
)

Marshall Beard, ) Case No. 14-43751-705
)

Debtor )
)

In re: )
)

Darrell Moore, ) Case No. 14-44434-705
)

Debtor )
)

In re: )
)

Nina Lynne Logan, ) Case No. 14-44329-705
)

Debtor )
)

In re: )
)

Jovon Neosha Stewart, ) Case No. 14-43912-705
)

Debtor )
)

In re: )
)

Angelique Renee Shields, ) Case No. 14-43914-705
)

Debtor )
)
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CRITIQUE SERVICES, LLC’S RESPONSE TO
THE TURNOVER DIRECTIVE DATED JANUARY 23, 2015

Critique Services, LLC responds to the Turnover Directive issued by the Bankruptcy

Court on January 23, 2015 as follows:

1. Critique Services, LLC has no documents that contain or set forth any fee

arrangement or terms of representation with any of the debtors named in the caption of these

proceedings with any attorney (“above-named debtors”).

2. Critique Services, LLC has no checks, money orders, receipts, receipt books,

ledgers, bank statements or other documents which reflect the payment of any fees or other

expenses by or on behalf of the above-named debtors and has no accounts into which any such

funds were deposited.

3. Critique Services, LLC has no checks, receipts, ledgers, check registers, journals,

adjustments, account settlements or other documents reflecting any disbursement, credit or debit

adjustment attributable to any portion of any fee by or on behalf of any above-named debtors or

in conjunction with or with Mr. Robinson, Mr. Briggs, or any business entity.  Critique Services,

LLC has no records that show any transfer of any funds from any person or entity’s trust account

to any operating account that reflect any payments by any of the above-named debtors.

4. Critique Services, LLC has no checks, receipts, bank statements, ledgers, or other

documents that reflect any refund or accounting or distribution made or given to any above-

named debtors with regard to any fee or expense paid by any above-named debtor or on any

above-named debtors’s behalf. 

5. Critique Services, LLC has only one contract that reflects or identifies an

arrangement between it and Mr. Robinson from the date of the first payment of a fee by any of
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the above-named debtors to the present.  It has no such agreement or contract with Mr. Briggs. 

Unrelated to any matter pertaining to the above-captioned causes to disgorge fees with regard to

the above-named eight debtors, in recent months Critique Services, LLC has entered into

agreements with attorneys Dean Meriwether and Dedra Brock-Moore.  Critique Services, LLC is

not producing these agreements.  It objects to producing these contracts as not having any

reasonable relationship to the proceedings to disgorge fees concerning the eight above-named

debtors and as not being calculated to produce any information that may be pertinent to the

Motions to Disgorge fees for any of these above-named debtors.  Critique Services, LLC has sent

a copy of the one contract it has to Trustee Sosne. 

6. See answer to No. 5 above.  The contract(s) referred to therein contain provisions

for use of the name “Critique Services.”

Respectfully submitted,

/s/  Laurence D. Mass                          

Laurence D. Mass #30977

Attorney for Critique Services, LLC

230 So. Bemiston Ave., Suite 1200

Clayton, Missouri 63105

Telephone: (314) 862-3333 ext. 20

Facsimile:  (314) 862-0605
Email: laurencedmass@att.net

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

By signature above I hereby certify that I electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk
of the United States District Court, Eastern District of Missouri by using the CM/ECF system,
and that a copy will be served by the CM/ECF system upon those parties indicated by the
CM/ECF system.

By: /s/  Laurence D. Mass                  

mailto:laurencedmass@att.net


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Attachment 199 
 

Order Denying Critique Services L.L.C.’s Motion to Disqualify the Judge (not 
including the attachments thereto, consisting of numerous previous orders in 

which the Court addressed the issue of whether the Judge must disqualify simply 
because the matter involves a person  

affiliated with the Critique Services Business) 
 



IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

 
In re:      §  
      § 

Evette Nicole Reed,   §  Case No. 14-44818-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §     
In re:      § 
      § 

Pauline A. Brady,   § Case No. 14-44909-705 
     §  

    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §  
In re:      § 
      § 
 Lawanda Lanae Long,   § Case No. 14-45773-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
      § 
In re:      § 
      § 

Marshall Beard,   § Case No. 14-43751-705 
     § 
   Debtor.  § 

______________________________________ § 
In re:      §  
      § 
 Darrell Moore,     § Case No. 14-44434-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ §  
In re:      § 
      § 
 Nina Lynne Logan,   § Case No. 14-44329-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
In re:      § 
      § 

Jovon Neosha Stewart,  § Case No. 14-43912-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
In re:      § 
      § 
 Angelique Renee Shields,  § Case No. 14-43914-705 
      § 
    Debtor.  § 
______________________________________ § 
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ORDER DENYING CRITIQUE SERVICES L.L.C.’S MOTION TO DISQUALIFY 
 

 On February 3, 2015, in the above-captioned case of In re Reed, Critique 

Services L.L.C. filed a Motion to Recuse and a Brief in support (together, the 

“Motion”), demanding the disqualification of the undersigned Judge. The Motion 

was filed in the afternoon of the day before a conference at which the status of 

Critique Services L.L.C.’s compliance with a turnover directive would be reported.  

The filing of a disqualification motion against this Judge is nothing new for 

Critique Services L.L.C.; it is Critique Services L.L.C.’s preferred modus operandi 

in the face of an order of this Court, as demonstrated by the multiple 

disqualification motions filed by Critique Services L.L.C. in the recent matters in 

In re Latoya Steward (Case No. 11-46399)1 and Steward v. Critique Services 

L.L.C., et al. (Adv. Proc. No. 13-4284).  And filing motions on the eve of a court 

date also is a commonly employed tactic of Critique Services L.L.C., as the 

record in In re Steward shows.   

The current Motion is a regurgitation of previous motions to disqualify filed 

by Critique Services L.L.C. Parts of the Motion appear to be lifted from previously 

filed motions. The Motion also is similar in theory to the motion to disqualify that 

was filed in each of the above-captioned matters by Mr. James Robinson, an 

attorney affiliated with Critique Services L.L.C. (Robinson’s motion was denied).   

In addition, the Court notes that, the instant Motion, Critique Services 

L.L.C. made the following false statements: 

• Critique Services L.L.C. falsely states that there is a pending motion (at 

times, motions) to disgorge. There is no such motion. There are Show 

Cause Orders and a Turnover Order. But there is no motion to disgorge.  

1 In In re Steward, the debtor—a former client of Critique Services L.L.C. and 
Robinson—filed a motion to disgorge attorney’s fees under 11 U.S.C. § 329. For 
months, Critique Services L.L.C. and Robinson contemptuously refused to make 
legally required discovery related to their business operations.  After issuing 
warnings, written notices, and escalating sanctions, the Court ultimately granted 
the motion to disgorge, imposed final monetary and non-monetary sanctions 
against Critique Services L.L.C. and Robinson, and suspended Robinson from 
the privilege of practicing before the Court. 
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It appears that Critique Services L.L.C.’s counsel did not bother to read 

the docket before demanding the Judge’s disqualification.  

• Critique Services L.L.C. falsely states that the Judge has disqualifying 

extrajudicial information from his service a decade ago as the United 

States Trustee (the “UST”). Critique Services L.L.C. made this same 

baseless allegation in In re Steward.  However, the Judge did not acquire 

any information about the above-captioned matters during his tenure as 

the UST.  The above-captioned matters were not even commenced until 

many years after the Judge resigned as the UST. The fact that the Judge 

is generally familiar with Critique Services L.L.C. from his service the UST 

on unrelated matters does not require his disqualification from these 

unrelated matters. 

• Critique Services L.L.C. falsely states that the Judge “acknowledges 

knowing much about Critique Services L.L.C. that goes beyond any 

evidence that was in the record that was before him when he entered [the 

final disposition in the contested matter in In re Steward].”  However, 

neither the Court nor the Judge ever made such acknowledgement, and 

Critique Services L.L.C. points to no event in which such an 

acknowledgement was made. To the contrary, in In re Steward, the Court 

repeatedly expressed its lack of knowledge about Critique Services L.L.C., 

how it operates, and its relationship with Mr. Robinson.  

To any degree, the Court has addressed this same argument so many 

times before that it has almost lost count.  But, once again, the Court will state: 

the fact that the Judge, as the UST, was the name-plaintiff many years ago in 

two unrelated lawsuits brought by the Office of the UST against Critique Services 

L.L.C. is not a ground for disqualification in these matters.  Likewise, the fact that, 

while the Judge served as the UST, the Office of the UST received numerous 

complaints about Critique Services L.L.C. is not a ground for disqualification in 

these matters. During his tenure as the UST, the Judge was exposed to no 

disqualifying extrajudicial information about the matters here.  The fact that the 

Judge served as the name-plaintiff in his capacity of governmental employment 
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in a suit against Critique Services L.L.C. does not disqualify him from presiding 

over these unrelated matters.  Critique Services L.L.C. is not entitled to a judge 

who, in his official capacity in governmental service, has never served as a 

name-plaintiff against it. Critique Services L.L.C. is not entitled virginal judge, 

untouched by previous experience with Critique Services L.L.C. It is entitled only 

to a judge who is not required to disqualify under § 455.  And Critique Services 

L.L.C. has alleged no facts show that disqualification is required under any § 455 

subsection, including under § 455(b)(3) (the statute that determines when former 

governmental employment requires disqualification) or § 455(a). 

Because Critique Services L.L.C. is not entitled yet-another lengthy 

opinion addressing this issue, the Court will simply order that the Motion be 

DENIED, and attach copies previous opinions, incorporating by reference the 

determination of facts and conclusions of law therein related to disqualification.  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
COPY MAILED TO: 
 
Ross H. Briggs  
Post Office Box 58628  
St. Louis, MO 63158 
 
James Clifton Robinson  
Critique Services  
3919 Washington Blvd.  
St. Louis, MO 63108 
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Laurence D. Mass  
230 S Bemiston Ave  
Suite 1200  
Clayton, MO 63105 
 
 
Office of US Trustee  
111 S Tenth St, Ste 6.353  
St. Louis, MO 63102 
 
Robert J. Blackwell  
Blackwell and Associates (trustee)  
P.O. Box 310  
O'Fallon, MO 63366-0310 
 
David A. Sosne  
Summers Compton Wells LLC  
8909 Ladue Rd.  
St. Louis, MO 63124 
 
Tom K. O'Loughlin  
O'Loughlin, O'Loughlin et al.  
1736 N. Kingshighway  
Cape Girardeau, MO 63701 
 
Kristin J Conwell  
Conwell Law Firm LLC  
PO Box 56550  
St. Louis, MO 63156 
 
Seth A Albin  
Albin Law  
7710 Carondelet Avenue  
Suite 405  
St. Louis, MO 63105 
 
E. Rebecca Case  
7733 Forsyth Blvd.  
Suite 500  
Saint Louis, MO 63105 
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Attachment 200 
 

Transcript of February 4, 2015 status conference 
 



UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI

ST. LOUIS DIVISION

IN RE:               )  Case No. 14-43751
)  Chapter 7

MARSHALL LOUIS BEARD, )  
)  

            Debtor.           )
IN RE:               )  Case No. 14-43912  

)  Chapter 7
JOVON NEOSHA STEWART, )  

)  
            Debtor.           )
IN RE:               )  Case No. 14-43914 

)  Chapter 7
ANGELIQUE RENEE SHIELDS, )  

)  
            Debtor.           )
IN RE:               )  Case No. 14-44329

)  Chapter 7
NINA LYNNE LOGAN, )  

)  
            Debtor.           )
IN RE:               )  Case No. 14-44434

)  Chapter 7
DARRELL MOORE AND )
JOCELYN ANTOINETTE MOORE, )  

)  
            Debtors.          )
IN RE:               )  Case No. 14-44818

)  Chapter 7
EVETTE NICOLE REED, )  

)  
            Debtor.           )
IN RE:               )  Case No. 14-44909

)  Chapter 7
PAULINE A. BRADY, )  

)  
            Debtor.           )
IN RE:               )  Case No. 14-45773
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THE CLERK:  Judge, we’re on a status hearing for1

several cases.  The first one, which appears on Page 2,2

Marshall Beard, 14-43751.3

THE COURT:  We’ll go ahead and take appearances.4

MR. SOSNE:  You’re talking about all the -- all the5

six cases?6

MR. BRIGGS:  Ross Briggs for debtor, Your Honor.7

MR. RANDOLPH:  Paul Randolph for the U.S. Trustee.8

MR. MASS:  Laurence Mass for Critique Services, LLC.9

MR. SOSNE:  David Sosne, trustee in three of the10

cases:  Long, Stewart, and Shields.11

MS. CONWELL:  Kristin Conwell, trustee in the Darrell12

Moore case.13

MR. ALBIN:  Seth Albin, Chapter 7 trustee in the14

Evette Nicole Reed case.15

MS. CASE:  Rebecca Case, Chapter 7 trustee for debtor16

Pauline Brady. 17

And I’m also responding today on behalf of Tom18

O’Loughlin, the Chapter 7 trustee for Nina Logan.19

MR. VOSS:  Bryan Voss on behalf of Robert J.20

Blackwell, the trustee in the Marshall Beard case.21

THE COURT:  And we’re here on one, and only one22

matter today.23

MR. SOSNE:  Right, Judge.  David Sosne.24

This is a status conference that the Court set25



5

TRANSCRIPTS PLUS, INC.
PHONE 215-862-1115 ! FAX 215-862-6639 ! E-MAIL CourtTranscripts@aol.com

pursuant to its order entered on January 23rd, 2015 with a1

hearing that’s supposed to go forward on the substance, or on2

some of the other issues, I believe on the 18th of February.3

The status conference here is to determine what has4

been turned over, where we are in connection with this matter.5

And I think here’s what I -- what I think I can6

report to the Court:  We have received, as the Court has seen,7

I’m sure, some affidavits that have been filed by the -- on8

behalf -- by the debtors or the debtor’s counsel have filed on9

the -- with the debtor’s signature.  We’ve seen some responses.10

And in terms of actual documents, I’ve canvassed some11

of the -- canvassed the trustees.  And what we have received is12

we’ve received engagement letters that reflect the employment,13

or that suggest the employment.  A contract between Mr.14

Robinson and Critique Services regarding various tasks and15

payments for use of space, or use of services.16

And we’ve also received some receipts that showed17

that when the debtors came into the offices of Critique18

Services, that cash was paid, and then there was a receipt19

given for the $300 or so for the -- for the -- for the20

services.21

That’s all fine.  But that’s what we have.22

Now here’s what we don’t know, and I’m really at a23

little bit of a loss to explain why I don’t know.  Because this24

seems to me so simple, yet becoming so complicated.  And let me25
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give by way of example because I do debtor work, too.1

When a debtor comes to my office, I meet with my2

client.  The lawyer meets with a client.  If the -- when the3

client pays the money, usually by check, occasionally by cash,4

preferably not by cash, the money then goes into the trust5

account of the firm.  And as we perform the services, the money6

is drawn down with regard to the services that are performed. 7

The work is done under my supervision, if I’m the attorney8

who’s the attorney of record.  And that the people in my9

office, who are employed by my firm, they either type up the10

schedules, or they are trained to obtain information under my11

supervision to comply the necessary documents, et cetera, et12

cetera, for the Chapter 7.  They’re all paid by our firm, and13

we move on.14

That’s how it works.  And then when we make15

disclosure of the fees, we put in the SOFA and in the 201616

disclosure what the fees were for the bankruptcy matter that we17

handled.  That’s what we do, and that’s what debtors do.18

Now here’s the problem:  We have no clue of how this19

is being done in connection with Critique and with Mr.20

Robinson.21

So -- now the trustees also, in addition, have22

experienced, because they’ve been through 341 meetings, we all23

have similar experiences.  But here’s what we do know at this24

point, or at least what we believe to know.  And if I’m wrong,25
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I’m wrong.  We know this:  The debtors come in to Critique1

Services based upon the name of Critique Services.  They go to2

the offices of Critique Services.  They meet with someone,3

other than a lawyer.  We know the names of the two people that4

they meet with.  It’s either a person by the name of Bay5

(phonetic), I don’t know if it’s a first or second name, and6

Charlotte.7

We know that money is paid almost exclusively in8

cash.  And that there may be a receipt given in for that cash9

receipt.  The money is handed to Bay or Charlotte.  We know10

that.11

We don’t know then what happens to that money, that12

cash.  We don’t know whether it’s deposited into a bank13

account.  We don’t know whether it sits in a drawer or stuffed14

in a mattress.  We have no idea of how that money flows.  It15

should go into a trust account if there’s an attorney, but we16

don’t know that.17

Then we have the -- we understand that the debtors18

come back in, and they meet with the Bay or -- Bay or19

Charlotte, or somebody else there.  And they meet with them a20

couple of times over a period of time.  And then recently, or21

in the last -- previously, they had not met with lawyers.  Then22

at -- near the end, they meet briefly with the lawyer.  Exactly23

what goes on there, I don’t know.  But it’s a short time.24

And then, of course, there’s the 341 meeting25



8

TRANSCRIPTS PLUS, INC.
PHONE 215-862-1115 ! FAX 215-862-6639 ! E-MAIL CourtTranscripts@aol.com

conducted with either that lawyer showing up, or if there are1

problems, sometimes there’s somebody else that comes in. 2

That’s what we know.3

What we don’t know then is, for example, the money4

should come in.  The money should go to the trust -- into the5

trust account.6

If the money is not going into the trust account,7

where is it going?  How is Mr. Robinson, who is not there for8

the initial meetings, how is he being paid?  Who’s paying9

Charlotte?  Who’s paying Bay?  Who types up the schedules?  Who10

interacts how?  How is this thing done?  What does the W-2 say11

of Charlotte or Bay?  Does it say that they’re employees of Mr.12

Robinson or Mr. Meriwether, as for today, or are they employees13

of Critique Services or are they independent contractors14

working for themselves?  We haven’t seen 1099s.  We haven’t15

seen W-2s.  We don’t know who they’re working for.16

And why is that relevant?  It’s relevant because if I17

get a fee, I know I have to pay my staff.  I have to factor in18

that in terms of whether that fee is reasonable.  So I don’t19

know whether that $300 is going exclusively to Mr. Robinson, or20

going to somebody else, or what the various arrangements are.21

The bottom line is this:  We really don’t know22

anything more than what we knew before.  And --23

THE COURT:  You mean the affidavit of Mr. Robinson24

didn’t clear everything up?25
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MR. SOSNE:  It clearly didn’t.  So it strikes me that1

somebody -- the only way to get at this information if -- first2

of all, I just disclosed to you how my firm does it, and I know3

every -- every trustee here who does debtor work does it the4

same way.5

And, in fact --6

THE COURT:  Isn’t that following --7

MR. SOSNE:  That’s what’s required.8

THE COURT:  -- the procedures and rules --9

MR. SOSNE:  Right.10

THE COURT:  -- that are set by the Office of11

Disciplinary Counsel?12

MR. SOSNE:  Sure.  There was issues of whether you’re13

supposed to -- whether you can put it into your firm’s14

operating account, or whether you put it in a trust account. 15

They want you to put it into the trust account.  We’ve tried to16

comply with that, not only for the rules but also for our legal17

malpractice carriers to show -- because what happens if the18

firm were to blow up and there’s funds, and you have to refund,19

or disgorge?  There’s all sorts of issues.  So it should go20

into the trust account.21

So that $299 should go into a trust account or it be22

-- have some flow.  We don’t know who Bay hands the money off23

to, like in a football game, whether they’ve given it to Mr.24

Lynch to run in for a touchdown to win the Super Bowl.  Wait,25
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that didn’t happen.1

THE COURT:  Oh, you’re --2

(Laughter)3

MR. SOSNE:  But the -- we just don’t know, as I said4

before, is follow the money, follow here it went, who gets5

paid, how is it done?  And the only way to accomplish that6

based upon where we are now -- and this is something that the7

trustees really don’t think that they should be in a position8

that they should have to do because it should be disclosed, is9

somebody would have to do a subpoena to get the W-2s of the10

people, get the tax returns, get the financial records, who’s11

reporting -- who’s reporting this income, who’s reporting these12

expenses, who’s employed by whom, who’s doing what?  Perhaps an13

inspection of the facility to see how it’s laid out, who’s14

officing where, they’re all officing in the same place.  What’s15

happening?  It’s not that complicated.16

Now is it because somebody is fearful that they --17

that they’re violating the order or the agreement that happened18

in connection with Judge Surratt-States?  Are they concerned19

about the issue of reporting because all of this is in cash? 20

Is there other issues here?  Is it that they’re concerned21

about, well, Mr. Robinson didn’t finish the -- he did only some22

of the tasks because he got suspended?  And then at least in my23

cases, Mr. Meriwether showed up at the 341 meeting.  I don’t24

know if he got paid.  I don’t know what happened there.25
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So we’ve -- I’ve done a little bit due diligence on1

my own.  So somebody’s going to either have to do a physical2

inspection -- an inspection, take multiple depositions of3

everybody and find out what did you do, when did you do it, why4

did you do it, where did it go?  And if it’s all in cash, why?5

So -- and then do subpoenas.  Well, that’s going to6

cost a fortune.  And the trustees have been doing -- have -- so7

this is where we are -- so that’s the status.  So if they’re8

required -- if Mr. Robinson is required to show cause, then I9

think it behooves him to come forward, rather than the trustees10

to go forward and say, “Okay, you haven’t disclosed it.  You11

haven’t provided that information.”  Mr. Briggs, who’s debtors’12

counsel, hasn’t subpoenaed that information.  He just gets13

affidavits from the debtors.  The debtors don’t know.  Why14

would they know?  My debtors don’t know what happens to the15

money when it comes into my firm other than my engagement16

letter says it goes into the trust account.17

So that’s where we are.  And I understand also that18

Mr. O’Loughlin, in his case, he didn’t get any of the documents19

that I mentioned.  That may have been an oversight.20

I think the other trustees -- unless -- because some21

trustees are here.  If they got other documents, they could22

speak for themselves, or if there are other issues.23

THE COURT:  They’re all shaking their heads, which24

means you speak for the --25
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MR. SOSNE:  Well, I’m not --1

THE COURT:  -- the body of trustees.2

MR. SOSNE:  I’m not -- right, I’m not the anointed3

one.  But I have three of the cases here, so --4

THE COURT:  Well, you’re as close as it gets.5

MR. SOSNE:  Well, if nominated, I will not run.6

(Laughter)7

MR. SOSNE:  And if elected, Judge, I’m not going to8

serve --9

THE COURT:  Hey, everybody’s trying throw their hands10

up, and this Court’s made an order --11

MR. SOSNE:  No, I am --12

THE COURT:  -- that’s pretty darn clear.13

MR. SOSNE:  I am -- I am -- I -- I am not like Mr.14

Romney who wants to run, and run, and run, no.  I would rather15

hide, and hide, and hide.16

So that’s where we are.  17

THE COURT:  I understand.18

MR. SOSNE:  Thank you.19

THE COURT:  All right.  Let’s hear some replies.20

MR. BRIGGS:  Your Honor, Ross Briggs for six of the21

eight debtors.  And I will talk about the six that I represent. 22

I did not understand I would have authority to seek information23

from someone I have not entered my appearance on.24

Each of the six debtors that I represented have25
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provided statements and/or notarized statements to each of the1

trustees.2

I chatted with Mr. Albin, he represents -- he doesn’t3

represent.  He was the trustee in Reed.  I was surprised to4

hear him relate that he didn’t get the Reed statement.  But I5

will represent to the Court that the first turnover, everything6

I had was shared with every trustee.  I can assure the Court7

that there is a signature of Ms. Reed.  She has provided a8

receipt.9

If I misdirected it, didn’t get it to the right10

place, I will get it to the right place ASAP. 11

Each of the debtors that I represent have provided12

receipt of the payment of the attorneys’ fees.  They -- one13

debtor could not recall -- could not read the name of the14

receipt.  All the other debtors -- I think it’s Mr. Beard that15

said I -- I just don’t remember her name, could not read the16

signature.  All the other debtors had a name, it’s been shared17

with the trustee.18

THE COURT:  Since you work with them, who was that19

person that signed that?  Don’t be doing that.  You know who20

works there.21

MR. BRIGGS:  I -- I have had no formal relationship22

with Critique as of August of 2012.  I have asked, as the Court23

has instructed, I have made a demand to Mr. Robinson, it’s in24

the court file, that mirrors the multiple requests that have25
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been asked.  And I’ve had -- I’ve had no response from Mr.1

Robinson.2

All of the retainer agreements have been provided to3

the trustees.  The receipts have been provided.  I’ve had4

conversations or multiple conversations with each debtor, other5

than Jovon Stewart.  Jovon Stewart had not replied to my voice6

mail, but she did respond to my correspondence.  She did bring7

in a notarized signature authenticating the receipt and the8

retainer, and that was provided about an hour after the9

deadline.  She’s the only debtor I haven’t talked with.  I’ve10

asked every other debtor to review their files, they’ve brought11

in what they have.  If they -- if I don’t have it, they’ve told12

me they don’t have anything more than what’s been produced.13

I’ve gotten no response from the correspondence that14

the Court instructed I submit to Mr. Robinson.15

And in summary, all of the documents that were either16

in the court file or at the debtors’ residents that were17

responsive have been produced and have been given to the18

trustees.19

If Mr. Albin doesn’t have his copy, perhaps I faxed20

it to the wrong place, and I will get his copy ASAP.21

THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, that’s sort of an update22

from your side.  That doesn’t sound like we’re having23

everything line up between the trustees and yourself.  Do you24

want to address that real quickly, Mr. Sosne --25
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MR. SOSNE:  Sure.1

THE COURT:  -- on what it is --2

MR. SOSNE:  I think that the approach that Mr. Briggs3

said --4

THE COURT:  It’s a start.5

MR. SOSNE:  -- sure, it’s nice to ask.  But he’s6

debtors’ counsel, if he doesn’t get the information, he can7

compel it.8

THE COURT:  Yeah.9

MR. SOSNE:  It’s his -- it’s his -- it’s his10

obligation to obtain that information.  And if somebody -- if11

Ms. Case doesn’t want to give me something, I can subpoena Ms.12

Case, which would be fun.  And then I would --13

THE COURT:  I don’t --14

MR. SOSNE:  She’s done it to me.15

THE COURT:  Proceed at your own peril.16

MR. SOSNE:  But the thing is this:  He -- Mr. Briggs17

is talking around the issue.  He could get at the issue if he18

wants to.19

THE COURT:  Well, that was my point.20

MR. SOSNE:  And he’s not, okay?  And Mr. Robinson --21

THE COURT:  I thought --22

MR. SOSNE:  Where is --23

THE COURT:  -- our order to compel --24

MR. SOSNE:  And where is Mr. Robinson?25
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THE COURT:  We don’t have Mr. Robinson in the1

courtroom today.2

MR. SOSNE:  He’s not -- he’s not here today to speak3

for himself, and he’s not forthcoming.  Now --4

THE COURT:  Well, he did say he got --5

MR. SOSNE:  To suggest that --6

THE COURT:  He did sign an affidavit that went on7

record saying it’s cash.  He doesn’t even say how he deals with8

it.9

MR. SOSNE:  Doesn’t -- it just -- I have no idea how10

the handoff happens.  It doesn’t happen, and we don’t have that11

information.12

And Mr. Briggs can get the information in the cases13

in which he’s involved.  And to suggest, Mr. Briggs, that you14

don’t even know who’s over there, you certainly know who was15

over there when you were involved.  And assuming what you say,16

that you haven’t been involved, and had no contact with them,17

which I don’t believe, quite frankly, I think he knows more18

than what he’s letting on. 19

But -- because it seems incredulous since he was the20

one -- all the incorporation papers have --21

THE COURT:  Well --22

MR. SOSNE:  -- Mr. Briggs’ address --23

THE COURT:  Let’s line out for Mr. Briggs on what he24

needs to do from your standpoint of the trustees, and I’ll25
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figure out what --1

MR. SOSNE:  Here’s what I want:  I want exactly what2

I mentioned.  I want to know the flow of the funds of how the3

money passed off, where it was deposited, if any, how4

Charlotte, Bay, or any of the other people were paid, and by5

whom, how the funds got ultimately -- or the amount of funds6

that got to Mr. Robinson, all of the things that I detailed of7

how I made this -- I made disclosure of how I handled things,8

let’s hear how they handled things, and to provide supporting9

documents.10

So if we say that there’s -- it’s two ninety-nine,11

and -- is that a net number?  Or is that a gross number?  And12

if they pay Bay, do they pay Bay in cash?  Do they pay13

Charlotte in cash?  Do they provide 1099s? 14

THE COURT:  Well --15

MR. SOSNE:  They could give us W-2s.  They could16

redact the dollar amounts, they could redact the Social17

Security numbers.  We want to know who’s doing what.18

THE COURT:  Well, isn’t that logical?19

MR. SOSNE:  Of course.20

THE COURT:  And even how they handle the payment of21

fees to the Court for filing.  We haven’t even gone there yet.22

MR. SOSNE:  I was just talking about fees.23

THE COURT:  I know.24

MR. SOSNE:  And -- and the meetings, and all these25
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other things, they give -- they give rise to all sorts of1

issues that are beyond the scope of your show cause order.  But2

perhaps maybe that’s -- there are reasons why the information3

is not forthcoming.4

It would be very simple -- it would take -- it took5

me less than two minutes to describe how I handle a Chapter 7.6

THE COURT:  Which I might say --7

MR. SOSNE:  Mr. Robinson --8

THE COURT:  -- a vast majority of practitioners that9

like to keep their license do that.10

MR. SOSNE:  Well, that’s exactly right.11

So it would take him and Mr. Briggs about five12

minutes to explain the same thing, and provide that13

information.14

I can provide you with my trust account records, if15

needs be.  I could -- we have somebody who handles our trust16

account.17

THE COURT:  I think that’s a compliance in order to18

get your law license in the State of Missouri.19

MR. SOSNE:  Anyway, I think --20

THE COURT:  Anyway --21

MR. SOSNE:  -- Mr. Briggs is being less than -- all22

the things that he’s done are things that don’t get to the core23

of the issue.  And he has the power and the ability, he doesn’t24

have the desire to do it.25
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MR. BRIGGS:  Quick response, Your Honor.  Mr. Sosne1

references incorporation documents with my signature.  There2

aren’t any.  I can’t --3

MR. SOSNE:  I didn’t say signature.  Your address.4

THE COURT:  He did say address.5

MR. BRIGGS:  Not --6

THE COURT:  You’re -- speak to the issue, Mr. Briggs.7

MR. BRIGGS:  Two --8

THE COURT:  Quit beating around the bush.9

MR. BRIGGS:  Two responses, Your Honor.10

THE COURT:  I let you do that last time.11

MR. BRIGGS:  The -- the receipts have identified the12

payments, they were in cash.  The debtors have said that in13

their signatures.  The trustees have all the documents. 14

The debtors say they have no idea what the15

disposition of the payments were made thereafter.  I have no16

idea what the disposition of the payments were made thereafter. 17

I asked Mr. Robinson to provide that information.  My response18

has been ignored.19

Number two, the Court has said that these funds are20

matters of the estate.  If they are matters of the estate,21

debtors really don’t have standing to collect estate funds,22

that’s a trustee job.23

Second --24

THE COURT:  I guess I’ll make that decision.25
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MR. BRIGGS:  Secondly, I’ve reviewed this with every1

debtor, and my duties run to the debtor.  They know what’s2

going on.  They’ve all gotten a refund.  Not a single one has3

given me the authority, has asked me to do what’s been4

requested.  My duty is to the debtors, and I’m performing.5

THE COURT:  Why aren’t you forthcoming, Mr. Briggs?6

MR. BRIGGS:  Because I represent the debtor.7

THE COURT:  No, why aren’t you forthcoming?8

MR. BRIGGS:  I am forthcoming.9

THE COURT:  As an officer of this Court, on10

explaining what’s going on.11

MR. BRIGGS:  I have, Your Honor.12

THE COURT:  You never treated me this way when we did13

our jury trial in the ‘90's.  You were totally forthcoming,14

even when you agreed to disagree.  I don’t understand what your15

change in personality has been.16

MR. BRIGGS:  There’s been no change.  It’s utterly17

forthcoming.  We’ve heard much testimony about matters we might18

have heard last week, or last month.  There’s no evidence. 19

There’s none.  And I’ve been forthcoming, and there’s no20

evidence to support any finding to the contrary.  None.21

THE COURT:  Okay.  I’ll be the judge of that.22

Mr. Mass, get up here and explain what the heck23

Critique’s position is.24

MR. MASS:  Just a little bookkeeping first, Your25
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Honor.  My client was never served with these eight motions to1

disgorge.  And, in fact, your last order, which was mailed to2

my office, was not received by me until the 29th, although3

someone gave it to me earlier.4

So my client did voluntarily ask me to enter the5

appearance, and I filed a response to the five -- six requests. 6

That’s number one.7

Number two:  In my filings in this case, which has8

been very view, I filed it in the case of the lead debtor of9

the eight listed.  I don’t know whether I should file eight10

times any motion I file, or something else, or whether it’s11

sufficient to file it in the lead case.  Because I thought,12

given the way it was structure, the heading, that that was13

sufficient.  So --14

THE COURT:  You used the heading of all the --15

MR. MASS:  The heading I -- my secretary put the16

heading of all eight cases, but it was actually filed in the17

lead one, the first case mentioned in the heading.18

MS. WILLIE:  Your Honor, as an administrative matter,19

these cases are not consolidated.  If you want relief in any20

one particular case, you have to file a copy of your motion in21

every single case.22

THE COURT:  How’s that for clarification at this23

point?24

MR. MASS:  That’s fine, I will do that --25



22

TRANSCRIPTS PLUS, INC.
PHONE 215-862-1115 ! FAX 215-862-6639 ! E-MAIL CourtTranscripts@aol.com

THE COURT:  Okay.1

MR. MASS:  -- in -- in the future.2

THE COURT:  All right.3

MR. MASS:  Okay.  The other thing I do want to put on4

the record, my objection to where this proceeding is going. 5

Because I do think that with all of the fees having been repaid6

to these eight debtors, the motion to disgorge is -- are moot. 7

And that --8

THE COURT:  That’s not the essence.9

MR. MASS:  I’ll get to the essence, but I still have10

to put on the record --11

THE COURT:  Okay.12

MR. MASS:  -- what I need to defend for my client,13

sir.14

That’s the same as I filed a motion for recusal,15

knowing that you’ve already rejected it, and you’ll probably16

reject it again.  But I --17

THE COURT:  Well, it has been rejected.18

MR. MASS:  Right.19

THE COURT:  It’s filed this morning.20

MR. MASS:  But -- but I -- but I also indicated in21

there that I felt I needed to make the record for my client. 22

So I feel it’s necessary if you will just indulge me for a23

couple minutes to make the record for my client.24

And I think many of the matters that are going into25
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about what happens once the fee is paid may deal with1

professional responsibilities, but don’t come under any of2

these motions to disgorge.  And that the Court has really no3

jurisdiction to go under those, that’s one objection.4

THE COURT:  Who has the jurisdiction?5

MR. MASS:  Well, maybe the disciplinary counsel, if6

there’s something wrong going on.7

THE COURT:  So the Bankruptcy Court, even though8

provided in -- then you need to give me a primer on --9

MR. MASS:  Okay.10

THE COURT:  -- the code sections.  And last time I11

looked, I believe they were 326 through 330 as the core code12

sections.13

Give me a primer on why we don’t have jurisdiction. 14

And --15

MR. MASS:  Okay.  The other thing --16

THE COURT:  -- I’ll give you an opportunity to17

prepare a brief on exactly why this Court does not have18

jurisdiction to inquire on those matters as set out in those19

code sections, okay?20

MR. MASS:  Okay.  The next thing I object to is that21

it seems to me much -- and what is apparent, that much of22

what’s complained about here is whether or not Critique23

Services is in violation of the agreement from 2007 that was24

entered into the consent order in front of Judge Surratt-25
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States.  There is already litigation proceeding under that1

consent order by the U.S. Trustee.2

It seems to me that all of these matters should be3

with regard to whether or not the 2007 consent order was4

violated.  This should be in the Court of Judge Surratt-States,5

and should be in the hands of the U.S. Trustee to proceed in6

the way it’s doing with those other matters.  Because otherwise7

we run the risk of different adjudications on similar issues8

from different judges.9

THE COURT:  Actually no, we don’t.  I’ve reviewed10

that 2007 order, and that’s not the essence of what we’re doing11

here.  But I -- you can register your complaint.12

MR. MASS:  Well, I do think it is the essence of what13

we’re doing.  Because when Mr. Sosne says he wants to know who14

the money is going to, how it’s being allocated in the trust15

funds, et cetera, et cetera, those deal with very -- the very16

issues that were in the 2007 consent judgment.17

THE COURT:  They’re parallel issues, they’re not the18

same.19

MR. MASS:  I believe they are.20

THE COURT:  Okay.21

MR. MASS:  And --22

THE COURT:  We disagree.23

MR. MASS:  We --24

THE COURT:  You and I disagree.  I think I’ll be the25
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decider on that.1

MR. MASS:  I think between you and me, you have that2

authority.3

With regard to any other issue that Mr. Sosne raised,4

my client does not have these records.  My client does, as per5

the 2007 agreement and consent order, provides services for --6

provides an office, provides software, business related7

services.  But when the client comes in, and the money is paid,8

that is the money of the attorney which, up until June 10th,9

has always been Mr. Robinson, at least the last several years.10

And that the employees that are in that office are11

the employees of Mr. Robinson.  And my client doesn’t have12

records about -- and the trust account is the trust account of13

Mr. Robinson.14

THE COURT:  You have a clarification problem here. 15

Mr. Robinson has gone on record in this Court the last time he16

was here that he doesn’t have employees.  17

MR. MASS:  Well, they’re not employees of my client,18

and my client hasn’t paid them.19

THE COURT:  Well, whose employees are they?20

MR. MASS:  Of Mr. --21

THE COURT:  That’s the -- that’s one of the essences22

of this case.  Who does what?23

MR. MASS:  I know.  But they’re not employees of my24

client.25
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And the trust fund --1

THE COURT:  Well, don’t you have a --2

MR. MASS:  -- is the trust fund for an attorney.3

THE COURT:  What if you were just trying to tie this4

up, who’s -- you just said they’re employees -- so your client5

would sign an affidavit that they’re employees of Mr. Robinson6

until June 10, 2014 --7

MR. MASS:  Yes.8

THE COURT:  -- when he was suspended?9

MR. MASS:  And even thereafter.10

THE COURT:  Well, whose employees would they be then?11

MR. MASS:  The attorneys that were doing the work,12

they were the employees of Mr. Robinson still.13

THE COURT:  Okay.  That’s as clear as mud to me, I’m14

sorry.15

MR. MASS:  That’s the information I have, sir.16

THE COURT:  Anything else you want to give us?17

MR. MASS:  I have nothing else to give you, sir.18

THE COURT:  Other than the -- are you having any19

jurisdictional problems on behalf of your client as far as20

giving us an affidavit and the information we need from her?21

MR. MASS:  Well, I think -- the jurisdictional issues22

go to this entire proceeding at this point.  And so, yes, I do. 23

But if you need my client to give an affidavit with regard to24

that while we later submit --25
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THE COURT:  Well, there are certain parts you1

obviously don’t disagree with as far as they are facts, okay,2

subject to your objections.3

MR. MASS:  Right.4

THE COURT:  They’re just facts.5

MR. MASS:  Right.6

THE COURT:  We’re interested in facts.7

MR. MASS:  Right.8

THE COURT:  So you’re not adverse to giving an9

affidavit --10

MR. MASS:  If --11

THE COURT:  --on the facts you’ve just stated on the12

record here?13

MR. MASS:  I am not.14

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  15

MR. MASS:  Is there anything else, Your Honor?16

THE COURT:  Not at this time.  I’ll hear from Mr.17

Sosne, anything else?18

MR. SOSNE:  Just briefly.  I heard from Mr. Mass, and19

what he said.  To say that the Court doesn’t have jurisdiction20

over the fees paid is bankruptcy 101.  The first time I ever21

did a bankruptcy, and the last time I ever did a bankruptcy22

case, the Court seems to have -- the Court seems to have23

jurisdiction over fees, always to my chagrin because sometimes24

I get nicked from here and there.  And that’s the way of the25
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world, but that’s bankruptcy 101.1

So if he -- if he comes up with something that says2

that we’re not accountable for our fees throughout the case,3

and how they’re dealt with, boy, I think all these -- all the4

bankruptcy lawyers will be quite surprised.5

THE COURT:  We’ll all be enlightened and teach it6

differently when we teach it.7

MR. SOSNE:  Secondly, in terms of who gets paid what,8

or this or that, that all goes to what the reasonableness of9

the fee.  Do you have employees?  Do you have overhead?  How10

does it work?  What’s reasonable?  And it would be interesting11

to know -- and I -- and I’m not going to repeat what I want,12

but it would be interesting to know from Mr. Mass and Mr.13

Briggs, what are the full names of Charlotte and Bay?  If they14

don’t know that, that would be very interesting.15

So I would ask the Court to ask them, what are their16

full names since they apparently have worked in the offices of17

Critique Legal Services, and everything seems to be surrounding18

and flowing from Critique Legal Services as the clients come in19

because of Critique Legal Services.   They don’t come in to20

hire Mr. Robinson or Mr. Meriwether, or anybody else.  They’re21

looking at Critique Legal Services because it’s inexpensive,22

and they’re looking for the cheapest way to go through a23

process, which I understand.24

And I understand low cost -- low cost bankruptcies25
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and the need for trying to get services.  But that doesn’t1

excuse compliance with the law.2

So what are the names of Charlotte and Bay?3

MR. MASS:  Your Honor --4

THE COURT:  Sure.5

MR. MASS:  -- can I just interject one thing?6

THE COURT:  Sure.7

MR. MASS:  Mr. Sosne kept referring several times to8

Critique Legal Services.  9

MR. SOSNE:  I meant Critique Services.10

MR. MASS:  So --11

THE COURT:  Well, we -- in this Court --12

MR. MASS:  Yes.13

THE COURT:  -- we will refer -- “Legal” had to be14

taken out as a settlement long ago.15

MR. MASS:  In 2003.16

THE COURT:  It’s Critique Services.17

MR. MASS:  Yes.18

THE COURT:  We all know that.  We have orders on19

file.  We have clarified that.  20

The problem is Mr. Sosne is stuck in the same time21

warp that many of us that are over 60 have, and we remember the22

Critique Legal --23

MR. SOSNE:  I object to that, Your Honor.24

(Laughter)25
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THE COURT:  You resemble that.  Anyway -- so do I. 1

And if this Court refers to your client as Critique Legal, I2

apologize.  We know it to be Critique Services, LLC, the3

registered entity that is with the Secretary of State.4

MR. MASS:  Correct. 5

THE COURT:  And which Beverly Holmes, originally, now6

Diltz --7

MR. MASS:  Correct8

THE COURT:  -- is on file.  And anybody can get those9

records from the Secretary of State.  You have no problem with10

that.  We -- so you guys are on record saying you don’t have11

any problems with the Secretary of State filings.  We can12

establish that, is that fair, Mr. Mass?13

MR. MASS:  It is, Your Honor.14

THE COURT:  Okay.  Now on to the rest of the issues.15

MR. BRIGGS:  I wish I knew, Your Honor.  I’ve16

certainly met Bay, and I’ve met Charlotte.  Charlotte is a mid17

‘40's African American woman, short cropped hair, blond hair. 18

I don’t know her last name.  Her name is Charlotte.19

I think -- Bay -- I think I’ve met her, she’s a20

younger African American woman, maybe mid ‘20's.  I don’t know21

that I was told her name.  I don’t know her name.22

THE COURT:  Seems like it’d be pretty easy to figure23

out since they’re employees of somebody.24

MR. SOSNE:  That just goes to what very simple stuff25
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I’m talking about.1

THE COURT:  I know.2

MR. SOSNE:  Just walk over to Critique Services and3

say --4

THE COURT:  Isn’t this painful?5

MR. SOSNE:  -- “Hi, I’m Ross Briggs.  What is your6

name?”7

THE COURT:  What is your full name, for the record?8

MR. SOSNE:  And the other thing, of course, it would9

be interesting to see the operating agreement of Critique10

Services.  Because that is not of record, just the11

incorporation records, but the operating agreement.12

THE COURT:  So you’re requesting --13

MR. SOSNE:  Well, it’d be interesting.14

THE COURT:  -- the operating agreement, aren’t you?15

MR. SOSNE:  I don’t -- it shows -- it would show the16

ownership.  It would show the ownership of Critique Services.17

THE COURT:  Um-hum.18

MR. SOSNE:  And it would show how it would --19

THE COURT:  Well, you know, with the Secretary of20

State --21

MR. SOSNE:  That’s not filed.22

THE COURT:  -- in order to get your LLC registered,23

you had to file or --24

MR. SOSNE:  No, you don’t have to file the operating25
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agreement.1

THE COURT:  You -- no, you have to have an operating2

agreement under the statute.3

MR. SOSNE:  Well, a lot of people don’t, but some4

people do.  Most people do.  And --5

THE COURT:  Maybe Mr. Mass can address --6

MR. SOSNE:  Yeah.7

THE COURT:  -- whether there’s a written --8

MR. SOSNE:  Let’s see the operating agreement.9

THE COURT:  -- operating agreement.10

MR. MASS:  Frankly, I don’t know because nobody asked11

me up to this point.  I know in my dealing in other lawsuits12

that not every LLC -- you don’t have to -- it’s not required to13

have an operating agreement.14

THE COURT:  Well, I think the Statute requires it, if15

you read it closely.  When I did them -- when I did a lot -- I16

did hundreds of LLCs in the old days, and you had to have an17

operating agreement.18

But does it have to be filed?  No.  But believe it or19

not, I would send it in so it would be stamped and sent back. 20

It’s just good practice.21

MR. MASS:  Right.  The other thing is -- I think I’ve22

already said in various pleadings or otherwise, whether23

directly in this case, if my -- that Beverly Holmes Diltz is24

the only member and owner of Critique Services, LLC.  So -- I25
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mean --1

THE COURT:  I know.  But everybody’s not talking to2

the issue, which will be addressed --3

MR. MASS:  Okay.4

THE COURT:  -- and what’s, unfortunately, going to5

have to be additional motions to compel.6

MR. SOSNE:  Your Honor, just in conclusion.  Where it7

leaves us is we don’t have the information.  We have the8

hearing on the 18th.  I guess it’s up to the Court to --9

whether the Court wants to issue another order to say, “Produce10

the information” or the -- or what we have is sufficient.  Or11

if you want the U.S. Trustee to be involved, and do some of12

these things.  Whatever.13

But bottom line is this:  My -- my feeling is I’ve14

done -- and the other trustees have done various discovery and15

some of the reasonable due diligence under the circumstances. 16

And we’ll -- we could show up here on the 18th, and if people -17

- if we need to put people on the stand, we’ll ask them18

questions.19

But it’s --20

THE COURT:  Sounds like an associate court case,21

doesn’t it?22

MR. SOSNE:  No, I -- it’s -- my intention was -- is23

not -- I didn’t want to turn it into a five-day trial, and24

bringing in Bay, and Charlotte, and Meriwether, and Robinson,25
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and everybody else and put them under oath, and then -- and Ms.1

Diltz, and get subpoenas for documents, and all this other2

stuff.  I just -- it’s -- as I said, it’s very simple.  It3

could be easily provided and, interestingly, it’s not.4

So I’m -- I intend to show up on the 18th.  We’ve5

done, as far as where we’re going, and it’s their6

responsibility to come forward rather than ours, to just go7

sit, and look for a needle in a haystack.8

If other trustees disagree with me, they’re certainly9

free to say so.10

THE COURT:  No, let’s -- Mr. Randolph, come on up and11

-- you heard the concerns, and --12

MR. RANDOLPH:  Right.13

THE COURT:  -- in light of what’s going on, are you14

guys willing to do some additional legwork for all of the15

trustees since it involves all the cases, or -- how do you look16

at this?17

MR. RANDOLPH:  Well, of course, Your Honor -- and we18

are in the process in connection with the four matters before19

Judge Surratt-States in conducting discovery.  As a matter of20

fact, I met with Mr. Mass and Ms. Holmes-Diltz for almost an21

hour after our last hearing, and I think there was some useful22

information that if Mr. Mass is willing, he could share it with23

the Court as far as how the operations are right now, how the24

money -- at least according to her is being handled, and what25



35

TRANSCRIPTS PLUS, INC.
PHONE 215-862-1115 ! FAX 215-862-6639 ! E-MAIL CourtTranscripts@aol.com

safeguards have been in put place as far as --1

THE COURT:  Oh, so that’s already been disclosed, so2

that could be consistent with what’s going on in the other3

case.4

MR. RANDOLPH:  Right.  Right.  And it may be that5

even though Bay and Charlotte are not employees of Ms. Holmes-6

Diltz, she may at least have knowledge about their complete7

full names.8

THE COURT:  It sounds like they use her software.9

MR. RANDOLPH:  Right.  Right.  So to the extent that10

Critique Services or Ms. Holmes-Diltz has that information, we11

would encourage Mr. Mass to find out from his client so that12

can be produced to the trustees, as well.13

And we, of course, believe that this Court has14

jurisdiction over all of the fees in this matter.  Not only15

pursuant to Section 329 of the Bankruptcy Code, but other16

provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.17

THE COURT:  Last time we checked.18

MR. RANDOLPH:  Thank you.19

THE COURT:  So there we are.  And, Mr. Mass, you20

heard -- are you willing to provide an affidavit consistent21

with what you’ve already told the U.S. Trustee, or shall I22

order that?23

MR. MASS:  Yeah, I am.24

THE COURT:  You’re voluntarily saying that?25
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MR. MASS:  Yes.1

THE COURT:  Oh, okay.  All right.  Well, that would2

be helpful.  We may have to massage the date.3

MR. SOSNE:  Well, we still have the 18th, and --4

THE COURT:  Well, that’s what I mean.5

MR. SOSNE:  -- it would be helpful --6

THE COURT:  We may have to massage the date.7

MR. SOSNE:  It would be -- also be helpful if before8

an affidavit is prepared, that somebody actually tell us what9

happened so that they can tell the Court, and we could report10

to the Court what happened, who’s who.  It’s like who’s on11

first.12

THE COURT:  Yeah.13

MR. SOSNE:  It’s the old Abbott and --14

THE COURT:  There’s going to be some --15

MR. SOSNE:  It’s -- it’s -- it’s like --16

THE COURT:  I -- I’m getting the same feeling you17

are, that things need to be tightened up.  And we’re going to18

have set responsibilities, and certain responsiveness will be19

required.20

MR. SOSNE:  And have -- and have Mr. Briggs -- he21

says that Mr. Robinson doesn’t respond.  Well, Mr. Briggs can22

take the deposition of Mr. Robinson or subpoena him.23

THE COURT:  The Court order --24

MR. SOSNE:  Or Critique.25
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THE COURT:  -- will address these issues.1

MR. SOSNE:  Or Bay, or anybody else for that matter2

since he’s debtor’s counsel.  And as the order said, if the3

money should have been disgorged and reviewed, why did he sit4

on his hands for six months until the Court did something?  So5

why --6

THE COURT:  And why wasn’t the money actually in a7

trust account?8

MR. SOSNE:  So I say let’s put the onus where it9

should be.  To say that, “Oh, I asked the debtors,” that’s not10

the -- that’s -- that’s the wrong question.  That’s like saying11

if I want to know who won --12

THE COURT:  Well, the debtors don’t know --13

MR. SOSNE:  If I want to know who the Super Bowl, my14

question is I asked who played, that doesn’t ask who won.  So15

it’s speaking around the issue.  If he --16

THE COURT:  Well, debtors aren’t going to now how17

things --18

MR. SOSNE:  It has nothing to do with the --19

THE COURT:  -- flow in any law office.20

MR. SOSNE:  No, what the --21

THE COURT:  They aren’t even going to know22

compensation.23

MR. SOSNE:  No, what the debtors do know -- and when24

I’ve been through 341 meetings with Critique Services over the25
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years, is they often don’t know who their attorney is.  And1

they -- and they sit there and dispute -- there’s all sorts of2

things that go on.3

THE COURT:  Well, you mean Critique Services.4

MR. SOSNE:  Well, sometimes they -- the attorneys5

would come in and say they’re here for -- on behalf of Critique6

Services on the record.  7

Now -- now they may say I’m here on -- as Mr.8

Robinson or Mr. Meriwether, or whatever.9

But sometimes the debtors don’t always know who the10

lawyer is.  And the lawyer has to find out who the debtor. 11

It’s like showing up to a trial and trying to find out -- and,12

oh, hi, I’m David Sosne.13

THE COURT:  Yeah.14

MR. SOSNE:  But there’s all sorts of things that are15

out there.  So I think it’s incumbent upon Mr. Robinson, and as16

the Court has -- has addressed, Mr. Briggs, let them come17

forward and make them provide the information, as well as18

Critique Services.  They’re all in that office. 19

Or if the Court wants, let’s go over there and let’s20

take a look.21

THE COURT:  Remember --22

MR. SOSNE:  Unusual --23

THE COURT:  Mr. Briggs knows I’ve been there and done24

that.25
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MR. SOSNE:  Okay.  So, in any --1

THE COURT:  Back long before I was U.S. Trustee.2

MR. SOSNE:  In any event --3

THE COURT:  Picked up a few checks, didn’t I, Mr.4

Briggs?5

MR. SOSNE:  In any event, I think that it is -- it is6

incumbent upon them to do what the Court ordered.  We have7

facilitated it.  We will be here on the 18th.8

THE COURT:  Or whatever date we --9

MR. SOSNE:  Whatever -- whatever time you tell me to10

be here.11

THE COURT:  Okay.  And to get it straight, I’m -- Mr.12

Randolph, on behalf of the U.S.T., look for an order that’s13

going to incorporate you in reviewing and proceeding on the14

validation of certain information, especially if it comes from15

Critique, so that it’s consistent with what’s going on across16

the way, to a degree.  That doesn’t mean that we aren’t going17

to delve into it with these remaining cases that we have before18

us here.  But we do have two unrepresented debtors, and Mr.19

Briggs is not in those cases, but Critique was involved.20

MR. RANDOLPH:  We will do so, Your Honor.21

THE COURT:  Okay.  And, Mr. Mass --22

MR. MASS:  I’m very new to all of the proceedings in23

this Court.  But is there a reason why the eight couldn’t be24

consolidated so we -- any pleadings filed could be just done in25
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one pleading instead of eight times?1

THE COURT:  Well, the problem is Mr. Briggs is only2

in six.  3

MR. MASS:  How about those six being consolidated so4

it makes it still somewhat easier?  I mean -- I’m just asking5

as an administrative thing.  I’m not trying to --6

THE COURT:  I know.7

MR. MASS:  -- make it difficult.8

THE COURT:  And we may -- we may talk about that.9

MS. WILLIE:  I can come up with an administrative10

order for you, sir, if that’s what you would like.11

THE COURT:  Well, let’s do that on Mr. Mass’s oral12

request, if it -- don’t want to do that?  Well, if the trustees13

don’t want to consent, then I won’t be doing that.14

Ms. Case, you would like to be heard on this matter?15

MS. CASE:  Your Honor, I’d like to have some time to16

think about it.17

THE COURT:  Sure.18

MS. CASE:  I mean I -- I don’t think that we want19

these consolidated, but that’s just my first gut reaction in20

regard to the case -- in regard to that request.21

And I would just like to second the things that Mr.22

Sosne has had to say for us here today.  I was hoping to have23

for the Court some additional information.  I just have my24

notes from the meeting of creditors on the 16th of January, and25
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I’d like to share those with everyone.  And I’m -- Mr. Briggs1

and I were looking for a solution to where we all find2

ourselves here today earlier, and I said the solution’s very3

simple:  It’s the things that Mr. Sosne has asked for that we4

all could provide in a matter of a couple of hours from our law5

firm.6

But this was the case of Sylvia Scales, January the7

16th, it’s my 1:30 docket, it’s Track Number 43.  And I asked8

the debtor -- Mr. Meriwether was there with the debtor.  And I9

asked the debtor when she went to Critique, who was the first10

person she saw.  And she said she saw Charlotte.  She couldn’t11

remember her name, but she described her.  And then Dean12

Meriwether provided the name, and the debtor confirmed that was13

correct.14

Debtor said she paid Charlotte.  She went back a15

second time, and she saw Charlotte.16

She thought she went back a third time, she thought17

she saw Charlotte.18

She paid Charlotte each time.  She’d get a receipt19

out of a receipt book from Charlotte.20

And at the very end of her case, she went in, and she21

saw Dean Meriwether, and she didn’t pay him any money.  They22

were together about 15 minutes.  And Mr. Meriwether, when I23

asked him, he didn’t dispute any of this.24

I started asking him questions, his answers were25
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inconsistent.  I asked if Charlotte was his employee.  I think1

he first answered me yes.  But then later on, he changed his2

answer when I started asking about W-2s and 1099s.3

Dean Meriwether confirmed that Charlotte --4

THE COURT:  Well, who gave the W-2s or 1099s?5

MS. CASE:  He -- he doesn’t know.  He doesn’t know if6

he gets one.  Dean Meriwether indicated that Charlotte7

collected the money, and Charlotte gave the money to Renee. 8

And Renee was in charge of the money and what happened to the9

money.  But Mr. Meriwether wasn’t sure what happened to the10

money next.11

I asked him if Renee put it in the bank, and he12

indicated he didn’t know.13

He indicated he doesn’t pay Critique, Critique pays14

him.  I think he said he -- that they paid him each week.15

I asked if he was paid a flat amount or by the case. 16

My recollection is that he said he was not paid by the case,17

but a flat amount.18

When I asked owned who Critique -- who owns Critique19

Services, LLC, he indicated he didn’t know.  He then gave me a20

list of names that may be the owners or are the owners,21

Beverly, Bay, Corey, and maybe Shay (phonetic).22

When I showed him the 2016, he didn’t know what it23

was.  He looks surprised when I showed it to him and I asked24

him was this his electronic signature.25
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He denied that it was false.  He denied that he was1

sharing fees with anyone.  He just kept repeating that he was2

working in a high volume practice and he didn’t know the3

answers to my questions.4

I think he started answering me truthfully when I5

asked him about his own personal income tax return, and what6

was it going to show about the income that he was receiving, or7

the income that he was paying out to other people.8

That kind of summarizes the meetings of creditors9

that we -- that we have as trustees and the frustrations that10

we have with this process.11

I don’t think anything’s changed.  I don’t -- I don’t12

think anything’s changed at all.13

THE COURT:  This is most confusing.14

MS. CASE:  I --15

THE COURT:  Wouldn’t you find this -- something --16

MS. CASE:  Something is wrong.  And -- and, again, I17

think to begin, everyone kind of thought what was wrong was18

there’s an order from Judge Surratt-States.  Is it that?  Is it19

a tax problem? 20

There’s a simple solution.  As I said to Mr. Briggs21

when I started here today, all we need is the information that22

Mr. Sosne has asked for, and that’s the summary of this today.23

MR. SOSNE:  By the way, Mr. Meriwether -- one thing24

because I have had a similar situations.  He gets paid each25
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week in cash.  So it’s cash, that’s what he said.  So --1

THE COURT:  What?  Isn’t that sort of suspicious?2

MR. SOSNE:  Well, it’s a cash --3

THE COURT:  In a law business?4

MR. SOSNE:  It’s all -- seems to be all cash.  All5

cash.6

THE COURT:  Mr. Albin would like be heard.  Uh-oh.7

MR. ALBIN:  Judge --8

THE COURT:  That’s all right.  Mr. Robinson isn’t9

here today.10

MR. ALBIN:  It’s okay, Judge.  I’m -- 11

THE COURT:  It’s okay.12

MR. ALBIN:  I’m a big boy, I can handle myself, but13

thank you.14

THE COURT:  Is that for the record?15

(Laughter)16

MR. ALBIN:  I -- just to echo what Ms. Case and what17

Mr. Sosne has said, my experience is it gets even more18

complicated than what Ms. Case just said, which is now what19

we’re having is it used to be we just had Mr. Robinson d/b/a20

Critique Services, and that’s what would be on his 2016.21

Now we have Dean Meriwether, who shows up, and it22

used to be he wasn’t on any pleadings.  Now he’s filing23

pleadings Dean Meriwether, LLC, no d/b/a.24

But when you inquire of the debtor of who they --25
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they went to see, it’s Critique Services.  Who did you pay? 1

Critique Services.  How did you pay them?  In cash.  Right?2

And then you have Dedra Brock-Moore, and the law3

offices of Dedra Brock-Moore.  Again, no d/b/a.  Ms. Brock-4

Moore has told me informally, not on the record, that she5

doesn’t -- she was only helping at one point to Mr. Robinson6

due to his suspension, and wasn’t associated with Critique. 7

But yet, again, what happens is the debtor shows up, the law8

offices of Dedra Brock-Moore were on the petition, the 2016 is9

filed electronically by Ms. Brock-Moore, she doesn’t show up. 10

Dean Meriwether shows up on her behalf, and we asked the11

debtor, it’s Critique Services.  So now you’ve got three12

different --13

THE COURT:  But wait a minute.  That’s inconsistent14

with what Dedra Brock-Moore sat here and spoke to me for 4515

minutes back in June of this last year --16

MR. ALBIN:  Judge --17

THE COURT:  -- and said the money goes into her trust18

account.19

MR. ALBIN:  Judge, again, I can’t speak to -- I don’t20

know -- I haven’t spoke to Ms. Brock-Moore about where the21

money goes, but I can tell you, and I’m sure every trustee here22

could probably say the same thing lately is the petition is23

filed in the name of the law offices of Dedra Brock-Moore,24

that’s the electronic signature on the petition and the 2016. 25
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Ms. Brock-Moore does not show up, Mr. Meriwether shows up for1

her, and then it’s -- and then when you ask the debtor who they2

hired, it was Critique Services. 3

And so I have now actually started asking at 3414

meetings of the debtor, this is not the -- Mr. Meriwether’s not5

the attorney of record, Mr. -- is not the attorney that you6

said you hired, and that are you comfortable proceeding7

forward?  Because as a trustee, I’m a little uncomfortable.  I8

don’t know who represents these people anymore.  And I don’t9

know who’s getting paid.  It’s very complicated.10

And, again, the things that Mr. Sosne listed that11

we’re asking for are not complicated things, and we’re trying12

to figure out -- there are some practical reasons on top of all13

of the money issues, as just does -- who’s representing these14

people, and have they met them, and are they getting -- you15

know, adequate representation.16

So, again, I just want to bring the Court’s17

attention, it’s even more complicated than Ms. Case said.  I18

don’t have -- I did not bring my notes with me from my last19

meeting where I actually have a debtor and I’m -- I have a note20

to Mr. Randolph that I haven’t sent him yet about this issue. 21

That’s the -- I just wanted to bring that to the Court’s22

attention.23

THE COURT:  And shouldn’t we also know about who --24

when they answer the phone when somebody asks for a lawyer at25
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Critique, who do they send them to?  Who answers the legal1

questions?  Because obviously these non-licensed attorneys2

cannot answer the legal questions, as we all know.3

MR. ALBIN:  Judge -- I mean I have asked the debtor,4

“Have you had” -- you know, again, “Have you ever met Mr.5

Meriwether before?”  Some of them say no.  I -- you know --6

“Have you had an opportunity to have any of your legal7

questions answered?”  You know, most of them say yes.  And when8

I ask them, “Do you want to proceed forward with Mr. Meriwether9

as your lawyer today?”  They normally do say yes, and we10

proceed forward because these people have taken time off from11

work to be there, and they -- if they want to proceed with that12

representation, that is their right, I believe.13

But I -- the answer to your question is we have no14

idea.  My -- whenever I tried calling Critique Services, it’s -15

- it’s -- either no one answers the phone, it’s -- it’s a16

message, or someone says Critique Services.  It’s not the law17

offices of -- the address is -- just so you know on all of18

these petitions for Ms. Brock-Moore, or Mr. Meriwether, Mr.19

Robinson, and Critique Services are all the same address.20

I can’t speak -- I think it’s the same phone number,21

I really don’t know.22

THE COURT:  I think the Clerk’s Office will go on23

record saying it’s the same phone number.  What can we say?24

Anything else anybody else wants to put on the25
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record?1

(No audible response heard)2

THE COURT:  All right.  The Court will try to get to3

this opinion as soon as possible.  Since I don’t have anymore4

dismissals or recusal actions that haven’t been ruled on at5

this moment, I think we’ll be able to address this quickly at6

the expense of all my other cases.  So we’ll move forward. 7

Right now, I’d say the -- put a question mark by the 18th8

because I don’t know that anybody’s going to be able to comply9

with what we’re going to try to follow through and get out of10

all the parties.  11

And, of course, without Mr. Robinson here, who knows? 12

But we do have marshals, so -- there we are.13

Thank you for appearing.  If nothing else is to come14

before the Court on the Reed, et al. matters, we’ll go forward.15

That will conclude our 10 o’clock docket.16

(Whereupon, at 11:29 A.M., the hearing was adjourned.)17
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